Challenges of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and the use of the fecal microbiome as an alternative control method

by

Laura A. Constance

B.S., North Carolina State University, 2010M.S., North Carolina State University, 2012D.V.M., Kansas State University, 2021

### AN ABSTRACT OF A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

# DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Diagnostic Medicine and Pathobiology College of Veterinary Medicine

> KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

# Abstract

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) is the most economically devastating swine disease in the United States (U.S.). In the most recent analyses, PRRS was estimated to cost U.S. swine producers approximately \$664 million per year with over \$360 million alone due to loss in growing pigs. In a population of growing pigs, PRRS results in reduced weight gain, respiratory disease and immunosuppression, increasing infections by primary and secondary pathogens. Significant genetic variation exists among PRRS virus (PRRSV) isolates, which correlates to differences in clinical disease presentation, as well as difficulty in the production of broadly protective vaccines.

The objective of the first study was to characterize the clinical outcome of large population of nursery pigs infected with two heterologous PRRSV isolates, NVSL 97-7895 (NVSL; n =189) and KS 2006-72109 (KS06, n=200) and followed for 42 days post-infection. NVSL infection led to delayed, chronic disease resulting in significantly higher morbidity characterized predominately by respiratory disease with a high frequency of altered ambulation, decreased body condition, altered mentation and lower average daily gain (ADG), as well as greater virus replication and increased parenteral antibiotic usage. In contrast, KS06 infection was characterized predominately by fever and acute mortalities early in the infection period. Overall, these results provide evidence that genetically diverse PRRSV isolates manifest differently in both phenotypic presentation and duration.

The objective of the second study was to investigate fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) as a means to prevent porcine circovirus associated disease (PCVAD) in pigs co-infected with PRRSV and PCV-2d. One group of pigs (n = 10) was administered the FMT while a control group (n = 10) was administered a sterile mock-transplant. Over the 42-day post-infection

period, the FMT group showed fewer PCVAD-affected pigs, as evidenced by a significant reduction in morbidity and mortality in transplanted pigs, along with increased antibody levels. Overall, this study provides evidence that FMT decreases the severity of clinical signs following co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2 by reducing the prevalence of PCVAD.

The objective of the third was to identify gut microbiome characteristics associated with improved outcome in pigs immunized with a PRRS MLV and co-challenged with PRRSV and PCV2b. Twenty-eight days after vaccination and prior to co-challenge, fecal samples were collected from an experimental population of 50 nursery pigs. At 42 days post-challenge, 20 pigs were retrospectively identified as having high or low growth outcomes during the post-challenge period. Gut microbiomes of the two outcome groups were compared using the Lawrence Livermore Microbial Detection Array (LLMDA) and 16S rDNA sequencing. High growth outcomes were associated with several gut microbiome characteristics. Overall, this study identifies gut microbiomes associated with improved outcomes in PRRS vaccinated pigs following a polymicrobial respiratory challenge and provides evidence towards the gut microbiome playing a role in PRRS vaccine efficacy.

The objective of fourth study was to determine the effects of FMT on PRRSV modified live virus (MLV) vaccination. Pigs were split into four groups; two groups of pigs (FMT; n = 20) were administered a fecal microbiota transplant while two control groups (n = 20) were administered a sterile mock-transplant for 7 days prior to vaccination. One FMT and one control group were then vaccinated with the PRRSV MLV vaccine, allowed to mount an immune response (28 days), then were infected with PRRSV and followed for 42 days. During the 28 day vaccination period transplanted pigs had lower, however not significant, viremia levels. Over the 42-day post-infection period, while PRRS MLV vaccination decreased viremia and increased antibody load, there was no effect seen due to transplantation. FMT resulted in overall decreases in microbial diversity; however, shifts in microbial composition were consistent to previous studies. Overall, this study supports the idea that FMT improves PRRSV MLV vaccination by reducing vaccine-associated viremia.

The data presented in this dissertation provided evidence PRRSV genetic differences resulting in diverse phenotypic outcomes, and how the gut microbiome can be used to improve or aid in current therapies.

Challenges of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and the use of the fecal microbiome as an alternative control method

by

Laura A. Constance

B.S., North Carolina State University, 2010M.S., North Carolina State University, 2012D.V.M., Kansas State University, 2021

# A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Diagnostic Medicine and Pathobiology College of Veterinary Medicine

### KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

2021

Approved by:

Co-Major Professor Raymond R.R. Rowland Approved by:

Co-Major Professor Megan C. Niederwerder

# Copyright

© Laura Constance 2021

# Abstract

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) is the most economically devastating swine disease in the United States (U.S.). In the most recent analyses, PRRS was estimated to cost U.S. swine producers approximately \$664 million per year with over \$360 million alone due to loss in growing pigs. In a population of growing pigs, PRRS results in reduced weight gain, respiratory disease and immunosuppression, increasing infections by primary and secondary pathogens. Significant genetic variation exists among PRRS virus (PRRSV) isolates, which correlates to differences in clinical disease presentation, as well as difficulty in the production of broadly protective vaccines.

The objective of the first study was to characterize the clinical outcome of large population of nursery pigs infected with two heterologous PRRSV isolates, NVSL 97-7895 (NVSL; n =189) and KS 2006-72109 (KS06, n=200) and followed for 42 days post-infection. NVSL infection led to delayed, chronic disease resulting in significantly higher morbidity characterized predominately by respiratory disease with a high frequency of altered ambulation, decreased body condition, altered mentation and lower average daily gain (ADG), as well as greater virus replication and increased parenteral antibiotic usage. In contrast, KS06 infection was characterized predominately by fever and acute mortalities early in the infection period. Overall, these results provide evidence that genetically diverse PRRSV isolates manifest differently in both phenotypic presentation and duration.

The objective of the second study was to investigate fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) as a means to prevent porcine circovirus associated disease (PCVAD) in pigs co-infected with PRRSV and PCV-2d. One group of pigs (n = 10) was administered the FMT while a control group (n = 10) was administered a sterile mock-transplant. Over the 42-day post-infection

period, the FMT group showed fewer PCVAD-affected pigs, as evidenced by a significant reduction in morbidity and mortality in transplanted pigs, along with increased antibody levels. Overall, this study provides evidence that FMT decreases the severity of clinical signs following co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2 by reducing the prevalence of PCVAD.

The objective of the third was to identify gut microbiome characteristics associated with improved outcome in pigs immunized with a PRRS MLV and co-challenged with PRRSV and PCV2b. Twenty-eight days after vaccination and prior to co-challenge, fecal samples were collected from an experimental population of 50 nursery pigs. At 42 days post-challenge, 20 pigs were retrospectively identified as having high or low growth outcomes during the post-challenge period. Gut microbiomes of the two outcome groups were compared using the Lawrence Livermore Microbial Detection Array (LLMDA) and 16S rDNA sequencing. High growth outcomes were associated with several gut microbiome characteristics. Overall, this study identifies gut microbiomes associated with improved outcomes in PRRS vaccinated pigs following a polymicrobial respiratory challenge and provides evidence towards the gut microbiome playing a role in PRRS vaccine efficacy.

The objective of fourth study was to determine the effects of FMT on PRRSV modified live virus (MLV) vaccination. Pigs were split into four groups; two groups of pigs (FMT; n = 20) were administered a fecal microbiota transplant while two control groups (n = 20) were administered a sterile mock-transplant for 7 days prior to vaccination. One FMT and one control group were then vaccinated with the PRRSV MLV vaccine, allowed to mount an immune response (28 days), then were infected with PRRSV and followed for 42 days. During the 28 day vaccination period transplanted pigs had lower, however not significant, viremia levels. Over the 42-day post-infection period, while PRRS MLV vaccination decreased viremia and increased antibody load, there was no effect seen due to transplantation. FMT resulted in overall decreases in microbial diversity; however, shifts in microbial composition were consistent to previous studies. Overall, this study supports the idea that FMT improves PRRSV MLV vaccination by reducing vaccine-associated viremia.

The data presented in this dissertation provided evidence PRRSV genetic differences resulting in diverse phenotypic outcomes, and how the gut microbiome can be used to improve or aid in current therapies

# **Table of Contents**

| List of Figures   | xiii     |
|---|----------|
| List of Tables  | XV       |
| Acknowledgements  | xvi      |
| Dedication  | xviii    |
| Chapter 1 - Challenges Associated with PRRSV Control and Alternative Control Me | ethods 1 |
| Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome                                   | 1        |
| 1.1.1 The PRRS virus  | 1        |
| 1.1.2 PRRSV 1 and 2   | 2        |
| 1.1.3 Transmission  | 2        |
| 1.1.4. Clinical signs   | 3        |
| 1.1.4a Reproductive and systemic signs in sows and boars                        | 3        |
| 1.1.4b Respiratory and systemic signs in suckling, weanling and growing         | pigs4    |
| 1.1.5 Porcine respiratory disease complex (PRDC)                                | 5        |
| 1.1.6 PRRSV/PCV2 co-infection model   | 6        |
| 1.1.6a Porcine circovirus 2 (PCV2)  | 6        |
| 1.1.6b PRRSV/PCV co-infection model   | 7        |
| 1.2 Current control strategies and associated challenges                        | 7        |
| 1.2.1 Biosecurity   |          |
| 1.2.2 Early segregated weaning  | 9        |
| 1.2.3. Eradication  | 9        |
| 1.2.3 PRRSV modified live vaccine (MLV)   | 10       |
| 1.2.4 Supportive Care   | 10       |
| 1.3 Alternative Control Methods   | 11       |
| 1.3.1 Genomics and Gene Editing   | 11       |
| 1.3.2 Antivirals  |          |
| 1.3.3 The Pig Gut Microbiome  | 15       |
| 1.3.3a Weight gain  |          |
| 1.3.3b Intestinal Barrier   |          |
| 1.3.3c Immune modulation  |          |

| 1.3.3d Gut-Lung Axis   |                   |
|--|-------------------|
| 1.3.3e Gut microbiome and swine respiratory disease                                |                   |
| 1.3.3f Gut microbiome and vaccines   |                   |
| 1.3.3g Gut microbiome therapeutics   |                   |
| 1.3.3.1 Probiotics   |                   |
| 1.3.3.2 Prebiotics   |                   |
| 1.3.3.3. Postbiotics   |                   |
| 1.3.3.4. Fecal microbiota transplantation  |                   |
| Chapter 2 - Phenotypic differences in clinical disease response associated with tw | vo North          |
| American porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) iso           | plates in nursery |
| pigs   |                   |
| Abstract   |                   |
| Introduction   |                   |
| Materials and Methods  |                   |
| Results  |                   |
| Discussion   |                   |
| Funding  |                   |
| Acknowledgements   |                   |
| Chapter 3 - Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Is Associated With Reduced Morbi      | idity and         |
| Mortality in Porcine Circovirus Associated Disease                                 | 53                |
| Abstract   | 53                |
| Introduction   |                   |
| Materials and methods  |                   |
| Results  |                   |
| Discussion   |                   |
| Funding and Acknowledgements   |                   |
| Chapter 4 - Gut microbiome associations with outcome following co-infection w      | ith porcine       |
| reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and porcine circoviru          | s type 2 (PCV2)   |
| in pigs immunized with a PRRS modified live virus vaccine                          |                   |
| Abstract   |                   |
| Introduction   |                   |

| Methods  |              |
|--|--------------|
| Results  | 115          |
| Discussion   | 122          |
| Funding  |              |
| Acknowledgements   |              |
| Chapter 5 - Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Reduces Viremia after Porcine Repro | oductive and |
| Respiratory Syndrome (PRRS) Modified Live Virus (MLV) Vaccination                |              |
| Abstract   |              |
| Introduction   |              |
| Materials and methods  | 138          |
| Results  | 155          |
| Discussion   |              |
| Funding  |              |
| Acknowledgements   |              |
| Chapter 6 - Conclusions and Future Directions                                    |              |
| References   | 195          |

# List of Figures

| Figure 2.1. Time course of clinical outcome in nursery pigs infected with KS06 or NVSL isolates |
|---|
| of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV)                                  |
| Figure 2.2. Frequency and duration of clinical events over time in nursery pigs infected with   |
| KS06 or NVSL isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV).           |
|   |
| Figure 2.3. Weights over time and average daily gain in nursery pigs infected with KS06 or      |
| NVSL isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV)                    |
| Figure 2.4. Virus detection in serum from nursery pigs infected with KSO6 or NVSL isolates of   |
| porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV)                                     |
| Figure 3.1. Morbidity and mortality of pigs with and without fecal microbiota transplantation   |
| prior to co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2d   |
| Figure 3.2. Representative gross and microscopic lesions associated with porcine circovirus     |
| associated disease (PCVAD)  |
| Figure 3.3. Degree of lung and lymphoid lesions in pigs after co-infection with PRRSV and       |
| PCV-2d  |
| Figure 3.4. Time course of PRRSV and PCV-2d viremia   |
| Figure 3.5. Detection of antibody in transplanted and control pigs                              |
| Figure 3.6. Fecal microbiome composition as detected by the pan-microbial array in FMT and      |
| control pigs after 7 days of transplantation95  |
| Figure 3.7. 16S rDNA fecal microbiome analysis pre and post fecal microbiota transplantation.   |
|   |
| Figure 3.8. Differentially abundant operational taxonomic units (OTU) in the control and FMT    |
| groups after 7 days of fecal microbiota transplantation   |
| Figure 3.9. Fecal bacterial diversity in the PCVAD-affected and unaffected pigs at the time of  |
| challenge   |
| Figure 4.1. Weight gain in high and low growth pigs after PRRSV MLV vaccination and co-         |
| challenge with PRRSV and PCV2b126   |
| Figure 4.2. PRRSV and PCV2 virus replication in high and low growth rate pigs after PRRS        |
| MLV vaccination and PRRSV/PCV2 co-challenge   |

| Figure 4.3. Antibody response and lymphoid depletion in high and low growth rate pigs after      |
|--|
| PRRS MLV vaccination and co-challenge with PRRSV and PCV2  |
| Figure 4.4. Fecal microbiome diversity in pigs with high and low growth rates after PRRS MLV     |
| vaccination and subsequent co-infection with PRRSV and PCV2                                      |
| Figure 4.5. Fecal microbiome composition in pigs with high and low growth rates after PRRS       |
| MLV vaccination and subsequent co-infection with PRRSV and PCV2                                  |
| Figure 4.6. Fecal microbiome analysis by 16S rDNA sequencing in high and low growth rate         |
| pigs132  |
| Figure 5.1. Morbidity of pigs with and without fecal microbiota transplantation in addition to   |
| with and without PRRSV MLV vaccination prior to PRRSV challenge                                  |
| Figure 5.2 Weight gain and ADG during transplantation (FMT), PRRS MLV vaccination and            |
| after PRRSV challenge  |
| Figure 5.3 Time course of PRRSV viremia and viral load during vaccination and challenge          |
| periods181   |
| Figure 5.4 Detection of antibody in transplanted and control pigs                                |
| Figure 5.5 Fecal microbiome diversity in pigs after 7 days of transplantation and prior to PRRRS |
| MLV vaccination as detected by metagenomics  |
| Figure 5.6. Fecal microbiome composition as detected by metagenomics after 7 days of             |
| transplantation and prior to PRRRS MLV vaccination   |
| Figure 5.7. Differences found by metagenomics at different taxonomic levels 7 days after         |
| transplantation and prior to PRRSV MLV vaccination   |
| Figure 5.8. Microbial diversity as detected by RNA-Seq after 7 days of transplantation and prior |
| to PRRRS MLV vaccination   |

# List of Tables

| Table 2.1. Standardized clinical health evaluation worksheet utilized to characterize clinical       |
|--|
| signs after infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus                       |
| Table 2.2. Frequency of clinical event documented in nursery pigs infected with one of two           |
| isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (NVSL or KS06)*                      |
| Table 3.1. Microorganisms detected in the fecal microbiota transplant material by the pan-           |
| microbial detection array*   |
| <b>Table 3.2.</b> Effect of FMT on weight gain prior to co-infection* 88                             |
| <b>Table 5.1.</b> Microorganisms detected in all pigs by next generation sequencing metagenomics 175 |

# Acknowledgements

First I would like to thank my co-major professors, Dr. Megan Niederwerder and Dr. Bob Rowland for taking a chance on me and for pushing me to be the best scientist and researcher I could be. I would like to thank my committee members; Dr. Sherry Fleming for going above and beyond to help me get through this PhD from the very start, Dr. Jodi McGill for giving valuable advice and going along for this rollercoaster of a ride. I would also like to thank my outside committee chair, Dr. David Grieger, for his support in this process.

I would like to extend my most sincere gratitude to the past members of the Niederwerder and Rowland lab- Ana Stoian, Vlad Petrovan, Luca Popescu, Matthew Olcha and Becky Eavesyou were there for me, through the best and worst of times; you taught me everything I know about running pig studies and made life more enjoyable. To the present members of the Niederwerder lab- Aubrey Devours, Travis Foland, Katie Haase, and especially Pratiksha Khanal; thank you for all of your help and making things more entertaining.

I would like to thank my family and friends. My parents, Rick and Carol, my brother and his wife, Christian and Stacey, for never giving up on me. To my Aunt Martha and Uncle Hugh, for unconditionally loving and supporting me. To my all my friends, or as I like to call them my chosen family, words can't begin to express how much you mean to me. I love you all! To Ted, my first friend in Manhattan; we have made it through so many ups and downs. Thank you for always being my sounding board and backing me down off so many ledges. You will never know how much it means to me. To Dr. Adryanna Drake, I wouldn't be here without all your support over the years. You have been with me from the start, and I couldn't have asked for better advice. You kept me level-headed and taught me self-confidence. You mean the world to me. I hope I can go out and positively affect other lives like you have mine. Lisa, my first friend in vet school; we went through thick and thin together. Lyndse, Pame and Jenni- you sure know how to make things fun and kept me from taking myself too seriously. Emily, for always knowing what to say. Jan and Janelle for always having my back. To Tyler, Doug and Nora- for teaching me how to love Kansas and Manhattan. John, for being a mentor and always allowing me to cry on the blue couch, if I needed, without judgement.

To my wife, Katie, you are one of the most incredible people I have ever met. You are intelligent, funny, and beautiful. You taught me how to love myself. You put up with all my shenanigans and never shy away from going on another adventure with me, even when I do wreck the car on Thanksgiving Day. You were there to celebrate with me on the brightest of days and there to sit with me in the darkest of days. You challenge me to think outside the box each and every day. I can't thank you enough for all your support and love through this process.

# Dedication

To my wife, Katherine. If it weren't for you, I wouldn't be here today. I love you the mostest.

# Chapter 1 - Challenges Associated with PRRSV Control and Alternative Control Methods

#### Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) is a devastating disease, leading to substantial economic losses to swine operations around the world. In the most recent analyses, PRRS was estimated to cost U.S. swine producers approximately \$664 million per year.<sup>1</sup> Infections lead to increased morbidity and mortality due to respiratory disease, decreased reproductive performance, and weight gain reduction in growing pigs. PRRS leads to infections by both primary and secondary pathogens. The syndrome was first described in the U.S. in the late 1980s and in Europe in the early 1990s.<sup>2,3</sup> 'Abortus blauw' (Dutch for "blue abortion") was one of the first names given to PRRS due to disease characterized by abortions and notable aural cyanosis in some sows.<sup>2,4</sup> Blue ear disease, Mystery swine disease (MSD), Swine infertility and respiratory syndrome (SIRS), as well as Porcine epidemic abortion and respiratory syndrome (PEARS) were a few of the names given to this disease until the term PRRS was finally established in the early 2000s.<sup>5</sup> Since that time, viral genetic diversity has led to clinical disease variation, with some isolates producing severe disease, while others produce minimal to no disease.<sup>6-13</sup> Genetic diversity also results in difficulty controlling disease; specifically in production of broadly protective vaccines.<sup>14,15</sup>

#### 1.1.1 The PRRS virus

The causative agent of PRRS is the PRRS virus (PRRSV). PRRSV is a single stranded, positive sense virus in the family Arteriviridae.<sup>2,16</sup> Originally this family included four viruses; PRRSV, equine arteritis virus, simian hemorrhagic fever and lactate dehydrogenase-elevating

virus (LDV); however, since that time the family has been expanded to 23 species, additionally including multiple simian arteriviruses, an arterivirus in common brushtails of New Zealand and one in an African forest giant pouched rat.<sup>17,18</sup> PRRSV preferentially infects the cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage, especially porcine alveolar macrophages (PAM), in the natural pig host.<sup>19</sup> The virus was isolated by Wensvoort's group in The Netherlands in 1991,<sup>2,4</sup> and termed the Lelystad virus. In the early 1990's, Collins' and Benfield's teams isolated the same virus in North America, naming it VR-2332.<sup>20,21</sup> In 2017, PRRSV was re-classified and placed in the subfamily *Variarterivirinae* with LDV.<sup>22</sup>

#### 1.1.2 PRRSV 1 and 2

PRRS virus was recently separated into two species; PRRSV-1 or European PRRSV (prototype Lelystad virus) and PRRSV-2 or North American PRRSV (prototype VR-2332) within the genus *Betaarterivirus*.<sup>23</sup> PRRSV-1 is now classified as *Betaarterivirus suid 1*, while PRRSV-2 is classified as *Betaarterivrius suid 2*. These two species share ~70% identity at the nucleotide level.<sup>24-27</sup> PRRSV has an inherently high mutation rate due to the considerable error frequency during RNA replication;<sup>28,29</sup> as such, many isolates of PRRSV exist within the two species, constituting a diverse genetic population.

#### 1.1.3 Transmission

The most common mode of transmission is pig-to-pig, however, virus persistence is due to transmission between herds. In addition to movement of pigs, transmission between herds can occur through semen transfer and iatrogenically through needles as well as mechanical vectors such as houseflies and moquitos.<sup>30-32</sup> PRRSV is shed in all body secretions, including respiratory fluids, blood, colostrum, milk, semen, urine, and feces, as well as being transmitted

transplacentally and transvaginally.<sup>33-50</sup> PRRSV can be spread by the aerosol route,<sup>51-53</sup> as well as through cuts and scrapes where oropharyngeal fluids come in contact with blood.<sup>36</sup>

In comparison to other animals, pigs are often kept in large groups within relatively small places, allowing for rapid disease spread and increased disease persistence. Pathogens can enter farms through fomites such as clothes, boots or trucks.<sup>30,32</sup> Recently, our group established that PRRSV can also be transmitted through feed ingredients,<sup>54</sup> making feed movement a risk factor for disease spread. Management strategies can also affect susceptibility to respiratory disease. If dust from the ground or feed is stirred in the air and not filtered out, this can irritate the respiratory tract, increasing access of pathogens to respiratory epithelial cells. Additionally, if pens are not cleaned regularly, ammonia can build up in the air, also becoming a respiratory irritant. Therefore, cleaning of pens is critical for maintaining a healthy respiratory epithelium to minimize the risks associated with respiratory pathogens.

#### 1.1.4. Clinical signs

Clinical signs vary with age, with older animals displaying more reproductive disease and younger animals exhibiting more respiratory signs. Other systemic signs, such as fever, arthritis and nervous abnormalities occur variably in both young and old animals. The following sections give a brief summary of reproductive, respiratory as well as systemic disease in both young and mature animals.

#### 1.1.4a Reproductive and systemic signs in sows and boars

Reproductive disease due to PRRS are a major cause of economic loss, and were some of the earliest signs recognized by producers on their farms.<sup>3,55</sup> Initially encephalomyocarditis virus, *Chlamydia psittaci*, porcine parvovirus and mycotoxins, which can also cause reproductive

failure were implicated in disease, until the PRRS virus was isolated and demonstrated to be the caus. Boars have respiratory signs associated with PRRS infection as well as anorexia and lethargy. Virus is shed in semen which is a significant transmission route for both natural and artificial insemination.<sup>39,56,57</sup> PRRS infection has been shown to decrease semen quality, however, it is unclear if and how this affects fertility.<sup>58-62</sup> In sows, PRRS can lead to late term abortions, mummified and stillborn piglets, and delayed return to estrus.<sup>3,55,63,64</sup> Aural and vulvar cyanosis have also been reported.<sup>64,65</sup> Sows with severe disease may experience agalactia,<sup>64</sup> as well as nervous signs such as ataxia, circling and paresis.<sup>58,66,67</sup> Mortality rates in sows when infected with most isolates is less than 5%.<sup>63,64</sup> In 2006, highly pathogenic strains of PRRS (HP-PRRS) led to increased disease severity with abortion rates of up to 100% and sow mortality approaching or greater than 10%.<sup>68-70</sup> In late 2020, a new PRRSV variant resulted in Iowa and Minnesota outbreaks leading to increased sows off feed, increased sow mortality, as well as increased abortions and mummies.<sup>71</sup>

#### 1.1.4b Respiratory and systemic signs in suckling, weanling and growing pigs

Clinical features of PRRS in nursery and growing pigs when initially described three decades ago are still consistent with clinical characteristics of current-day outbreaks in the field, most commonly associated with respiratory disease and secondary bacterial infections. Clinical signs of respiratory disease are often characterized by tachypnea, dyspnea, open-mouth breathing, and forced abdominal respiration.<sup>2-4,63,72,73</sup> Additional respiratory signs include coughing and serous to mucopurulent rhinitis. Systemic signs associated with PRRS include polyarthritis, anorexia, decreased growth rates, pyrexia, lethargy, depression, diarrhea, and rough hair coat.<sup>3,63-65,69,72</sup> Neurological signs, such as ataxia, circling and paresis, can also be seen in more severe cases.<sup>74</sup> The emergence of HP-PRRS in 2006 lead to increased and sustained

pyrexia as well as increased morbidity and mortality rate.<sup>68-70</sup> The 2020 PRRSV variant discovered in the U.S. lead to increased piglet and post-weaning mortality, as well as slower growth in finishing pigs.<sup>71</sup>

#### **1.1.5** Porcine respiratory disease complex (PRDC)

Porcine respiratory disease complex (PRDC) is a term used to describe multifactorial porcine respiratory infections involving one or more virus or bacteria.<sup>75-77</sup> PRDC leads to increased morbidity and mortality, increased antibiotic usage, and therefore increased economic losses. Common characteristics include decreased feed intake, dyspnea, coughing, rhinitis, and fever. Major pathogens associated with PRDC can be both viral and bacterial pathogens. Viral pathogens include porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV), swine influenza virus (SIV), pseudorabies virus (PRV), and porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV-2). Bacterial pathogens include *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*, *Mycoplasma hyorhinis*, *Streptococccus suis*, and *Bordetella bronchiseptica*.<sup>75,76</sup> Polymicrobial infections are common and can lead to enhanced disease.<sup>78</sup>

Factors affecting disease risk include age, immune status, genetics, environmental conditions and management practices.<sup>79</sup> Immunocompromised animals, including young and/or stressed animals, are more susceptible to PRDC. Early in life, stressful events include teeth clipping, tail docking, or antibiotic and vaccine administration. Removal from the sow in young piglets is also stressful and can increase disease susceptibility. Excessive heat and cold, crowding or mixing of pigs, and shipping can also increase stress and impact piglet health.<sup>80-84</sup> Different pig breeds have variability in respiratory disease susceptibility.<sup>85,86</sup> Additionally, our lab has demonstrated

genetic variants that are associated with PRRSV resistance (See Section 1.3.1 Genomics and Gene Editing).<sup>87-89</sup>

#### 1.1.6 PRRSV/PCV2 co-infection model

1.1.6a Porcine circovirus 2 (PCV2)

PCV2, a single-stranded DNA virus in the family *Circoviridae*,<sup>90</sup> is estimated to cause economic losses up to \$20/pig in unvaccinated herds<sup>91</sup> due to a group of syndromes termed porcine circovirus associated disease (PCVAD), which includes muscle wasting, weight loss and respiratory disease.<sup>92</sup> Within the fetus, the main target cells of PCV2 are cardiomyocytes, hepatocytes and cells of the monocytic lineage, while postnatally, macrophages are the target cell.<sup>93</sup>

PCVAD is associated with two main syndromes; postweaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS) and porcine dermatitis and nephropathy syndrome (PDNS). PCV2 infection causes lymphoid depletion<sup>94,95</sup> resulting in lesions within the lymphoid, renal, pulmonary and hepatic lesions.<sup>96</sup> PMWS was originally described in Canada in 1997<sup>97,98</sup> with notable respiratory disease (tachypnea, dyspnea, and interstitial pneumonia), muscle wasting and jaundice occurring in nursery-aged pigs.<sup>98,99</sup> PDNS was originally described in 1993<sup>100</sup> and has not been reproduced by PCV2 infection alone; however, the virus is thought to contribute to this disease syndrome.<sup>101</sup> PDNS occurs in older pigs, growers and finishers and is associated with vascular disease leading to cyanotic and hyperemic skin as well as anorexia, depression, weight loss and respiratory disease.<sup>102</sup> Vascular disease also causes glomerulonephritis, with increasing severity often worsening prognosis of an animal.<sup>102</sup>

#### 1.1.6b PRRSV/PCV co-infection model

The PRRSV/PCV-2 co-infection is typical of PRDC cases seen in the field and using this model simulates PRDC in a laboratory setting with not only respiratory but also systemic disease. PRRSV infection is immunomodulatory leading to downregulation of key immune pathways. It is hypothesized that PRRS attenuates the immune response through upregulation of regulatory T (T<sub>reg</sub>) cells,<sup>103-105</sup> Interleukin (IL)-10,<sup>103,106-110</sup> and tumor growth factor (TGF)beta,<sup>104,109</sup> which suppresses activation of T<sub>H</sub>2 lymphocytes and macrophages, as well as downregulation of Type I interferon (IFN) responses,<sup>111-114</sup> which further prevents activation of macrophages and T lymphocytes. Most PRRS-related deaths are the result of co-infection with other pathogens.<sup>115</sup> Models for PCVAD include co-infection with PRRSV and PCV2, both of which cause systemic infections primarily targeting pulmonary tissue. <sup>116-118</sup> PRRSV and PCV2 result in systemic infections and modulation of host immunity, <sup>119-122</sup> reducing the rate of weight gain and increasing the likelihood of primary and secondary polymicrobial disease syndromes in swine. Therefore, this model system could also provide data applicable to other types of infections. Co-infections with these two pathogens also lead to increased antimicrobial usage, which is an ever growing concern in the face of rising antimicrobial resistance. This co-infection model is also advantageous to look at the selection pressures in the host and the viruses that result from co-infections. Specifically, PCV2 replication has been demonstrated to be enhanced by PRRSV infection or vaccination with a modified live virus (MLV).<sup>116,117,123</sup>

### 1.2 Current control strategies and associated challenges

Since the introduction of PRRS, multiple control methods have been attempted with variable success. Substantial genetic variation creates challenges in stimulating long-term and broadly protective immunity, either through natural exposure or through MLV vaccination.<sup>14,15</sup>

In 2012, Holtkamp et al. developed a risk assessment for producers to help identify and mitigate risks for disease introduction, specifically focusing on PRRSV.<sup>124,125</sup> These types of assessments are critical to provide scientists and producers knowledge to further decrease risks and improve control of PRRS disease.<sup>126,127</sup> Biosecurity measures, herd management and eradication programs have been employed; however, these have not been able to eliminate disease. No matter what control method is used, surveillance is critical to determine prevalence of subclinical disease, movement of infections, and success or failure of control methods.<sup>128-131</sup>

#### **1.2.1 Biosecurity**

Currently, the most effective PRRSV control method is to prevent entry onto farms and productions.<sup>127,132,133</sup> Any movement onto or off a site is a risk for disease transmission, whether through animals, humans, vehicles, or materials. Strict management of what and who comes onto the production site is essential. Pork producers have drastically changed how they manage herds to decrease disease introduction. Quarantine of new animals being brought to a site not only allows acclimation but can also identify infected animals before they are introduced into the herd.<sup>134</sup> Management of human and supply movement is also critical. Many farms institute shower-in and shower-out protocols, benches to distinguish between clean and dirty sides, changing into site-specific clothing, as well as the irradiation of items brought into animal areas. Trucks moving supplies, such as feed and animals, often travel from farm to farm increasing the risk of disease spread.<sup>135,136</sup> This risk can be mitigated by truck washes in between sites and having specific areas where trucks are allowed to offload, minimizing interaction with animals or goods that will come in contact with the animals.<sup>136</sup> PRRSV has been demonstrated to travel through the aerosol route;<sup>51-53</sup> therefore, air filtration within barns has been shown to decrease the risk of PRRSV introduction<sup>137-146</sup> as well as improve air conditions in the barn, bettering

health and further decreasing respiratory disease.<sup>147</sup> Management of animals during an outbreak can also be critical. Sick animals must be quickly identified and removed from the herd to prevent further spread.

#### **1.2.2 Early segregated weaning**

Another mitigation strategy is to use segregated early weaning. Although colostrum and milk can provide beneficial immunoglobulins, the sow can also transmit diseases to the piglets. Therefore, early weaning can be used as a way to minimize the risk of transmission. Segregated early weaning, by removing the piglet from the sow, and to an off-site nursery for weaning is used.<sup>148</sup> Ideally, pigs are then moved to a finisher site for the remainder of their lives. Consequently, pigs of similar age and disease susceptibility are kept together. All-in/all-out methods, where disinfection can occur between each group of pigs, can also minimize disease spread. However, early weaning can lead to decreased immunity,<sup>149</sup> due to the lack of secretory immunoglobulins obtained from the sow's milk, as well as increased gut permeability and risk to enteric infections.<sup>150-153</sup>

#### 1.2.3. Eradication

Elimination of PRRSV leads to improved health within herds. Several methods are used, including total or partial depopulation/repopulation, test/removal and herd closure; these are reviewed extensively elsewhere.<sup>154</sup> Briefly, herd closure is the most common technique employed and involves a cease in animal introduction while current animals build immunity to disease, whether by natural infection or vaccination.<sup>155</sup> Depopulation, whether total or partial, is costly to the producer and is only used when economically justified. Partial depopulation may be useful in situations where mass vaccination and unidirectional pig flow or herd closure

occurs.<sup>156,157</sup> Testing and removing positive animals is also costly and labor intensive but can eliminate persistently infected animals in a herd.<sup>158-161</sup>

#### 1.2.3 PRRSV modified live vaccine (MLV)

PRRS modified live virus (MLV) vaccines are widely used in PRRS-endemic herds to reduce losses associated with PRRSV infection. In experimental and field settings, PRRS MLV immunization has the potential to improve weight gain, reduce viral replication and pulmonary pathology, as well as decrease clinical disease after wild-type PRRSV exposure.<sup>162,163</sup> However, several challenges remain for PRRS MLV vaccine safety and efficacy, including the potential for reversion to virulence, recombination with wild-type strains,<sup>164</sup> potentiation of primary and secondary pathogens,<sup>116</sup> and incomplete protection against emerging wild-type strains.<sup>165</sup> Additionally, the vaccine does not prevent weight gain variation associated with PRRSV infection.<sup>166</sup> PRRSV vaccines are most effective against homologous strains and may provide little to no protection again various heterologous strains.<sup>167-169</sup> As such, the currently available commercial vaccines are generally considered inadequate for disease control.<sup>170,171</sup>

#### **1.2.4 Supportive Care**

Once there is an outbreak within a farm, supportive therapy can be used to decrease clinical signs and improve weight gain. Antimicrobials, including oxytetracycline (Liquamycin®; LA-200®) or ceftiofur hydrochloride/sodium (Excenel® or Excede®), are used for treating lameness or respiratory disease associated with PRRSV infection. With growing concerns of antibiotic stewardship, careful consideration for their usage is critical. The non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medication flunixin meglumine (Banamine®) is administered for lameness and/or pyrexia. While providing analgesia, these medications do nothing for the underlying viral cause of disease.

#### **1.3 Alternative Control Methods**

Since current PRRSV control methods are inadequate, there has been a significant research shift towards alternative approaches. Additionally, growing concern for antimicrobial resistance necessitate these alternative treatments. While many other approaches have been considered, gene editing, antivirals and the fecal microbiome are some of the most researched to help in the disease treatment as well as control and will be discussed in the remainder of this chapter.

#### 1.3.1 Genomics and Gene Editing

Genomics has been used to not only be used to identify pigs that are more PRRSV resistant but also aid in the development of knockout pigs that are completely resistant to PRRSV infection. Initially, Ait-ali et al. found that porcine alveolar macrophages in Landrace pigs showed lower levels of PRRSV replication compared to other breeds,<sup>172</sup> suggesting a genetic component to resistance. In 2011, the PRRS Host Genetics Consortium (PHGC) was formed to further investigate these differences.<sup>173</sup> The PHGC is composed of groups from the USDA, academia and industry with an interest in identifying host genetics associated with PRRS resistance. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) were used to identify single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that were associated with PRRS resistance. Approximately 200 commercial pigs were infected for each study; clinical data, weight and serum samples for viremia were collected over time to identify variances in disease susceptibility. Within chromosome 4, the SNP WUR10000125 (WUR) was associated with variation in weight gain and PRRS serum viremia.<sup>87,89,174</sup> Specifically, the "B" allele was found to be advantageous over the "A" allele at this SNP. The "B" allele for the WUR SNP was also associated with decreased virus load and increased average daily gain after vaccination and decreased virus load after challenge.<sup>175</sup> Additionally, the PHGC looked at differences associated with PRRSV/PCV2 coinfections,<sup>176</sup> finding SNPs associated with both PRRSV and PCV2 viral load as well as average daily gain.

In addition to GWAS, significant research has been done to identify and alter receptors associated with PRRSV infection. Many receptors have been hypothesized and are reviewed comprehensively;<sup>177</sup> however, a few notable cases will be highlighted. Initially, heparan sulfate and CD169 (sialoadhesin; siglec-1) were thought to be the main receptors involved in PRRSV internalization and infection.<sup>178</sup> Heparan sulfate is a polysaccharide expressed on the cell membrane and in the extracellular matrix of most mammalian cells and is involved in leukocyte development and migration, immune activation, and inflammation.<sup>179</sup> It has been demonstrated as the receptor for multiple viruses.<sup>180-184</sup> CD169 is a transmembrane glycoprotein found only in macrophages and binds sialic acid located on the surface of pathogens,<sup>185-190</sup> aiding in internalization.<sup>191</sup> Subsequent studies disproved these receptors being critical for infection, showing that blocking heparan sulfate did not prevent infection <sup>192</sup> and CD169 transfection into non-permissive cells did not result in PRRSV infection.<sup>193</sup> Another study also found that knocking out the CD169 gene did not prevent PRRSV infection.<sup>194</sup> While heparan sulfate and CD169 are still considered important for binding of the PRRS virus to macrophages,<sup>195,196</sup> further research identified CD163 as the critical receptor for PRRSV infection.<sup>196,197</sup>

Porcine CD163 is a transmembrane protein within the scavenger receptor cysteine-rich superfamily (SRCR-SF) and is involved in cellular immune response regulation. Of the nine SRCR domains, only SRCR2, SRCR3 and SRCR5 have known biological functions. SRCR2 is involved in the binding of erythrocytes and bacteria.<sup>198,199</sup> SRCR3 binds and causes internalization of hemoglobin-haptoglobin complexes (cell-free hemoglobin),<sup>200</sup> which are formed after hemolysis, and is involved in anti-inflammatory processes.<sup>201</sup> SRCR5 plays a role in

PRRSV infection;<sup>202</sup> since its identification, CRISPR technology has been used to delete this domain, verifying that without CD163 pigs are resistant to PRRSV infection.<sup>203,204</sup> Additional studies have demonstrated that domain five of the scavenger receptor is most involved in infection<sup>205</sup> and that replacing domain five with a human CD163 homolog<sup>202</sup> also leads to decreased PRRSV infection. While these breakthroughs brought great promise to the swine industry, there have been setbacks to implication of genetically modified animals within production settings. There is still skepticism in the general public about genetically modified organisms and implications for human health. Without approval from consumers it is unlikely that we will see these PRRSV-resistant pigs on the market.

#### **1.3.2** Antivirals

Another alternative control is antivirals, which can directly inhibit PRRSV binding, uptake and replication. Compounds have been studied for their antiviral activity against PRRSV. Du et al. found that tilmicosin had antiviral activity against both PRRSV-1 and PRRSV-2 in porcine alveolar macrophages.<sup>206</sup> A monoclonal anti-idiotypic antibody against glycoprotein (GP)-5 of PRRSV has also been shown to decrease PRRSV infection.<sup>207</sup> Blebbistatin, a myosin II ATPase inhibitor, prevented PRRSV replication *in vitro* as well as *in* vivo.<sup>208</sup> More recently, since the CD163 receptor was demonstrated critical in PRRSV infection, monoclonal antibodies have been produced to bind to the SRCR5 domain and decrease PRRSV infection.<sup>209</sup> MicroRNAs (miRNAs) have also been investigated for their anti-PRRSV effects. Reviewed extensively elsewhere,<sup>210</sup> miRNAs and other antisense RNAs (small interfering RNAs, short-hairpin RNAs, artificial miRNAs, and morpholino oligomers) can target not only the PRRSV genome and proteins directly<sup>211-221</sup> but also pathways involved in PRRSV infection.<sup>212,222-225</sup> MicroRNA 181 was specifically found to target the CD163 receptor.<sup>226</sup> Zhang et al. also found heme oxygenase

produces carbon monoxide and biliverdin to block PRRSV replication.<sup>227</sup> In 2015, single-chain antibody fragments, known as nanobodies were investigated due to ease of manipulation over full-length antibodies.<sup>228</sup> It was found that these fragments could target nonstructural PRRSV proteins, inhibiting viral replication.<sup>228,229</sup>

Chinese herbal medications have also been more recently investigated for their anti-viral effects. Matrine, derived from plants in the genus *Sophora*, is an alkaloid that has been demonstrated to have antiviral effects. Specifically, Sun et al. found PRRSV antiviral activity within porcine alveolar macrophages.<sup>230</sup> They then developed a mouse model, in which matrine not only had antiviral activity against PRRSV and PCV2<sup>231</sup> separately, but it also had antiviral activity against PRRSV/PCV2 co-infection.<sup>231</sup> The same group also found that a derivative of tanshinone IIA (sodium tanshinone IIA sulfonate) also had anti-PRRSV effects *in vitro*.<sup>232</sup> Other groups have shown that Chinese herbal medications, specifically xanthohumol,<sup>233</sup> epigallocatechin-3-gallate in green tea (*Camellia sinensis*),<sup>234</sup> glycyrrhizin in licorice roots (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*),<sup>235</sup> *Thymus vulgaris* and *Nepeta cataria* hydrosol,<sup>236</sup> curcumin in turmeric rhizomes (*Curcuma longa*),<sup>237</sup> tea seed saponins,<sup>238</sup> *Cryptoporus volvatus* extract,<sup>239</sup> tetrahydroaltersolanol C<sup>240</sup> and ginsenoside Rg1<sup>241</sup> had anti-PRRSV effects *in vitro*. These and others are extensively reviewed in Du et al. and Bell-Onaghise et al..<sup>210,242</sup>

While antivirals can help ease clinical signs due to disease, they may not prevent infection. Currently, administration in sick pigs must be done individually, similar to many antimicrobials, which is labor-intensive. Additionally, many studies mentioned above have been done *in* vitro and have yet to be validated *in vivo* and more specifically pigs. Therefore, antiviral use still have limited application in the field until administration can be validated and be applied at the herd level.

#### 1.3.3 The Pig Gut Microbiome

The gastrointestinal tract is a dynamic place of exchange between the outside world and the host. Nutrients, host epithelial and immune cells, secretory immunoglobulins, metabolites and microorganisms converge and interact within the gastrointestinal tract. The host epithelium must obtain nutrients for metabolism while keeping out luminal pathogens and parasites. Within this microenvironment, the immune system is held in a delicate balance between defense of invading pathogens and tolerance to self and food antigens.

The gut microbiome is the collection of microorganisms, composed of bacteria, viruses, fungi, archaea and protozoa living in the gastrointestinal tract. The composition of the gut microbiome varies by location with increasing numbers as well as diversity of microbes from the stomach to the colon. Of the gut microorganisms, bacteria has been the most studied in the gut microbiome. In 1903 the first study describing bacterial species in the gut was done by Heinick et al., isolating bacteria such as Bacterium coli, Bacterium lactis-aerogenes, as well as staphylococci species within the intestine, cecum and rectum of 23 healthy pigs.<sup>243</sup> It was not until the mid-1900s that further experiments were done looking at normal gastrointestinal bacteria. In 1934, Kraneveld and Djaenoedin found Clostridium welchii in rectal samples from 50 healthy pigs.<sup>244</sup> In 1936, *Lactobacillus acidophilus* was found to be more prevalent in healthy pigs than diarrheic pigs.<sup>245</sup> In 1940, another study found similar bacteria as Heinick; in addition, they isolated *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and anaerobic spore-formers in healthy pigs.<sup>246</sup> In 1945, Levine et al. isolated colonic bacterial species and administered them to healthy pigs;<sup>247</sup> this was effectively the first study in pigs that determined certain bacterial species could be present within the gastrointestinal tract without causing disease, including some Salmonella species, Proteus species, as well as Eberthella- and Shigella-like species. While these bacteria as well as other

specific pathogens had been studied prior, the first documented studies of the pig gut microbiome as a whole, then called the intestinal 'flora' or 'microflora', occurred in the early 1950s.<sup>248-252</sup> These studies focused on the relationship between antibiotics and the gut microbiome. Up to the late 1990s, most gut microbiome studies were cultured based, limiting the number of detectable bacteria. Within these studies, lactobacilli, streptococci, bacilli and Bacteroides species were often isolated,<sup>249,253-257</sup> both in unweaned and weaned pigs. Results from these early studies should be approached with caution as bacterial culture can lead to bias not only by what species were culturable but also based on which media and techniques were used within the study.

In the late 1990s, 16S ribosomal DNA (rDNA) sequencing started to become more widely used, further increasing our knowledge of the gut microbiome as well as decreasing variability between and within studies.<sup>258,259</sup> A relatively new sequencing method at the time, 16S rDNA sequencing takes advantage of the unique bacterial small-subunit ribosomal DNA to aid in species identification, both described and unknown. One disadvantage, in comparison to bacterial culture is that while nucleic acid may be present, bacteria may not be viable. The two major bacterial phyla found in the gut microbiome were Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes;<sup>260-266</sup> however, Proteobacteria can be found at a higher proportion within the ileum.<sup>264,267</sup> Notable bacteria within the Firmicutes phylum include *Bacillus, Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, Lactobacillus, Ruminococcus* and *Clostridium* species. Notable bacteria within the Bacteroidetes phylum include *Bacteroides, Prevotella*, and *Flavobacterium* species. Notable bacteria within the Proteobacteria phylum include *Salmonella, Helicobacter, Klebsiella*, and *Pseudomonas* species. At the genus level, *Prevotella* species have been found to represent the largest group.<sup>261</sup>

Weaning has been shown to result in a transient decrease in overall diversity and number of bacteria then eventually rebounds.<sup>268,269</sup> During this time aerobes, which were prevalent immediately after birth, are replaced with a large anaerobic population.<sup>270</sup> Prior to weaning, some studies was found that a higher level of *Lactobacillus* species are found within the gastrointestinal tract, which keep pH low by producing lactic acid from fermentation of milkbased oligosaccharides,<sup>271</sup> thereby reducing pathogen invasion; however, at weaning *Lactobacillus* numbers decrease, resulting in increased pH, and growth of pathogenic species.<sup>272,273</sup> However, a newer study demonstrated increased *Lactobacillus* prevalence after weaning.<sup>274</sup> Further studies should be done to elucidate the changes in this bacterial genus during the time of weaning. After weaning, species such as *Prevotella*<sup>265,266,274</sup> and *Bacteroides*<sup>270</sup> increase in abundance and are associated with increased growth rates. *Prevotella* and *Bacteroides* species have been shown to breakdown polysaccharides found in plants.<sup>275,276</sup>

Many factors can affect the diversity and composition of the gut microbiome. Diet, genetics and age have been shown to affect the gut microbiome <sup>277-279</sup> In swine, the first exposure to microbes is from the sow's vaginal, fecal and skin microbiomes. Mode of delivery (vaginal vs caesarean), sow diet, piglet diet, antibiotics, handling, and environment can all affect a growing pig's microbiome. These factors have been extensively reviewed by Niederwerder 2016,<sup>280</sup> as well as Guevarra et al. 2019.<sup>281</sup>

The gut microbiome plays many roles within the host, and is not merely a passerby in the gastrointestinal tract. It forms a mutualistic relationship with its host, facilitating feed digestion and nutrient absorption, promoting the development and regulation of the immune system and providing a protective barrier against pathogenic organisms.<sup>282-287</sup> The following sections characterize the role of the gut microbiome.

#### 1.3.3a Weight gain

PRRSV infection reduces nutrient digestibility and feed efficiency of growing pigs.<sup>288</sup> In some of the earliest gut microbiome work evaluating lean versus obese humans, gut microbiomes with an increased Firmicutes abundance and decreased Bacteroidetes abundance were classified as having increased nutrient extraction capabilities.<sup>289,290</sup> The trend of Firmicutes: Bacteroidetes ratios being increased in high growth pigs after co-infection with PRRSV and PCV2 has also been reported by our group.<sup>291</sup> Moreover, other groups have demonstrated a positive correlative relationship between Firmicutes bacterial abundance and weight gain<sup>292,293</sup> and a negative correlative relationship between Bacteroidetes bacterial abundance and weight gain<sup>294</sup> in swine. In a contrasting study, Oh et al. 2020 recently reported no significant differences in the relative abundance of these two phyla between high and low growing pigs.<sup>295</sup> Further work should be done to verify or disprove this, as gut microbiome therapy could change due to the findings.

#### 1.3.3b Intestinal Barrier

Even before the innate or adaptive immune system, the gut microbiome can provide a first line of defense against invading pathogens. Some gram negative bacteria, such as *Proteobacteria* and *Verrucomicrobia*, use mucin as an energy source and, therefore adhere to the mucous layer of the gastrointestinal tract.<sup>296</sup> Bacteria within the mucous layer, with mucins, secretory immunoglobulin A (IgA) and other antimicrobial peptides can serve as a primary barrier against invading pathogens.<sup>297</sup> Additionally, a normal gut microbiome is integral to maintaining the integrity of tight junctions between gastrointestinal epithelial cells; disruption of the gut microbiome can lead to leaky tight junctions and result in disease and pathology.<sup>298,299</sup>
#### 1.3.3c Immune modulation

Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) is the largest aggregation of immune cells and lymphoid tissue in the whole body. GALT is a part of the larger mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) system, which is the first line of defense against pathogens that enter the body. GALT consists of not only isolated lymphoid follicles and immune cells but also structured aggregates of lymphoid cells known as Peyer's patches (PPs) within the gastrointestinal tract. There are two types of PPs in the pig; discrete patches in the jejunum and upper ileum and a long continuous patch in the terminal ileum. The continuous ileal PP is not considered a primary lymphoid organ as in other species such as the sheep,<sup>300,301</sup> and therefore may be more involved in tolerance to commensal organisms and pathogen invasion monitoring. It has been suggested that even though the ileal lymphoid node is not a primary lymphoid organ, that it could increase the efficiency of mucosal immunity <sup>302</sup> by sampling of luminal antigen.

The gut microbiome interacts with GALT to develop and regulate the immune system. The gut microbiome interacts with GALT through microfold cells, where they are taken up by the gastrointestinal tract and processed.<sup>303,304</sup> Weak stimulation of naïve T cells from commensal antigens on antigen presenting cells leads to expression of anti-inflammatory cytokines interleukin 10 (IL-10) and tumor growth factor beta (TGF $\beta$ ), signaling the maturation of regulatory T cells (T<sub>regs</sub>).<sup>305-307</sup> The major role of T<sub>regs</sub> in the gastrointestinal tract is to balance pro-inflammatory with anti-inflammatory functions, creating an environment of tolerance to self as well as food and commensal organisms. The function of T<sub>regs</sub> was theorized as early as 1969, when thymectomized mice lead to spontaneous murine autoimmune ovarian disease.<sup>308</sup> Studies later confirmed the presence of an "anti-inflammatory" T lymphocyte, called a suppressor T lymphocytes in the early 1970s.<sup>309,310</sup> Uncertainty of presence of these cells in the 1980s lead to a

decrease in research, but advances in identification markers lead to the resurgence of the cell now known as the  $T_{reg}$ .<sup>311</sup> Commensal bacteria also lead to IgA production, the most secreted immunoglobulin in the gut lumen; IgA is important for opsonization and neutralization of pathogens,<sup>312</sup> thereby preventing bacterial overgrowth.<sup>305-307</sup> The gut metatranscriptome, the gut microbiome's gene expression, has been preliminary explored. <sup>313</sup> These studies are critical for identifying transcriptionally active microbes that modulate host metabolism and immunity. Only one such study was specific to the swine metatranscriptome,<sup>314</sup> therefore, there is potential for expansion in this research area.

The pig gut microbiome is essential for normal immune development. Rothkötter et al;<sup>315</sup> discovered that without a gut microbiome, T-lymphocytes within the lamina propria are significantly decreased. Another study found that conventional pigs have longer and more developed Peyer's patches in contrast to their gnotobiotic counterparts.<sup>316</sup> Additionally, conventional pigs were found to have significantly more CD4+ and CD8+ cells, and therefore helper T (T<sub>H</sub>) cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs), respectively to aid in pathogen defense, compared to gnotobiotic pigs. Gnotobiotic pigs have decreased quantities of fecal secretory IgA<sup>317</sup> and by adding specific bacterial monocultures, secretory IgA levels can be restored.<sup>318</sup>

#### 1.3.3d Gut-Lung Axis

The gut-lung axis, or the interaction between the gastrointestinal tract and lungs, has gained more attention in recent studies.<sup>319-327</sup> The lung was first thought to be a relatively sterile environment; however, recent studies have suggested that the lungs themselves are inhabited by their own specific microbiome, which can be affected by disease.<sup>328-333</sup> One recent study found that healthy porcine lungs contained *Methylotenera*, *Prevotella*, *Sphingobium* and *Lactobacillus* species.<sup>334</sup> Communication exists between the mucosal tissues of the gut and lung, not only due

to the physical closeness of these systems but also due to systemic movement and the stimulation of the immune system from gut microbes and their metabolites. Metabolic products of gut microbiota mediate communication between the gastrointestinal tract and extra-gastrointestinal tissues. Metabolic products absorbed into the gastrointestinal epithelium go into the lymphatics and the blood stream and can then communicate with other body systems, including the respiratory tract.

In humans, respiratory disease such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cystic fibrosis, pneumonia, and influenza have been characterized as having a gastrointestinal component.<sup>321,325,326,335</sup> Interestingly, within the last year research has increased on the gut-lung axis as it relates to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2). Clinical trials suggest adjunct probiotics in treatment of SARS-CoV-2 to improve outcome.<sup>336</sup> A study in mice analyzing the pulmonary and intestinal flora after FMT found that the operational taxonomic unit (OTU) values significantly decreased in the phyla Proteobacteria, Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes in feces and in the genera *Pseudomonas, Sphingobium, Lactobacillus, Rhizobium,* and *Acinetobacter* in pulmonary tissue.<sup>337</sup> However, the implications for these changes in disease are unknown and should be further explored.

#### 1.3.3e Gut microbiome and swine respiratory disease

Research exploring the gut-lung axis in pigs is limited. The mechanism by which the gut microbiome impacts outcome in pigs exposed to respiratory pathogens is largely unknown, but is believed to be associated with immune modulation and microbial metabolic products.<sup>280</sup> Previous work by our group has demonstrated several gut microbiome characteristics that are associated with improved outcome parameters in pigs co-infected with PRRSV and PCV2. Specifically, increased gut microbiome diversity, increased *Ruminococcaceae* species, and increased

*Streptococcaceae* species were associated with reduced virus replication, improved weight gain, and decreased morbidity.<sup>118,291,338</sup> Associations between increased gut microbiome diversity and beneficial outcome characteristics following *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* induced respiratory disease have also been published. In one 2013 study, an oral microbial inoculum prior to *M. hyopneumoniae* challenge resulted in decreased coughing and lung pathology.<sup>287</sup> A more recent study demonstrated decreased *M. hyopneumoniae*-associated lung pathology was associated with increased *Ruminococcaceae* abundance,<sup>339</sup> substantiating our findings that this bacterial group within the gut microbiome is correlated to improved respiratory disease outcomes.

#### 1.3.3f Gut microbiome and vaccines

Despite PRRS MLV vaccines being widely used to reduce PRRS-associated losses in endemic herds, the currently available commercial vaccines are inadequate for disease control.<sup>171</sup> There is a growing body of evidence for the role of the gut microbiome in response to vaccination for infectious diseases of humans and livestock.<sup>340,341</sup> Research focused on gut microbiome associations with PRRS vaccine efficacy limited. While one study showed no effect of an oral single-strain probiotic on PRRS vaccine response,<sup>342</sup> another demonstrated improved immune response. The second study showed increased antibody titer, milder pathogenic damage and shorter viral clearance time, following PRRSV vaccination were associated with increased relative abundance of *Lactobacillus* species.<sup>343</sup> The relationship between the immune response to other infectious disease vaccines and gut microbiome characteristics has been described.<sup>340,341,344</sup> IgA seroconversion after oral immunization with a live human rotavirus vaccine has been correlated with fecal microbiome characteristics such as increased *Streptococcus bovis* and reduced species in the Bacteroidetes phylum.<sup>345</sup> Pigs with high IgG production after

immunization with a killed *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine had increased *Lachnospiraceae*, *Prevotella* and *Fibrobacter* bacteria.<sup>346</sup>

#### 1.3.3g Gut microbiome therapeutics

Modulation of the gut microbiome also presents an opportunity to affect multiple body systems, compared to many other therapy types only affecting one system, or even possibly one metabolic pathway. The presence of beneficial bacteria and their metabolites can prevent pathogen invasion by preventing colonization, secreting antimicrobial substances or priming the immune system to defend the body.

The gut microbiome can lead to changes not only locally, but also systemically, similar to how mucosal vaccination can result in systemic effects. The effects of gut microbiome therapeutics were first predicted when germ free mice were found to be more susceptible to respiratory infection.<sup>347</sup> The gut microbiome leads to migration of immune cells to the intestine as well as homing to distant locations. This is in part due the same receptors being localized to many part of the body. Any cell that migrates to survey the environment or to be activated will not only travel through lymph but also through the bloodstream. B lymphocytes that secrete IgA have been shown to be capable of binding to integrins at distant sites to cause effects in other organs such as the lung. Segmented filamentous bacteria in the gastrointestinal tract were found to decrease susceptibility to S. aureus mediated through TH17 pathways.<sup>348</sup> TH17 cells are responsible for neutrophil recruitment, which can then phagocytose pathogens. In addition to lymphocytes, cytokines can travel to distant sites to affect the immune system. In one study, they found that the normal gut microbiome lead to T<sub>H</sub>17 production of IL-17 in the lungs which decreased susceptibility to S. pneumoniae and K. pneumoniae.<sup>349</sup> Another study found that B. fragilis produces polysaccharide A (PSA) which has been shown to induce IL-10 systemically

within mice;<sup>305</sup> implications for disease susceptibility have yet to be determined. Therefore, innate and adaptive components of the immune system can contribute to the systemic effects seen in gut microbiome therapeutics.

#### 1.3.3.1 Probiotics

The purpose of probiotics is to increase beneficial microbes within the gut microbiome. These consist of live bacterial cultures, or occasionally yeast and fungal organisms. Probiotics can help increase nutrient digestion by fermentation of feed material and nutrients within the gastrointestinal tract.<sup>350</sup> They can also provide competitive exclusion of pathogens and enhance the intestinal epithelial barrier<sup>297-299,351</sup> by producing antimicrobials (see Section 1.3.3.3. Postbiotics). Specifically in pigs, it has been found that probiotics can lead to decreased shedding of *Salmonella enterica* as well as *Escherichia coli*.<sup>352,353</sup> Finally they have been shown to increase T<sub>reg</sub> cells and IgA production leading to increased self-tolerance and decreased autoimmune disease within the gastrointestinal tract.<sup>305,354-357</sup>

#### 1.3.3.2 Prebiotics

Prebiotics aid in the growth of beneficial microbes, and therefore, the chance of survival and colonization. They function as nutrients for probiotics and increase activity of probiotics, further leading to the production of postbiotics.<sup>350,358</sup> They have also been shown on their own to competitively exclude pathogens and increase T<sub>H</sub>1 response, <sup>359-362</sup> therefore leading to macrophage recruitment and pathogen phagocytosis. Prebiotics vary in composition but are often comprised of complex carbohydrates and sugars. Some examples of prebiotics include whole grain wheat and corn that contain oligosaccharides, fructans, dextrins and lactulose.<sup>359,361-363</sup>

#### 1.3.3.3. Postbiotics

Bacterial metabolites and cell components, known as postbiotics, can also benefit the host by increasing immunity and decreasing disease susceptibility. The hypothesized mechanism of benefit includes increased expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 to promote self, commensal and food tolerance, antimicrobial activity through increased cytokines and competitive exclusion of pathogens through antimicrobial products such as bacteriocidin.<sup>364-367</sup> Further work should be done to elucidate postbiotics and their mechanism of action.

#### **1.3.3.4.** Fecal microbiota transplantation

Fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) is the process by which fecal microbes are transplanted from a healthy donor into a diseased or young individual. FMT has demonstrated promising results for use as an alternative tool for antimicrobial agents in the face of increasing antimicrobial resistance. The process of fecal microbiota transplantation, at the time called transfaunation, was described in 17<sup>th</sup> century ruminants.<sup>368</sup> Where pre-, pro-, and post-biotics are relatively well-defined, FMT may not be. FMT may contain some combination of pre-, pro-, and post-biotics, as well as other, possibly unknown elements. These additional elements include secretory IgA, undigested food particles (e.g. cellulose), inorganic substances such as iron phosphate and calcium phosphate, dead donor cells and their metabolites, as well as proteins, fats and carbohydrates. In terms of microorganisms, FMTs may be comprised of a considerable amount of dead microorganisms in combination with live microorganisms. The implications of these dead microorganisms is largely unknown and should be further considered.

FMT has been shown to transmit phenotypes, such as immune function and obesity.<sup>289,369,370</sup> Other phenotypes, such as early weaning stress, could also be transmitted through the gut microbiome but have yet to be determined. It is difficult to define how certain microbes affect phenotypic differences due to the complex relationship that the gut microbiome has with the hosts. While some microbes may have isolated effects on the host, it is likely that microbes work synergistically. A recent study<sup>371</sup> attempted to parse out these phenotypes by colonization of gnotobiotic mice with well-defined fecal samples. Many of these inoculations resulted in upregulation of  $T_{regs}$  and metabolic pathways. Obesity phenotypes have also been shown to be transmissible through fecal transplantation.<sup>289,369</sup> When the gut microbiome from an obese mouse is transplanted into a thin mouse, the thin mouse becomes obese. In contrast, a recent study in pigs given a FMT from high feed efficiency pigs led to decreased feed efficiency and weight.<sup>372</sup> Interestingly, when characterized, transplanted pigs had higher levels of *Bacteroidetes*, which is consist with mouse obesity experiments. These studies highlight the complexity of the gut microbiome and significant effects when transplanted into other animals.

For several diverse human disease states, FMT has been shown to improve treatment outcome or resolve complex disease conditions. Although recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infections are by far where FMT is most commonly used, other digestive diseases have also been linked with improvement due to FMT treatment, including inflammatory bowel disease, ulcerative colitis, and metabolic syndrome.<sup>373-375</sup> The mechanism by which FMT effectively improves outcome in these disease conditions is thought to be associated with the restoration of normal flora and improvement of nutrient digestion.

FMT and microbiome modulation has also been associated with the improvement of nondigestive diseases, such as neurologic and respiratory diseases. For these diseases, the mechanism is likely more complex, although the benefits appear to be, at least in part, immunological. For example, FMT restored the production of the inflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) produced by macrophages and monocytes leading to apoptosis of infected cells,<sup>376</sup> in microbiota depleted (by antibiotics) mice after respiratory infection with *Streptococcus pneumoniae*.<sup>377</sup>

Recent studies have analyzed the effects of the gut microbiome and FMT in swine respiratory disease. The mechanisms by which FMT improves outcome, both in health and disease, are generally unknown. One study in pigs found that FMT increased microbial diversity and FMT in led to decreased coughing, decreased lung lesions and improved immune responses after *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection.<sup>287</sup> Martin et al. 2015 established that FMT could be used to decrease necrotizing enterocolitis; however, this study also found there was an increase in the amount of mortalities in these piglets.<sup>378</sup> The focus of our research group is to understand how the gut microbiome can be modulated to increase weight gain and decrease clinical signs associated with PRRSV/PCV-2 co-infections. Increased microbial species prior to<sup>291</sup> and after PRRSV/PCV-2 co-infection<sup>328</sup> were associated with increased weight gain. FMT could be used to negate the effects of early weaning by improving weight gain and immune response to respiratory diseases. The limited research demonstrates the need for additional studies to characterize the effects of FMT in pigs.

# Chapter 2 - Phenotypic differences in clinical disease response associated with two North American porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) isolates in nursery pigs Abstract

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) is the most economically devastating swine disease in the United States (US). In a population of growing pigs, PRRS results in reduced weight gain, respiratory disease and immunosuppression, increasing infections by primary and secondary pathogens. Significant genetic variation exists among PRRS virus (PRRSV) isolates, which presumably correlates to differences in morbidity, mortality, and clinical presentation. The objective of this study was to compare morbidity and mortality of two heterologous PRRSV-2 (North American) isolates after experimental infection in large nursery pig populations. Two experimental populations of approximately 200 commercial crossbred pigs were infected with either NVSL or KS06 and followed for 42 days post-infection (dpi). Overall morbidity rates after infection with NVSL or KS06 were 39.2% and 23.5%, respectively. However, the mortality rate after infection with NVSL was approximately half that of KS06; 4.8% and 9.0%, respectively. The time course of clinical disease post-infection with NVSL was chronic, with clinical signs occurring at a similar rate throughout the 6-week trial. In contrast, clinical disease post-infection with KS06 was acute, with peak clinical signs primarily occurring between 4 and 14 dpi. Respiratory disease, altered ambulation, decreased body condition, altered mentation, and fever occurred in a significantly higher proportion of pigs infected with NVSL. Increased viral load and reduced weight gain corresponded to the prolonged clinical course of

disease in NVSL-infected pigs. Overall, these results provide evidence of diverse clinical phenotypes that may occur during infection with heterologous PRRSV isolates.

#### Introduction

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) causes substantial economic losses to swine operations around the world. In the most recent analyses, PRRS was estimated to cost US swine producers approximately \$664 million per year,<sup>1</sup> with over \$360 million alone due to losses in growing pigs. The causative agent of PRRS is PRRS virus (PRRSV), a singlestranded RNA enveloped virus in the Arteriviridae family,<sup>379</sup> which leads to increased morbidity and mortality due to respiratory disease, decreased reproductive performance, and reduced weight gain in growing pigs. Additionally, PRRS leads to immunosuppression, secondary infections and increased usage of parenteral antibiotics. PRRS was first described in the US in the late 1980s<sup>3</sup> and Europe in the early 1990s<sup>380</sup> with isolation of the virus shortly thereafter.<sup>2</sup> 'Abortus blauw' (Dutch for "blue abortion") was one of the first names given to PRRS due to abortion and notable aural cyanosis in some sows.<sup>4</sup> Subsequently, PRRSV has been characterized by a vast range of clinical signs, including respiratory disease such as tachypnea, dyspnea, openmouth breathing, forced abdominal breathing, conjunctivitis, sneezing, coughing, serous to mucopurulent rhinitis and ocular discharge.<sup>3,63,72,73</sup> Additional PRRS-associated clinical signs include polyarthritis, altered ambulation, reduced appetite, decreased growth rate, pyrexia, lethargy, depression, diarrhea, and rough hair coat.

PRRSV is separated into two lineages comprised of PRRSV-1 or European PRRSV and PRRSV-2 or North American PRRSV.<sup>23,381</sup> PRRSV has an inherently high mutation rate due to the error frequency during virus replication;<sup>29</sup> as such, many PRRSV isolates exist within the two lineages constituting a diverse genetic population. Genetic variation creates challenges in

stimulating long-term and broadly protective immunity, either through natural exposure or through modified live virus vaccination.<sup>15,382,383</sup> Furthermore, infection with heterologous isolates can lead to severe outbreaks, even in endemic herds with underlying immunity.<sup>384,385</sup> For example, a new PRRSV-2 variant recently resulted in outbreaks affecting previously exposed and vaccinated populations, including increased sows off feed, increased post-weaning mortality, increased abortions, and reduced finisher weight gain.<sup>386</sup> To understand how genetic virus variation relates to clinical disease variation, phenotypic data must be standardized; however, there is limited quantitative data in large controlled studies to describe clinical progression associated with different PRRSV isolates.

The PRRS Host Genetics Consortium (PHGC) was developed to understand how host genetics affects PRRSV infection response.<sup>173</sup> The objective of this consortium was to identify genotypes (i.e., candidate genes, single nucleotide polymorphisms, and genomic regions) that confer phenotypic resistance or susceptibility to PRRS. Previous publications have described the advantage of the B allele in the single nucleotide polymorphism WUR10000125 by reducing viral load and increasing weight gain after PRRSV infection.<sup>87</sup> Furthermore, Hess et al. (2016) described the role of host genetics in the response of pigs to two heterologous PRRSV-2 isolates, NVSL and KS06, including differences in heritability, viremia and weight gain.<sup>174</sup> However, a standardized comparison of clinical outcomes across the two PRRSV isolates in large populations of nursery pigs had yet to be reported.

In the study described herein, we characterized the clinical outcome of pigs infected with either NVSL or KS06 in a subset of two PHGC trials, including the quantification of morbidity and mortality, as well as defining the time course and frequency of clinical signs. This report provides evidence for acute and chronic clinical disease associated with PRRSV infection across

well-controlled experimental studies, where differences in viral isolate correlated to a significant shift in clinical presentation.

#### **Materials and Methods**

**Selection of Trials.** The populations of pigs involved in the current study were part of the PHGC as previously described.<sup>173</sup> Of the 14 PHGC studies included in the host genetics analysis,<sup>387</sup> two studies were selected for inclusion in the clinical disease analysis described herein. The rationale for selecting these two studies was to minimize variation associated with factors other than viral isolate. Specifically, 1) both studies were performed in the same Kansas State University facility, 2) health evaluations had been standardized between the two studies, 3) complete medical records were available for all pigs across the two studies and 4) pigs in the two studies were obtained from the same commercial source and had similar genetic backgrounds.

**Experimental Design.** Experiments involving animals and viruses were performed in accordance with the Federation of Animal Science Societies (FASS) Guide for the Care and Use of Agricultural Animals in Research and Teaching, the USDA Animal Welfare Act and Animal Welfare Regulations, and approved by the Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees and Institutional Biosafety Committees. The study involving NVSL occurred between the dates of April 1 and May 13, 2013, while the study involving KS06 occurred between the dates of October 24 and December 5, 2011. Commercial crossbred barrows (Pietrain x Large White) were transported to the Kansas State University Large Animal Research Center at weaning. For both trials, nursery pigs were obtained from a single high-health commercial source (Topigs; Burnsville, MN) that was negative for PRRSV and *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Both studies were conducted under biosafety level 2 (BSL-2) conditions with the same environmental (temperature and humidity) conditions.

Pigs were prophylactically administered a single dose of the broad spectrum antibiotic tulathromycin (Draxxin®) prior to shipment. Upon arrival at Kansas State University, piglets were randomly allocated into 9 identical pens (144 ft<sup>2</sup>) with 22-23 pigs/pen. Piglets were then allowed 5 or 6 days to acclimate to their new environment prior to infection with PRRSV. After the acclimation period, all pigs (average age  $26.0 \pm 1.5$  days for NVSL; average age  $25.5 \pm 1.5$  days for KS06) were experimentally infected with  $10^5$  50% tissue culture infectious dose (TCID<sub>50</sub>) NVSL-97 or KS06. A 2 mL dose was administered, with 1 mL delivered intranasally and 1 mL delivered intranuscularly. Pigs were given access to food and water *ad libitum* throughout both studies. At 42-43 dpi, all remaining pigs were humanely euthanized in accordance with the American Veterinary Medical Association Guidelines for the Euthanasia of Animals.

**Viruses.** Two heterologous North American PRRS-2 viruses were used for infection of pigs. The first isolate, NVSL 97-7895 (NVSL; GenBank Accession No. AY545985), is believed to have originated in southeast Iowa in December 1996 from an outbreak characterized by widespread abortion storms, even in herds routinely vaccinated with a modified live PRRS virus vaccine.<sup>67</sup> The virus was isolated, characterized and sequenced by the Diagnostic Virology Unit at the National Veterinary Services Laboratory (NVSL, USDA/APHIS, Ames, IA, USA) in 1997.<sup>388</sup> The second isolate, KS 2006-72109 (KS06; GenBank Accession No. KM252867), originated in north central Kansas in 2006 from a sow herd with clinical signs of respiratory disease in pigs from the farrowing room between 5-14 days of age. The virus was isolated at the Kansas State Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory for confirmatory diagnosis.<sup>389</sup> Comparing the two isolates, NVSL and KS06 have 89% similarity in glycoprotein 5 (GP5), a major PRRSV

antigen commonly used as a benchmark for genetic variation<sup>390</sup> at both the nucleotide and amino acid levels.<sup>389</sup>

MARC-145 cells were used for PRRSV isolation, propagation and titration. Briefly, virus was serially diluted 1:10 in minimal essential medium (MEM; Corning) supplemented with 7% FBS (Sigma-Aldrich), penicillin-streptomycin (Pen Strep; 80 Units/mL and 80  $\mu$ g/mL, respectively; Gibco), 3  $\mu$ g/mL amphotericin B (Fungizone; Gibco), and 25 mM HEPES (Life Technologies). Dilutions were added in quadruplicate to confluent MARC-145 cells in a 96-well tissue culture plate (BD Falcon). Following a 4-day incubation at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, cells were examined for PRRSV-induced cytopathic effects. The TCID<sub>50</sub>/mL was calculated using the method of Reed and Muench.<sup>391</sup>

Clinical evaluation. Pigs were evaluated daily throughout the 42 day trial by a veterinarian or veterinary assistant for the presence of PRRS-associated clinical signs, including tachypnea, dyspnea, coughing, sneezing, mucoid rhinorrhea, open mouth breathing, conjunctivitis, aural cyanosis, altered ambulation (stiffness, lameness, or joint effusion), diarrhea, decreased body condition, and altered mentation (lethargy or depression). Any pig showing clinical signs of PRRS was restrained for a physical examination and rectal temperature was collected. A standardized health evaluation form was developed and utilized during both trials (**Table 2.1**). This form was completed for all pigs showing clinical signs characterized by presence or absence in addition to several clinical signs scored based on severity. Clinical signs documented as binomial included diarrhea, pyrexia, tachypnea, mucoid rhinorrhea, coughing, sneezing, dyspnea, open-mouth breathing, ocular discharge, conjunctivitis, altered ambulation, and joint effusion. Clinical signs scored on severity included altered mentation and

response to stimuli as well as body condition. In the calculation of clinical signs for comparing the two viruses in the current analysis, all clinical signs were reduced to binomial variables. For example, attitude was considered normal for any pig characterized as bright, alert, and responsive whereas attitude was considered abnormal for any type of decreased mentation (e.g., quiet, alert and responsive; depressed, alert, responsive; moribund). In addition to the presence of clinical signs, the frequency and duration of each clinical sign were compared across virus isolates.

Pigs with clinical disease were prescribed parenteral veterinary treatment as deemed necessary by the attending veterinarian. Examples of clinical presentations where parenteral treatment was administered included 1) dyspnea or persistent coughing, 2) mucoid rhinorrhea, 3) altered ambulation with or without joint effusion, 4) diarrhea with pyrexia, and 5) lethargy or depression with pyrexia. Antimicrobials, including oxytetracycline (Liquamycin®; LA-200®) or ceftiofur hydrochloride (Excenel®), were typically administered once daily via intramuscular injection for a total of 3 days. The non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medication flunixin meglumine (Banamine®) was typically administered once daily via intramuscular injection for a period of three days. Pigs were monitored for progression or resolution of clinical signs, including daily rectal temperature measurements during treatment and a 3-day post-treatment evaluation period for all pigs recovering from clinical illness. Pigs non-responsive to veterinary treatment or those with progressive clinical disease and compromised welfare were humanely euthanized by the attending veterinarian.

Mortality and morbidity were assessed throughout the 42-day study. Any pig that died or was humanely euthanized due to PRRS was counted as a mortality. In addition to frequency, survival curves were used to assess mortality rates post NVSL and KS06 infection. Any clinical

signs warranting a veterinary evaluation and/or a mortality throughout the 42-day study were counted as a morbidity. Morbidity rates over time were determined by summing the total number of pigs with clinical signs on a given day and dividing by the total number of pigs alive. Mean clinical scores were calculated by summing the total number of clinical signs for all pigs on a given day and dividing by the number of pigs alive. Pigs subclinical for PRRSV infection were assigned zeros, but were included in all analyses of mean clinical scores. Specific clinical signs were also analyzed throughout the 42-day infection period and clinical sign frequency over time was calculated as the number of pigs demonstrating a specific clinical sign divided by the total number of pigs alive. Mean duration of specific clinical signs was calculated by summing the number of pigs had a given clinical sign throughout the study divided by the total number of pigs that had the given clinical sign. For mean duration, zeros were assigned but not included in the calculations.

Individual body weights were measured weekly throughout the 42-day infection period (0, 7, 14, 21, 28, 35, and 42 dpi). Average daily gain (ADG) was calculated as the change in weight (kilograms; kg) over the change in time (days) and was reported in kg. ADG was determined for the entire 42-day study as well as the first and second halves of the study (21 day periods).

**Viremia.** Blood samples were collected at nine time points (0, 4, 7, 11, 14, 21, 28, 35, and 42 dpi) to determine level and duration of PRRSV viremia as well as total viral load. PRRS viral RNA was extracted using Ambion's MagMAX 96 Viral Isolation Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Viral RNA was quantified using EZ-PRRSV MPX 4.0 Real Time RT-PCR Target-Specific Reagents (Tetracore) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For consistency, each plate contained Tetracore

Quantification Standards and Control Sets for use with EZ-PRRSV MPX 4.0 RT-PCR Reagents. All PCR reactions were carried out on a CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad) in a 96-well format using the recommended cycling parameters. The PCR assay results were reported as log<sub>10</sub> PRRSV RNA starting quantity (copy number) per 50-µl reaction volume. Viral load was calculated by Riemann sums; total area of the trapezoids under the line segments connecting weekly viremia measurements. Duration of PRRSV viremia was determined by the total time (in days) a pig had a positive PCR result. Any pig missing initial or terminal data points were excluded from the viral load and duration analysis as endpoints could not be determined.

**Statistical Analysis.** All data was analyzed using GraphPad Prism® 9.0 software (La Jolla, CA). Comparisons of mortality and morbidity between NVSL and KS06 were performed using Fisher's exact test and corresponding odds ratios. Survival curves were compared using the Mantel-Cox test. Mean weekly weights and all mean PRRSV viremia data were compared between groups using a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with multiple comparisons. ADG and viral load were analyzed using the unpaired *t*-test. Average age at challenge, PRRSV viremia duration, and mean clinical sign duration were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney *U* test.

#### **Results**

Overall, 389 commercial crossbred piglets infected with one of two North American heterologous PRRSV isolates were included in this study. Of these, 189 pigs were infected with NVSL and 200 pigs were infected with KS06. The average age at infection was significantly higher in pigs infected with NVSL than KS06 (average age  $26.0 \pm 1.5$  days for NVSL and  $25.5 \pm$ 1.5 days for KS06; p < 0.0001; Mann-Whitney *U* test; data not shown).

NVSL infection resulted in higher rates of morbidity and antibiotic treatment but lower rates of mortality. Mortality and morbidity rates were used to assess overall differences in clinical disease post-infection. The overall mortality rate combining both studies was 7% or 27 out of 389 pigs. Pigs infected with NVSL were approximately half as likely to die as pigs infected with KS06 which trended towards significance (4.8 vs 9.0% mortality rates, respectively; p = 0.09; Mantel Cox Test; Figure 2.1A, Table 2.2). Morbidity, in contrast, occurred at a higher rate in NVSL infected pigs; after infection with NVSL, 74 of 189 pigs (39.2%) developed significant clinical disease warranting veterinary evaluation in comparison to 47 of 200 pigs (23.5%) after infection with KS06 (p = 0.001; Fisher's exact test; **Table 2.2**). Respiratory disease, associated with mucoid rhinorrhea, dyspnea, conjunctivitis, sneezing, coughing, tachypnea, ocular discharge and open mouth breathing, was approximately six times more likely to occur in NVSL than KS06 infected pigs (33.9 vs 5.5% in NVSL and KS06, respectively; p < 0.0001; Fisher's exact test with corresponding odds ratio analysis). Interestingly, while mucoid rhinorrhea occurred in approximately one quarter of NVSL infected pigs (57/189; 30.2%), it was completely absent with KS06 infection (p < 0.0001; Fisher's exact test). This may provide evidence for a reduced rate of immunosuppression and secondary bacterial infections with certain isolates. Additionally, compared to their NVSL infected counterparts, no pigs infected with KS06 demonstrated conjunctivitis, sneezing, coughing or ocular discharge. Other signs, such as altered ambulation, decreased body condition, and altered mentation also occurred at a higher rate in NVSL than KS06 infected pigs (p < 0.01; Fisher's exact test). However, diarrhea was seen in a similar, low proportion of NVSL and KS06 infected pigs (6.3 and 3.5%, respectively, p = 0.2; Fisher's exact test). Morbidity rates were positively correlated to veterinary treatment with parenteral antibiotics. Within the group of clinically

affected pigs, 98 out of 389 pigs (25.2%) received parenteral antibiotic treatment. Parenteral antibiotic treatment was administered to nearly twice the number of pigs infected with NVSL compared to KS06; 34.4% (65/189) of NVSL and 16.5% (33/200) of KS06 infected pigs received treatment (p < 0.0001; Fisher's exact test). Overall, NVSL infection resulted in a higher morbidity rate leading to increased usage of parenteral antibiotic treatment, while KS06 infection lead to a higher mortality rate.

NVSL infection resulted in chronic disease while KS06 infection resulted in acute disease. Clinical disease progression was monitored over time to assess disease chronicity in association with infection of the two isolates. Mortalities associated with NVSL were delayed, starting at 10 dpi with less than 1% mortality by 14 dpi. In contrast, mortalities associated with KS06 occurred earlier, beginning at 4 dpi with a 6% mortality rate by 14 dpi. From 14 dpi to the conclusion of the studies, mortalities occurred at a similar rate across both isolates. Comparing the proportion of pigs with clinical signs on each day, morbidity levels first significantly diverged between the two isolates on 7 dpi, when NVSL had significantly less clinically affected pigs (0 out of 189) than KS06 (19 out of 193; p < 0.0001; Fisher's exact test; Figure 2.1B). This pattern continued until 10 dpi. By 13 dpi, NVSL infected pigs had significantly higher levels of morbidity (p = 0.03; Fisher's exact test); NVSL pigs were 3.7 times more likely to have clinical signs than KS06 pigs (95% CI 1.3 - 10.5 %; odds ratio analysis). Between 13 and 41 dpi (28 days total), NVSL infected pigs had significantly higher morbidity rates than KS06 infected pigs (p < 0.05; Fisher's exact test). After 41 dpi, clinical signs associated with NVSL infection began to wane until morbidity rates were similar with KS06 infection at the study conclusion. Mean clinical scores were utilized to evaluate overall disease severity (Figure 2.1C). While multiple peaks in severity of clinical disease were noted with NVSL infection at 16, 27 and 36 dpi, a

single peak was associated with KS06 infection at 7 dpi. This data suggests that mean clinical score more clearly depicts clinical disease severity than morbidity rates.

Clinical sign frequency and duration was followed over time. Respiratory signs, decreased body condition, altered mentation, diarrhea, and pyrexia followed a time course similar to the overall morbidity time course for both isolates (**Figure 2.2A**, **C**, **D**, **E** and **F**). In contrast, altered ambulation primarily occurred in the second half of the study (21-42 dpi) (**Figure 2.2B**). While altered ambulation, diarrhea and fever occurred for similar lengths between the two isolates (p > 0.1; Mann-Whitney *U* test; **Figure 2.2B**, **E** and **F**), duration of respiratory signs, decreased body condition, lethargy and antibiotic treatment were significantly longer for NVSL versus KS06 (p < 0.05; Mann-Whitney *U* test; **Figure 2.2A**, **C** and **D**). This data establishes the acute versus chronic clinical disease potential of PRRSV isolates.

**NVSL infected pigs had reduced weight gain and increased virus replication compared to KS06 infected pigs.** Prior to infection, no significant difference was detected in the weights across the two groups;  $6.9 \pm 1.3$  kg and  $6.5 \pm 1.3$  kg for NVSL and KS06 pigs, respectively (mean  $\pm$  SD, p = 0.77; two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons; **Figure 2.3A**). Absolute weights between the two groups remained similar until 21 dpi when weights significantly diverged;  $12.7 \pm 2.4$  kg and  $13.8 \pm 2.8$  kg for NVSL and KS06 pigs, respectively (p = 0.003; two-way ANOVA with repeated measures). Weights were also significantly lower in NVSL pigs on 35 dpi with NVSL pigs weighing  $19.1 \pm 3.9$  kg and KS06 pigs weighing  $20.6 \pm$ 4.2 kg (p < 0.0001; two-way ANOVA with repeated measures). Weights were similar between the two groups at the conclusion of the study. ADG during the 42 day trial was significantly lower in pigs infected with NVSL;  $0.43 \pm 0.10$  kg and  $0.46 \pm 0.10$  kg in pigs infected with NVSL and KS06, respectively (p = 0.03; unpaired *t*-test; **Figure 2.3B**). Differences in ADG occurred primarily during the first half of the study where ADG was  $0.28 \pm 0.08$  kg for NVSL and  $0.35 \pm 0.09$  kg for KS06 (p < 0.0001; unpaired *t*-test). These data indicate that disease associated with NVSL infection led to reduced weight gain in early infection compared to KS06.

Viremia curves for PRRSV followed a similar time course for both NVSL and KS06 (Figure 2.4A). Between 4-14 dpi, NVSL-associated viremia was higher than KS06 (p <0.0001; unpaired *t*-test). Viremia levels in both groups peaked at 7 dpi with  $6.6 \pm 0.7 \log_{10} \text{ copies/PCR}$ reaction and  $5.6 \pm 0.4 \log_{10}$  copies/PCR reaction in NVSL and KS06 infected pigs, respectively (p < 0.0001; two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons). Mean viremia was similar between the two isolates for most of the second half of the study; however, at 42 dpi viremia associated with NVSL infection was higher than KS06 infection  $(1.0 \pm 1.1 \log_{10} \text{ copies/PCR reaction})$ compared to  $0.7 \pm 1.0 \log_{10}$  copies/PCR reaction, respectively; p = 0.01; two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons). Total viral load and duration of viremia were calculated as static measurements of overall virus burden (Figure 2.4B). Any pig that died or was humanely euthanized was excluded from viral load and viremia duration analyses (12 from NVSL and 18 from KS06). An additional nine pigs in the NVSL and two pigs in the KS06 groups were excluded from viremia duration analysis due to lack of initial or terminal data points. Viral load was higher in NVSL than KS06 infected pigs;  $153.4 \pm 20.0$  and  $140.2 \pm 17.2$ , respectively (p < 0.0001; unpaired *t*-test). NVSL infection led to a longer viremia duration than KS06 infection; mean duration was  $35.1 \pm 4.7$  days and  $33.2 \pm 5.0$  days, respectively (p < 0.0001; Mann-Whitney U test; Figure 2.4C). These data demonstrate that NVSL infection leads to increased viral levels and viremia duration compared to KS06 infected pigs.

#### Discussion

The current study quantitatively characterized host phenotypic outcomes in approximately 400 pigs infected with one of two heterologous PRRSV isolates. NVSL infection led to delayed, chronic disease resulting in significantly higher morbidity associated with respiratory disease and increased parenteral antibiotic usage. In comparison, KS06 infection led to acute, severe disease resulting in higher mortalities early in the infection period.

One important consideration revealed herein is how economic and welfare impacts of PRRS can be isolate dependent. Considering NVSL, impacts included increased antibiotic usage, which would result in increased labor and veterinary costs as well as antimicrobial resistance risk. Further, NVSL was associated with reduced weight gain, which would have resulted in longer time to reach market weight and increased feed costs. These costs have previously been estimated by Nauthes et al. (2017), who reported that PRRSV-associated increases in veterinary, labor, and feed costs were approximately \$30, \$18 and \$6 per weaned pig.<sup>392</sup> On the other hand, KS06 infection led to higher death loss, which would have resulted in fewer market pigs and higher post-weaning mortality. PRRS mortalities have previously been estimated to cause a loss of 10 million market pigs/year in the US, which contributes to the \$362 million of economic losses in the growing pig population.<sup>166</sup> Further, acute death loss of large numbers of weaned pigs can cause negative impacts to the mental health of animal care personnel and farm staff. Post-traumatic stress disorder was reported after mass culling due to foot-and-mouth disease in the United Kingdom,<sup>393</sup> South Korea<sup>394</sup> and Japan.<sup>395</sup> Taken together, economic and welfare impacts of PRRS can be manifold and vary across isolate.

Interestingly, clinical signs and disease timelines had minimal overlap between the two isolates. Previous studies have also demonstrated a wide variation in the time course of clinical

signs associated with different PRRSV isolates. For example, a 2001 study using the NADC-20 PRRSV isolate found that respiratory signs were elevated between 7 and 15 dpi<sup>396</sup> spanning the period where NVSL signs were rising and KS06 signs were decreasing. Other PRRSV isolates show respiratory disease peaks ranging from 5 - 30 dpi.<sup>6-8,397-400</sup> In contrast to our study that reported altered ambulation in up to 13.2% of infected pigs, altered ambulation was not described as a major clinical component in these studies. Furthermore, all of these previous studies found cyanosis in a proportion of pigs whereas no cyanosis was reported herein. These phenotypic differences may be attributed to differential regulation of virulence factors across the viral genome.

Raising concern, some PRRSV isolates result in clinical signs similar to foreign animal diseases such as African and classical swine fever virus (ASFV and CSFV, respectively). In 2006, a new highly pathogenic PRRSV isolate (HP-PPRSV) emerged in China, resulting in approximately 400,000 pigs euthanized,<sup>69,70</sup> with ASFV- and CSFV-like disease.<sup>401,402</sup> HP-PRRSV resulted in high mortality (approaching 100% compared to 7% in the current study) and morbidity (approaching 100% compared to 31% in the current study), characterized by erythema and central nervous system deficits, while in the current study, these were not observed. HP-PRRSV and ASFV are also known to cause severe pyrexia, approaching 107°F,<sup>69,403,404</sup> while in the current study, a majority of pigs that were pyrectic (50/53 in NVSL and 31/32 in KS06) had temperatures less than 106°F. Therefore, considerable variation in clinical disease is significant, slowing PRRS diagnosis, treatment and control.

Viral replication may be associated with clinical disease and weight gain variation. Previous groups have analyzed viremia and weight gain associated with these two isolates. Ladinig et al. (2015), using a PRRSV reproductive model, found higher fetal viral loads in

NVSL compared to KS06-infected gilts, with peak gilt viremia of both isolates at 7dpi, consistent with the current study.<sup>405</sup> Reduced daily feed intake was also in higher proportion of NVSL than KS06 infected gilts (100 vs 50%, respectively),<sup>405</sup> comparable to our findings that NVSL infected piglets gained less weight than KS06 infected piglets. Interestingly, there were no differences in fetal weights between infections of the two isolates. In Hess et al. 2016,<sup>174</sup> 14 PHGC studies were used to evaluate host genetics and response to PRRSV infection. Peak viremia was sooner for NVSL pigs (7dpi) compared to KS06 pigs (9dpi) and viremic decay was faster after NVSL infection compared to KS06 infection, which differs from the current study. This could be attributed to different PHGC studies analyzed; however, this should be further explored. Similar to the current study, NVSL pigs gained less weight than KS06 pigs within these 14 PHGC studies.<sup>174</sup> While these data demonstrate variation between studies, there are generalized associations that can be made. Both within our studies and others, NVSL clinical signs were delayed compared to peak viremia, while peak viremia was consistent with KS06 clinical sign progression, which could indicate that NVSL disease is due to inflammatory cytokines or other immune responses not measured in this study rather than viral replication. These findings also suggest that supplementing feed may be beneficial to improve weight gain in piglets and gilts, while it may not be helpful with *in-utero* growth during infection. Due to ADG differences between the two isolates, emphasis should be placed on feed supplementation early in infection.

There are several aspects of the current study unrelated to PRRSV infection that may have affected clinical outcome. First, the population of pigs infected with NVSL were older (average of 0.5 days) at the time of infection than pigs infected with KS06. This may be important as age susceptibility of pigs to PRRSV has been well documented.<sup>43,406</sup> In addition,

NVSL infected pigs had one additional day of acclimation prior to infection. Despite the age and acclimation differences, which presumably would give the NVSL pigs an advantage, the NVSL pigs developed higher rates of clinical disease and viral loads with decreased weight gain. The two studies were also performed in different years and although these studies were done in the same facility under the same conditions, we cannot rule out the effect of completion time. Furthermore, analysis of clinical signs is invariably subjective. To minimize subjectivity across observers, body systems were reduced to categories of normal or abnormal, therefore creating a binary, semi-quantitative measurement. This type of analysis was utilized to reduce observation bias and improve the standardized assessment of PRRS clinical disease.

Our findings demonstrate evidence for acute and chronic forms of clinical disease associated with two PRRSV-2 isolates and highlight how different PRRSV isolates can impact pork production. Further investigations to identify genetic markers associated with phenotypic clinical outcomes may increase our understanding of host genetics in disease susceptibility and resistance. This study underscores how clinical disease variation across PRRS isolates contributes to challenges in early and rapid detection of novel PRRSV introductions on farms and in endemic herds.

#### Funding

This project was funded by the National Pork Board, USDA NIFA 2013-68004-20362, and Genome Canada. LAC was funded through the United States Department of Agriculture Animal Plant Health Inspection Service's National Bio- and Agro-defense Facility Scientist Training Program.

### Acknowledgements

The authors thank Rebecca Eaves, Nick Monday, and Maureen Sheahan for animal and laboratory research support. The authors thank the veterinary and animal care staff at the KSU Large Animal Research Center for their exceptional animal care.

| signs after infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus |              |             |               |                |  |  |
|--|--------------|-------------|---------------|----------------|--|--|
| Mentation*:  | BAR          | QAR         | DAR           | Moribund       |  |  |
| Body Condition:  | Normal       | Thin        | Poor          |                |  |  |
| Feces:   | Normal       | Diarrhea    |               |                |  |  |
| Temperature:   | Normal (<10. | 3.6°F)      | Febrile (≥103 | 5.6°F)         |  |  |
| Respiration:   |              |             |               |                |  |  |
| Rate   | Normal (<30  | opm)        | Tachypnea (>  | -30bpm)        |  |  |
| Signs  | MR           | Coughing    | Sneezing      | Dyspnea        |  |  |
|  | OMB          | OD          | Conjunctiviti | S              |  |  |
| Joints:  | Normal       | Altered Amb | ulation†      | Joint Effusion |  |  |

**Table 2.1.** Standardized clinical health evaluation worksheet utilized to characterize clinical signs after infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus

Key: BAR= Bright, Alert, Responsive; QAR= Quiet, Alert, Responsive; DAR= Depressed, Alert, Responsive; bpm= breathes per minute; MR= Mucoid Rhinorrhea; OMB= Open Mouth Breathing; OD= Ocular Discharge

\*All pigs described as QAR, DAR, or Moribund were classified as having altered mentation † Pigs with stiffness, inability to ambulate, reluctance to ambulate, toe-touching lame, or nonweight bearing lame were characterized as having altered ambulation

| isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (NVSL or KS06)*       |                     |                        |                        |          |  |  |
|---|---------------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------|--|--|
| Clinical Event  | Total ( $n = 389$ ) | NVSL ( <i>n</i> = 189) | KS06 ( <i>n</i> = 200) | p-value  |  |  |
| Mortality   | 27 (7)              | 9 (4.8)                | 18 (9.0)               | 0.09     |  |  |
| Morbidity   | 121 (31.1)          | 74 (39.2)              | 47 (23.5)              | 0.0010   |  |  |
| Antibiotic Treatment  | 98 (25.2)           | 65 (34.4)              | 33 (16.5)              | < 0.0001 |  |  |
| Respiratory   | 75 (19.3)           | 64 (33.9)              | 11 (5.5)               | < 0.0001 |  |  |
| Mucoid Rhinorrhea   | 51 (13.1)           | 51 (27.0)              | 0 (0.0)                | < 0.0001 |  |  |
| Dyspnea   | 23 (5.9)            | 20 (10.6)              | 3 (1.5)                | 0.0005   |  |  |
| Conjunctivitis  | 15 (3.9)            | 15 (7.9)               | 0 (0)                  | < 0.0001 |  |  |
| Sneezing  | 16 (4.1)            | 16 (8.5)               | 0 (0)                  | < 0.0001 |  |  |
| Coughing  | 11 (2.8)            | 11 (5.8)               | 0 (0)                  | 0.0003   |  |  |
| Tachypnea   | 13 (3.3)            | 3 (1.6)                | 10 (5.0)               | 0.0886   |  |  |
| Ocular Discharge  | 13 (3.3)            | 13 (6.9)               | 0 (0)                  | < 0.0001 |  |  |
| Open Mouth Breathing  | 4 (1.0)             | 2 (1.1)                | 2 (1.0)                | >0.9999  |  |  |
| Altered Ambulation  | 32 (8.2)            | 25 (13.2)              | 7 (3.5)                | 0.0007   |  |  |
| Stiffness or Lameness   | 30 (7.7)            | 23 (12.1)              | 7 (3.5)                | 0.0019   |  |  |
| Joint Effusion  | 21 (5.4)            | 16 (8.5)               | 5 (2.5)                | 0.0122   |  |  |
| Decreased Body Condition  | 17 (4.4)            | 14 (7.4)               | 3 (1.5)                | 0.0053   |  |  |
| Altered Mentation   | 63 (16.2)           | 47 (24.9)              | 16 (8.0)               | < 0.0001 |  |  |
| Diarrhea  | 19 (4.9)            | 12 (6.3)               | 7 (3.5)                | 0.2413   |  |  |
| Febrile   | 85 (21.9)           | 53 (28.0)              | 32 (16.0)              | 0.0047   |  |  |
| *Data is shown as the number (nercentage) of pigs documented with each clinical event |                     |                        |                        |          |  |  |

**Table 2.2.** Frequency of clinical event documented in nursery pigs infected with one of two isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (NVSL or KS06)\*

\*Data is shown as the number (percentage) of pigs documented with each clinical event. Statistical differences between the two isolates were calculated using the Fisher's exact test.



### Figure 2.1. Time course of clinical outcome in nursery pigs infected with KS06 or NVSL isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV).

Number of pigs used in the analysis are provided below the graphs. A) Data shown as the percentage of pigs that survived during the course of PRRSV infection. Survival curves trended toward being significantly different (p = 0.09; Mantel-Cox test). B) Data shown as the percentage of pigs with clinical signs each day. C) Data shown as the mean number of clinical signs based on the number of pigs alive on a given day.





Figure 2.2. Frequency and duration of clinical events over time in nursery pigs infected with KS06 or NVSL isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV).

Left column: percentage of pigs with clinical signs associated with PRRS. Data is shown as the percentage of pigs with. The right column shows clinical sign duration (data shown in mean days with SD).









### Figure 2.3. Weights over time and average daily gain in nursery pigs infected with KS06 or NVSL isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV).

A) Data shown as means and standard deviations. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences (p < 0.05 by two-way ANOVA with repeated measures). B) Data shown as means  $\pm$  1 standard deviation in kg. Statistically significant differences were determined by unpaired t-test.

#### A. PRRSV Viremia Time Course



### Figure 2.4. Virus detection in serum from nursery pigs infected with KSO6 or NVSL isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV).

A) Data is shown as mean  $\pm$  standard deviations (log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction). Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between groups (\*\*p < 0.0001, \*p < 0.05; two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons). B) Total viral load, estimated as area under the curve through Riemann sums of viremia (log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction), is shown as box and whiskers plots with the box indicating the quartiles and the whiskers indicating the range of values. C) PRRSV viremia duration shown as mean plus standard deviation (days).

## Chapter 3 - Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Is Associated With Reduced Morbidity and Mortality in Porcine Circovirus Associated Disease

Published in Frontiers in Microbiology

Niederwerder MC, Constance LA, Rowland RRR, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Is Associated With Reduced Morbidity and Mortality in Porcine Circovirus Associated Disease. *Front Microbiol*. 2018;9:1631. Published 2018 Jul 23. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.01631

#### Abstract

Porcine circovirus associated disease (PCVAD) is a term used to describe the multifactorial disease syndromes caused by porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV-2), which can be reproduced in an experimental setting through the co-infection of pigs with PCV-2 and porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). The resulting PCVAD-affected pigs represent a subpopulation within the co-infected group. In co-infection studies, the presence of increased microbiome diversity is linked to a reduction in clinical signs. In this study, fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) was investigated as a means to prevent PCVAD in pigs coinfected with PRRSV and PCV-2d. The sources of the FMT material were high-parity sows with a documented history of high health status and robust litter characteristics. The analysis of the donated FMT material showed the absence of common pathogens along with the presence of diverse microbial phyla and families. One group of pigs (n = 10) was administered the FMT while a control group (n = 10) was administered a sterile mock-transplant. Over the 42-day postinfection period, the FMT group showed fewer PCVAD-affected pigs, as evidenced by a significant reduction in morbidity and mortality in transplanted pigs, along with increased antibody levels. Overall, this study provides evidence that FMT decreases the severity of clinical signs following co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2 by reducing the prevalence of PCVAD.

#### Introduction

Fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) is the process by which fecal microorganisms are donated by a healthy individual and subsequently transplanted into a diseased individual. The actual process of fecal transplantation has been described for centuries, being reported as early as the 4<sup>th</sup> century in China for the treatment of diarrhea in humans<sup>407</sup> and in the 17<sup>th</sup> century in Italy as transfaunation for the treatment of diseases in ruminants.<sup>368</sup> The recent surge in FMT usage and application is evidenced by a search in PubMed, where publication results for either "fecal microbiota transplantation" or "fecal microbiota transplant" comprise approximately 1,200 publications, with almost all being published within the last decade.<sup>408,409</sup> For several human disease states, FMT has been shown to improve treatment outcome or resolve complex disease conditions. Although recurrent Clostridium difficile infections are by far the most frequent use for the application of FMT, other FMT-treatable digestive diseases include inflammatory bowel disease, ulcerative colitis, and metabolic syndrome.<sup>373-375</sup> The mechanism by which FMT is effective for the treatment of digestive diseases is likely associated with the restoration of normal flora. FMT is also associated with the improvement of non-digestive diseases, such as neurologic and respiratory disorders. For these conditions, the mechanism for the beneficial effect is likely more complex. For example, FMT restored the production of cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-10, in antibiotic-treated mice after respiratory infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae.<sup>377</sup>

A different and less-explored role for FMT is in the prevention of disease. Traditionally, antibiotics and other growth promoters have been used in food animal production as
prophylactics. Part of the benefit is likely derived from the maintenance of a microbiome that optimizes growth, either through individual species and/or metabolites, along with the prevention of common bacterial infections. As beneficial microbial populations are further characterized for their role in both growth and immunity, FMT or other microbiome therapeutics may provide an alternative to antibiotics and growth promoters in food animal production.

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) is the most costly disease of swine worldwide, with estimated annual losses to the U.S. industry at \$664 million, primarily due to respiratory disease and reduced weight gain in growing pigs.<sup>410</sup> Porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV-2) is also a significant and widely distributed pathogen of swine. PCV-2 is a causative factor associated with a group of disease syndromes termed porcine circovirus associated disease or PCVAD, characterized by muscle wasting, respiratory disease, jaundice or pallor, and reduced weight gain in growing pigs.<sup>92</sup> Models for PCVAD include co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2, both of which cause systemic infections primarily targeting pulmonary and lymphoid tissues.<sup>116-118</sup>

Previous work utilizing a PRRSV/PCV-2 co-infection model has shown a consistent association between increased fecal microbiota diversity and improved outcome in nursery pigs.<sup>118,291</sup> Specifically, both pre and post-infection fecal microbiome diversity was associated with several improved outcomes after co-infection, including reduced clinical disease severity, reduced virus replication, decreased lung lesions, and improved weight gain. Increased microbiome diversity, as measured by a pan-microbial microarray, was correlated with a reduction in PCVAD clinical signs as well as improved growth in subclinically-affected pigs.

The hypothesis tested in the current study was that prophylactic administration of FMT to 3-week old weaned barrows prior to co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2 would reduce clinical

signs and pathology associated with PCVAD. The sources of the FMT material were high-parity sows with life-long histories of high-health status and efficient production characteristics, such as the absence of frequent antimicrobial treatment, low pre-weaning mortality rates, large healthy litters, and a lack of clinical disease. The results showed that FMT reduces the number of pigs affected by PCVAD, including a reduction in virus load and increased viral antigen-specific antibodies. Therefore, FMT provides a potential therapeutic for the prevention of disease.

## Materials and methods

Animals and housing. The use of animals and viruses in research was performed in accordance with the Federation of Animal Science Societies (FASS) Guide for the Care and Use of Agricultural Animals in Research and Teaching, the USDA Animal Welfare Act and Animal Welfare Regulations, and approved by the Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees and Institutional Biosafety Committees. Ten pairs of barrow siblings (n = 20; 24 days of age upon arrival) were obtained at weaning from a single high health commercial source negative for PRRSV, Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae and porcine epidemic diarrhea virus (PEDV). Sibling pairs were from 10 different sows and the piglets were not vaccinated for PCV-2. No prophylactic or therapeutic antibiotics were administered at weaning or within 1 week of arriving at Kansas State. All pigs were housed in two identical environmentally controlled rooms at the Kansas State University Large Animal Research Center and maintained under biosafety level 2 (BSL-2) conditions. Each sibling pair was divided into either the control or fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) group; the two groups were balanced according to arrival weight. Pigs were housed in groups of 10 in a 9.1 sq m pen with raised slatted flooring. All pigs were given approximately 24 hours to acclimate to their new environment prior to FMT or mocktransplant treatment. Pigs were given access to food and water ad libitum.

**Viruses.** The PRRS virus (isolate KS62; GenBank accession no. KM035798) used to prepare the inoculum for this study originated from the lymph node of a pig with porcine circovirus associated disease (PCVAD) due to co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2.<sup>117</sup> PRRSV was isolated by propagation on MARC-145 cells and titrated as previously described.<sup>116</sup>

The PCV-2d virus was a field-derived isolate. Serum containing the field isolate was heat-treated to remove heat-labile pathogens and was subsequently used to infect cesareanderived, colostrum-deprived (CD/CD) pigs. Lung, spleen and liver samples were collected from the CD/CD pigs at 21 days post-infection (dpi) and tested by qPCR for PCV-2d. Quantification cycle (Cq) values of the tissues used to create the inoculum for the current study were 14.9, 14.2 and 14.2 for liver, lung and spleen, respectively, from a single CD/CD pig. A 10% tissue homogenate was created from the described tissues in Eagle's minimum essential medium (EMEM; Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 50 µg/mL gentamicin. Following centrifugation at 100xg for 15 min at 4°C, the supernatant was heat-treated at 55°C for 45 min to inactivate heatlabile pathogens. Analysis of the supernatant using the Lawrence Livermore Microbial Detection Array (LLMDA) confirmed the inoculum was negative for other common pathogens, such as porcine parvovirus, PRRSV, swine influenza virus, and Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae, but remained positive for porcine endogenous retroviruses (data not shown), which are ubiquitous in swine. PCV-2d infectivity was titrated on swine testicle (ST) cells. Briefly, serial 10-fold dilutions of PCV-2d challenge stock were added in quadruplicate onto rapidly dividing ST cells in a 96-well tissue culture plate (BD Falcon). Dilutions were prepared in Eagle's minimal essential medium (EMEM; Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 7% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma-Aldrich) and 50 µg/mL gentamicin (Lonza). Following a 3-day incubation at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, cells were fixed and permeabilized with 80% acetone. Cells were then stained with a

polyclonal anti-PCV-2b primary antibody and a fluorescein (FITC) AffiniPure Goat Anti-Swine IgG secondary antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc.). Infected cells were visualized using an inverted fluorescent microscope and the 50% tissue culture infective dose (TCID<sub>50</sub>/mL) was calculated using the method of Spearman and Karber.<sup>411</sup>

To prepare the inocula for pigs, the stock viruses were mixed to yield a 2-mL dose consisting of  $10^4$  TCID<sub>50</sub> PCV-2d and  $10^5$  TCID<sub>50</sub> PRRSV in MEM. The 2-mL dose was split, with 1 mL being delivered intranasally and 1 mL being delivered intranuscularly.

**Fecal microbiota transplant.** Two sows from a commercial farrow-to-wean farm in Kansas were selected as donors for the transplant material. This herd was negative for PRRSV and had recently undergone a *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* elimination program. The two sows were selected based on several characteristics, including older age (average age 4.8 years), high parity (9 and 12 litters born prior to donation), large litters with a high percentage of born alive piglets  $(15.1 \pm 2.0 \text{ total born}; 95\%$  born alive), low pre-weaning mortality, no history of fetal mummification, and no antibiotic treatment received within at least the last 15 months prior to donation. Pre-weaning mortality in these two sows was primarily attributed to crushing injuries. Lifetime number of weaned pigs was 101 and 131 for each sow, respectively. For this study, feces were collected during lactation and sows had not yet weaned their respective litters at the time. Feces were initially screened and confirmed as negative for gastrointestinal parasites using a fecal float qualitative exam by the Kansas State Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (KSVDL).

To prepare the FMT, fresh feces was collected naturally during defecation or manually from the rectum of the two sows. Feces were collected on a single time and day, mixed, and processed within approximately 3 hours after collection, during which the fecal microbiota was concentrated and stored using a protocol adapted from the human FMT literature.<sup>412</sup> Specifically,

feces were weighed into 50 gram aliquots and mixed in a standard commercial blender (Oster, Sunbeam Products Inc.) with 250 mL of sterile saline (0.9% sodium chloride irrigation USP, Braun Medical) until homogenized. The fecal slurry was then passed progressively through 2.0, 1.0, 0.5, and 0.25 mm stainless steel sieves into a sieve receiver (Fisherbrand<sup>TM</sup>). The filtered liquid was collected, aliquoted into 50 ml tubes, and centrifuged at 6,000xg for 15 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and each bacterial pellet was resuspended in approximately 20 mL of sterile saline. All resuspensions were gently vortexed prior to mixing the concentrated microbiota in a large beaker. Glycerol (molecular biology reagent grade, MP Biomedicals<sup>TM</sup>) was added to create a 10% glycerol suspension and the transplant material was stored at -80°C until the day of transplantation. On the day of transplantation, the FMT material was thawed for 2 hours on ice and kept cold prior to administration.

The FMT material was submitted to KSVDL for routine bacterial culture, including aerobic culture, anaerobic culture and *Salmonella* enrichment. Species identification was attempted for all bacteria cultured. The FMT material was also fully characterized on the Lawrence Livermore Microbial Detection Array.

Experimental design and sample collection. Approximately 24 hours after arriving at Kansas State University, pigs were administered a fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) or a mock transplant (CONTROL). Mock transplants were made of 10% glycerol in sterile saline. Transplants or mock-transplants were administered as 5 mL doses delivered once daily for seven consecutive days prior to co-infection. To administer the FMT or mock-transplant, 5 mL doses were delivered through flexible dispensing tips (6.4 mm Flexoject<sup>TM</sup> Dispensing Tips, Innovet). Solutions were delivered slowly on the tongue or in the cheek pouch, allowing the pig to chew on the tip and naturally consume the material over 30 seconds to 1 minute.

At 32 days of age, all 20 pigs were infected with PRRSV and PCV-2d. Body weights of individual pigs were collected upon arrival (-8) and on -7, 0, 7, 14, 21, 24, 28, 32, 35, and 42 dpi. Blood samples were collected from all pigs on -7, 0, 4, 7, 11, 14, 21, 28, 35, and 42 dpi. Fecal samples were collected from all 20 pigs on -7 and 0 dpi. In addition to these planned sample collection times, blood, feces and weights were collected on the day of death or euthanasia. Pigs were humanely euthanized under the direction of the attending laboratory animal veterinarian if 1) pigs had greater than or equal to 20% weight loss, 2) pigs were moribund or nonresponsive to veterinary treatment, or 3) pigs had severe dyspnea or clinical disease that compromised animal welfare. At 42 dpi, all remaining pigs were humanely euthanized in accordance with the American Veterinary Medical Association Guidelines for the Euthanasia of Animals and complete necropsies were performed.

Clinical and pathologic evaluation. All pigs were assessed daily for the presence of clinical signs associated with PRRSV/PCV-2 co-infection, such as dyspnea, tachypnea, ocular discharge or conjunctivitis, coughing or sneezing, nasal discharge, aural cyanosis, open mouth breathing, decreased body condition, muscle wasting, rough hair coat, lethargy, depression, joint effusion, lameness, diarrhea, and pallor or jaundice. Pigs were visually examined by a veterinarian or veterinary assistant on each day of the study period. Under the direction of the attending veterinarian, appropriate treatments were administered to pigs with moderate to severe clinical disease. Examples of clinical presentations where treatment was administered included 1) dyspnea and/or tachypnea, 2) mucoid rhinorrhea, 3) conjunctivitis with swelling, 4) pallor or jaundice with muscle wasting, and 5) lethargy or depression with pyrexia. Clinically affected pigs were prescribed parenteral antibiotics, such as ceftiofur hydrochloride or oxytetracycline. Any pig with overt clinical disease and a rectal temperature of  $\geq 104^{\circ}F$  was administered

parenteral flunixin meglumine, a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug. Other supportive care, such as oral or subcutaneous fluids, were administered for significantly dehydrated pigs under the direction of the attending veterinarian. Pigs with evidence of conjunctivitis were treated with triple antibiotic ophthalmic ointment (bacitracin-neomycin-polymyxin, Vetropolycin, Dechra). Clinical signs and treatments unrelated to PRRSV or PCVAD (e.g., lacerations, dermatitis, congenital hernias, etc.) were documented and monitored but were not included in the data analysis related to clinical outcome. Treatment days were numerated for individual pigs over time. Treatment days were counted as each day a pig was prescribed a parenteral therapeutic. Mortality rate was calculated from those pigs that died or were euthanized prior to the 42-day termination of the study. Morbidity rate was calculated as the number of pigs demonstrating clinical signs deemed by the attending veterinarian to require veterinary intervention and prescription of parenteral therapy.

At 42 dpi, all surviving pigs (n = 11) were humanely euthanized with intravenous pentobarbital sodium. A board certified veterinary pathologist, blinded to the source of the pigs, performed complete necropsies and histopathology. First, whole body weights were collected post-mortem. Second, lungs and trachea were removed *in toto* immediately after euthanasia and total lung weights were measured. The trachea was excised immediately distal to the larynx. Lung weight to body weight ratio was calculated as a measure of pulmonary pathology. Dorsal and ventral aspects of the whole lung were photographed (Canon EOS Rebel T6 DSLR) and digital images were evaluated after gross necropsy using a photo scoring system. Gross anatomical photo scores were reported as the percentage of whole lung affected by pneumonia (ranging from 0 to 100%). Scores were combined from 5 sections of the lung as previously described.<sup>413</sup> The photos were evaluated by a board certified veterinary pathologist who was blinded to the source of the lung pictures.

Tissues collected for histopathology included lung (1 section from each lobe) and tracheobronchial lymph node. Additional tissues were collected at the pathologist's discretion by evidence of gross lesions. Tissues were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for at least 7 days, routinely processed in an automated tissue processor, embedded in paraffin, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E stain). Microscopic lung lesions were scored using a 0-4 system as previously described.<sup>116,118</sup> Degree of lymphoid depletion was scored using a 0-3 system as previously described.<sup>118</sup>

**PCV-2 immunohistochemical staining**. PCV-2 antigen staining in paraffin-embedded tissue thin sections was performed by personnel in the Kansas State Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory. Briefly, deparaffinized slide-mounted thin sections were first treated with proteinase K (1.2 mg/ml diluted in Bond Enzyme Diluent with 0.35% ProClin 950) for 10 minutes at room temperature (Bond Enzyme Pretreatment Kit, Leica Biosystems). Rabbit anti-PCV-2 antibody (Iowa State University) was diluted at 1:500 in PowerVision IHC/ISH Super Blocking (Leica Biosystems) and applied to the tissue section for 15 minutes at room temperature. Bound antibody was detected by incubation with 25  $\mu$ g/ml Poly-AP anti-rabbit IgG (Leica Biosystems) in antibody diluent for 25 minutes at room temperature. The complex was visualized using Fast Red chromogen (Bond Polymer Refine Red Detection Kit, Leica Biosystems) and counterstained with hematoxylin.

**Measurement of PRRSV and PCV-2 viremia.** Viral DNA and RNA was extracted simultaneously from 50 μL of serum using Ambion's MagMAX 96 Viral Isolation Kit (Applied Biosystems) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. PRRS viral RNA was quantified

using EZ-PRRSV MPX 4.0 Real Time RT-PCR Target-Specific Reagents (Tetracore) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For consistency, each plate contained Tetracore Quantification Standards and Control Sets for use with EZ-PRRSV MPX 4.0 RT-PCR Reagents. All PCR reactions were carried out on a CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad) in a 96-well format using the recommended cycling parameters. The PCR assay results were reported as log<sub>10</sub> PRRSV RNA starting quantity (copy number) per 25 µL reaction volume.

PCV-2d DNA was quantified using SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR green supermix (Bio-Rad) as previously described.<sup>116,118</sup> The PCR assay results were reported as log<sub>10</sub> PCV-2 DNA starting quantity (copy number) per 20 μL reaction volume.

Microsphere immunoassay for detection of PRRSV and PCV-2 antibodies. PRRSV nucleocapsid protein and PCV-2b capsid protein fragments (43-233 and 160-233) were cloned into the pHUE expression vector, as previously described.<sup>414</sup> For protein expression, bacteria were grown in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth plus ampicillin (0.01 mg/ml) and incubated at 37°C with shaking. Once the OD<sup>600</sup> reached 0.4-0.6, protein expression was induced by adding 1 ml of 0.1M isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) to the culture and bacteria were harvested 4 hours later. Bacteria were pelleted by centrifugation at 4,000xg for 10 min. Soluble proteins were purified using the USB PrepEase Histidine-tagged Protein Purification Kit (Affymetrix) under non-denaturing conditions, according to the manufacturer's directions. Purity was assessed by SDS-PAGE and total protein measured using the Bio-Rad Protein Assay.

Proteins were coupled to carboxylated Luminex MagPlex<sup>®</sup> polystyrene microspheres according to the manufacturer's directions. For the assay, approximately 2500 antigen-coated beads, suspended in 50  $\mu$ L PBS with 0.05% Tween-20 and 4% goat serum (PBST-GS), were placed in each well of a 96-well polystyrene round bottom plate (Costar). Sera were diluted

1:400 in PBST-GS and 50  $\mu$ L was added to each well. The plate was sealed and incubated for 30 min at room temperature with gentle shaking. After the incubation, the plate was placed on a magnet and beads were washed three times with 190  $\mu$ L of PBST-GS. For the detection of IgG, 50  $\mu$ L of biotin-SP-conjugated affinity purified goat anti-swine secondary antibody (IgG, Jackson ImmunoResearch) was diluted to 2  $\mu$ g/mL in PBST-GS and 100  $\mu$ l was added to each well. The plate was incubated at room temperature for 30 min and washed three times followed by the addition of 50  $\mu$ L of streptavidin-conjugated phycoerythrin (2 ug/ml in PBST-GS; SAPE). After 30 min, the plate was washed and microspheres resuspended in 100  $\mu$ L of PBST-GS. Microspheres were analyzed using a MAGPIX instrument (Luminex) and Luminex<sup>®</sup> xPONENT 4.2 software. A minimum of 50 microspheres was used for the calculation of mean fluorescence intensity (MFI). The sample to positive (S/P) ratio was calculated as the MFI of sample minus MFI of negative control divided by MFI of standard positive control minus MFI of negative control.

**Microarray analysis of FMT and fecal samples.** The Lawrence Livermore Microbial Detection Array (LLMDA) was used to analyze microbiome composition and diversity of the transplant material and fecal samples. This array detects annotated sequences of microbes associated with infection of vertebrates within GenBank®, the National Institute of Health genetic sequence database. The version 7 of the LLMDA in the 4plex 180K probe format was used in this study. This version of the array targets 4,377 viruses, 5,457 bacteria, 327 archaea, 319 fungi, and 132 protozoa. The LLMDA oligonucleotide probes vary between 50 and 65 nucleotides in length and have roughly equivalent affinities for their complementary target DNA molecules <sup>415</sup>. Probes were designed to detect all sequenced microbial families with a large number of probes per sequence (average of 30 probes) to improve sensitivity in the evaluation of

microbial nucleic acids in a variety of samples. The high-density oligo LLMDA microarray and statistical analysis method have been extensively tested in numerous studies for viral and bacterial detection in pure or complex environmental and clinical samples.<sup>118,291,416-418</sup>

The PowerViral<sup>™</sup> Environmental RNA/DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO, San Diego, CA) was used to extract DNA and RNA from the fecal samples. For each sample, approximately 250 mg of feces was added to 600 µl of PV1/β-mercaptoethanol in a glass beat tube included in the kit. Samples were homogenized and lysed by vortexing tubes for 10 minutes at maximum speed. Samples were further processed using the PowerViral<sup>™</sup> Kit protocol. All samples were eluted into 100 µl of RNase-Free water. The purified nucleic acids were quantified using the Thermo Scientific<sup>™</sup> Nanodrop<sup>™</sup> spectrophotometer. For each sample, 10 µl of the extracted DNA and RNA was amplified using the random amplification procedure as previously described <sup>418</sup>. The amplified cDNA and DNA was purified with the Qiaquick PCR purification columns (Qiagen) and quantified using the Nanodrop<sup>™</sup> spectrophotometer.

Approximately 1  $\mu$ g of amplified cDNA and DNA were fluorescently labeled using a one-coloring labeling kit (Roche NimbleGen, Madison, WI). Briefly, the samples were labeled using nick translation with Cy3-labeled random nonamer primers (TriLink Biotechnologies, San Diego, CA) and Klenow DNA polymerase at 37°C for 2 hr. The labeled DNA was precipitated in isopropanol, centrifuged for 10 min, and the pellet was washed and dried. The pellet was then reconstituted in 50 µl of RNase-Free water and quantified using the Nanodrop<sup>TM</sup> spectrophotometer.

The Agilent Technologies Oligo aCGH/ChIP-on-Chip Hybridization kit (Santa Clara, CA) was used to hybridize samples to the arrays. For each sample, 10 µg of fluorescently labeled DNA was mixed with blocking agent, hybridization buffer and nuclease free water. The samples

were then denatured at 95°C for 3 min, and incubated at 65°C for 3 min. Each sample was then immediately loaded onto the array and hybridized for approximately 40 hr at 65°C in a microarray rotator oven (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA) set to a speed of 20. Microarrays were then washed using the standard manufacturer's protocol with Oligo aCGH/ChIP-on-chip Wash Buffer 1 for 5 min at room temperature and Oligo aCGH/ChIP-onchip Wash Buffer 2 for 1 min at 37°C (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA). Using the SureScan Microarray Scanner (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA), all arrays were scanned to a resolution of 3 µm.

Microarray data was generated from the microbe sequences using the CLiMax method developed at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory,<sup>416</sup> at a detection threshold of  $\geq$  99%. The log likelihood for each of the positive targets is estimated from the BLAST similarity scores of the array feature and target sequences, together with the feature sequence complexity and other covariates derived from BLAST results.

Diversity of the fecal samples was measured by calculating the number of families and species detected in each sample. The mean number of families and species in the control and transplant groups as well as the affected and unaffected groups were compared prior to (-7 dpi) and after (0 dpi) FMT. Microbiome composition was compared between these groups at the level of phylum, family and species.

**16S rDNA analysis of fecal samples.** Pig fecal samples were collected in cryovials and stored at -80°C until shipment to the University of Nebraska-Lincoln for DNA extraction and bacterial community analysis. DNA was extracted using the manufacturer's protocol for Mag-Bind<sup>®</sup> Soil DNA 96 Kit (Omega Bio-tek, Inc.) with the following modifications: precipitation of nucleic acids was done by using sodium acetate, isopropanol and ethyl alcohol. 0.1X volumes of

10mM sodium acetate was added to each sample tube, which were vortexed and later incubated on ice for 5 min. Subsequently, 1ml of ice-cold isopropanol was added and samples were incubated at -80°C overnight to precipitate the DNA. The following day, samples were centrifuged at 4°C for 15 min at 16,000xg. The supernatants of the resulting samples were discarded and the nucleic acid pellet was washed with 0.5ml of ice-cold 70% ethyl alcohol. The samples were centrifuged for 2 min at 13,000xg, the residual supernatant was discarded, and the nucleic acid pellet was air dried for 3min. The nucleic acid pellet was dissolved in a 0.45ml of Tris (10mM, pH 8) and incubated for 1 hr at 4°C. For further purification of dissolved nucleic acids, the KingFisher (ThermoFisher Scientific) robot was used with reagents from the Mag-Bind<sup>®</sup> Soil DNA 96 Kit. The resulting DNA was used for the tag-sequencing of the V4 region of 16S rDNA using the universal bacterial primers described previously <sup>419</sup>. A 20 µL PCR reaction contained 1X Terra<sup>TM</sup> PCR Direct Polymerase Mix, 0.5 µL Terra polymerase, 20 mM of each primer, and 20-50 ng of DNA. The cycling conditions for PCR were the same as previously described <sup>420</sup>. The PCR product size was confirmed by agarose gel electrophoresis. Normalization of the amplified PCR products were performed with Just-a-Plate<sup>TM</sup> 96 PCR Purification & Normalization kit (Charm Biotech, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Following normalization, 10 µL from each sample were pooled and concentrated using Nucleospin<sup>®</sup> Gel & PCR Cleanup kit (MACHEREY-NAGEL Gmbh & Co. KG, Duren, Germany) and was eluted using 20 µL of elution buffer. This pooled and purified sample was analyzed in a Agilent 2100 bioanalyzer (Agilent Scientific Instruments, CA, USA) using Agilent High Sensitivity DNA Kit (Agilent Technologies, Inc. Waldbronn, Germany) to ensure the quality and quantity of the targeted V4 region of 16S rDNA. The concentration of the DNA library was determined using the DeNovix QFX Fluorometer (DeNovix Inc. DE, USA) and

using DeNovix dsDNA Fluorescence Quantification Assay (DeNovix Inc. DE, USA). The resulting 16S rDNA libraries were sequenced using the Illumina MiSeq platform utilizing the 2 X 250 paired end sequencing strategy using a MiSeq Reagent Kit V3 (Illumina Inc. CA, USA).

Data processing was performed on a custom pipeline utilizing several publicly available software tools. The paired-end reads were assembled into contigs after quality filtering using MOTHUR v.1.38.1.<sup>421</sup> Operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were generated from the quality filtered sequences using the UPARSE pipeline (USEARCH v7.0.1090)<sup>422</sup> at a threshold of 97% identity. Chimeric sequences were removed using the ChimeraSlayer gold.fa as the reference database using UCHIME.<sup>423</sup> OTUs were aligned against the v128 (SILVA) database and mismatched sequences were discarded. A phylogenetic tree was generated using high quality aligned sequences within MOTHUR v.1.38.1 using the Clearcut algorithm.<sup>424</sup> Taxonomies to the identified OTUs were assigned using QIIME v.1.9.1 pipeline<sup>425</sup> with the Greengenes reference database (gg\_13\_5\_otus). OTUs representing Archaea and Cyanobacteria were removed as Cyanobacterial reads may be a result of contamination of plant chloroplast<sup>426</sup> and the archaea sequences may be biased as the primers used are not designed to universally amplify all archaea. Alpha diversity matrices (Chao1 and Observed OTUs) were calculated using the QIIME v.1.9.1 pipeline. The rarefaction of the OTU table was performed using QIIME v.1.9.1 $^{425}$  with the lowest number of reads. For the experiment, 27035 was used as the lowest depth. The difference in bacterial communities (beta-diversity) among transplanted and control pigs was determined using the QIIME v.1.9.1 pipeline using distance matrices (weighted UniFrac, unweighted UniFrac and Bray Curtis) from the rarefied-OTU table.

**Statistical analysis.** For 16s rDNA sequencing, a three-way ANOVA (considering the effect of Treatment, Day and Animal) was performed on the Chao1 and Observed OTUs to

estimate bacterial richness among the transplanted and control pigs with open source statistical software R <sup>427</sup>. The overall bacterial community differences among treatments were determined by applying the permutational multivariate analysis of variance PERMANOVA on the weighted UniFrac distance matrix. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) was used on all distance matrices to generate plots which displayed global treatment effects. The PERMANOVA analysis was performed using R<sup>428</sup> (adonis function vegan package)<sup>429</sup> in which treatment was considered as a fixed effect and animal (pig) as a random effect with the pig as the experimental unit. A core microbiome was determined for each treatment group by only selecting the OTUs present in 80% of the animals in each group (8/10). The core OTUs were used to identify differential OTUs between treatments using the linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size with LefSe <sup>430</sup>. LefSe analysis was performed using default settings and differential OTUs from all pairwise comparisons to generate heatmaps in R.<sup>428</sup>

All remaining statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 7.01 software (La Jolla, CA). Mean viremia, antibody levels, and weight measurements were compared between groups using repeated measures analysis with multiple unpaired t-tests. Survival curves were compared using the Mantel-Cox test and daily morbidity rates were compared using the Fisher's exact test. Microscopic lung and lymph node lesion scores were compared between groups using the Mann-Whitney U test. Gross photo scores and lung weight to body weight ratios were compared using the unpaired t-test. Microbiome diversity and number of species within family were compared between groups using the Mann-Whitney I test. Broportions of each group with individual species and families detected were compared using Fisher's exact test.

### Results

Characterization of fecal transplant material. Several methods, including aerobic culture, anaerobic culture, microarray, and fecal float, were used to characterize the fecal microbiota transplant material. Fecal floatation for parasites confirmed feces were negative for parasites, including Ascaris suum, through standard diagnostic testing at KSVDL. Aerobic and anaerobic culture identified several culturable bacteria known to inhabit the gastrointestinal tract, including non-hemolytic Escherichia coli, Bacillus altitudinis, Streptococcus alactolyticus, Enterococcus hirae, non-hemolytic Staphylococcus sp., Bacteroides vulgatus, and Clostridium perfringens. Several additional anaerobic bacteria were cultured but were unable to be identified at the genus or species level; these bacteria included gram negative coccobacilli, gram positive long rods, and large gram positive boxy rods. Salmonella enrichment culture was negative. The pan-microbial array detected the most diversity and absolute number of organisms, with 12 phyla, 33 microbial families and 49 microbial species detected (**Table 3.1**). Microbes were very diverse and from the phyla Actinobacteria, Amoebozoa, Bacteroidetes, Basidiomycota, Euryarchaeota, Firmicutes, Fusobacteria, Proteobacteria, Spirochaetes, Synergistetes, and Tenericutes. Additionally, a single virus was detected in the family Circoviridae. The majority of species detected fell within the Proteobacteria phylum (16/49; 32.7%) with the second highest number of species falling with the Firmicutes phylum (9/49; 18.4%) and the third highest number of species falling within the Tenericutes phylum (6/49; 12.2%). Using the above methods, known swine pathogens were not detected.

**FMT had no effect on pigs prior to co-infection.** Upon arrival to Kansas State University, mean weight of the control group was  $7.05 \pm 1.46$  kg and mean weight of the FMT group was  $7.07 \pm 1.39$  kg (p = 0.99, unpaired t-test using repeated measures; **Table 3.2**). No

significant difference in weight gain was noted during the transplantation or mocktransplantation time period, suggesting no detrimental effect of FMT on weight gain in unchallenged conditions; mean weights for control pigs and FMT pigs on 0 dpi were  $7.6 \pm 1.7$  kg and  $7.3 \pm 1.4$  kg, respectively (p = 0.85, unpaired t-test using repeated measures). FMT and control pigs appeared clinically within normal limits.

FMT reduced the number of PCVAD-affected pigs. Morbidity and mortality of the FMT and control groups are shown in Figure 3.1. Morbidity rates of the control and FMT groups were comparable in the first 22 days after co-infection (Figure 3.1A). During this time, 4 control pigs and 3 FMT pigs showed clinical signs, including dyspnea, open-mouth breathing, coughing, tachypnea, mucoid rhinorrhea, conjunctivitis, reduced body condition, lethargy/weakness and pyrexia. Starting on 23 dpi, the morbidity rates of the control and FMT groups diverged, with 5 control pigs (5/8; 62.5%) and only 1 FMT pig (1/8; 12.5%) exhibiting clinical signs sufficient to require veterinary intervention, including depression, dyspnea, tachypnea, coughing, open-mouth breathing, rough hair coat, mucoid oculonasal discharge, pyrexia, emesis and diarrhea, muscle wasting and loss of condition, ataxia, hypoxia and cyanosis. On days 25 and 26 after co-infection, morbidity rates were significantly different (p = 0.04; Fisher's exact test), with 75% and 12.5% of control and FMT pigs receiving treatment, respectively. A trend towards significantly higher morbidity was also seen on 27 dpi (p = 0.09; Fisher's exact test) and 28 dpi (p = 0.05; Fisher's exact test). By 28 dpi, clinical disease had completely resolved in the remaining 8 FMT pigs while 50% of control pigs (3/6) remained on treatment. Clinical disease in affected FMT and control pigs (n = 9) was consistent with PCVAD. Unaffected pigs (n = 11) had mild to a complete lack of clinical signs. With regards to resulting mortality, initial death rates were similar between the two groups, with 20% mortality

at 21 dpi. However, by the end of the study, the mortality in the control group was 70% compared to 20% for the FMT pigs (**Figure 3.1B**). Mortality between 19 and 30 dpi was due to pigs that died or were euthanized due to severity of clinical disease. Overall, the mortality rate of the control group (7/10, 70%) was significantly higher than that of the FMT group (2/10, 20%; p = 0.0447, Mantel-Cox test). When taken together, pigs which received the FMT treatment showed a reduction in PCVAD.

The clinically affected pigs showed a decrease in weight gain beginning at approximately 17 dpi (**Figure 3.1C**). Overall, no significant differences were detected between the two groups in regards to absolute weights during the biweekly or weekly weight measurements throughout the study (p > 0.05, repeated measures analysis with multiple t-tests). The one exception was the final weights on 42 dpi, where the 3 remaining control pigs had a mean weight significantly higher than that of the 8 remaining FMT pigs (p = 0.04, repeated measures analysis). During peak clinical disease between 17 and 30 dpi, 7 control pigs lost body weight whereas only 2 FMT pigs lost body weight (p = 0.07, Fisher's exact test). Control pigs were 9.3 times more likely to lose weight during this period (95% CI: 1 to 56.5). Overall, FMT reduced the number of pigs which lost weight associated with clinical PCVAD.

Representative gross and microscopic lesions seen in pigs with PCVAD are shown in **Figure 3.2**. Images of minimally-affected pigs are included for comparison. Examples of gross lesions included interstitial pneumonia with consolidation and hemorrhage, splenic infarcts, mucohemorrhagic rhinitis, lymphadenopathy with congestion and edema, pericardial effusion, mucohemorrhagic exudate in trachea, serous atrophy of fat, enteritis and intestinal ulceration, infarction of extremities, and tonsillar congestion. On gross examination of lung tissue, pneumonia was overall more severe in the control group, with 70% of the control pigs having

severe interstitial pneumonia with marked edema, coupled with enlarged lymph nodes, characteristic of PCVAD. In addition, a few of the affected pigs in the control group had bronchopneumonia and fibrinous pleuritis. Interestingly, these pigs also had severe suppurative rhinitis. Rhinitis, bronchopneumonia and pleuritis are suggestive of a secondary bacterial infection, likely due to immunosuppression associated with both PRRSV and PCV-2 infections. In contrast, only 30% of the FMT group had severe interstitial pneumonia and enlargement of the lymph nodes on gross examination, characteristic of PCVAD.

Gross lung tissue images were captured during necropsy and subsequently scored for severity of lesions (**Figures 3.2E, 3.2F and 3.3A**). Control pigs had a range of 30.5 to 99.0% of lung affected, with a mean of  $82.4 \pm 20.3\%$ . FMT pigs had a range of 10.0 to 99.0% of lung affected, with a mean of  $53.6 \pm 40.6\%$ . These differences had a trend towards significance (p = 0.06, unpaired t-test). A lung weight to body weight ratio was calculated for each pig and are depicted in **Figure 3.3B**. Control pigs had significantly higher ratios when compared to FMT pigs (p = 0.04, unpaired t-test), indicative of increased cellular infiltrate and edema characteristic of interstitial pneumonia.

Lesions were also assessed through histopathology. Microscopic lesions in the lungs included lymphoplasmacytic and histiocytic interstitial pneumonia, suppurative bronchopneumonia, and interlobular septal edema and hemorrhage. Lymphoid depletion with histiocytic replacement was seen in the tracheobronchial lymph nodes. Lymphoid depletion was scored in all 20 pigs, with 7/10 control and 3/10 FMT pigs having severe lymphoid depletion (**Figures 3.2A and 3.3C**). Although lymphoid depletion scores were generally higher in control pigs, this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.155, Mann-Whitney U test). Severe lymphoid depletion was associated with large amounts of PCV-2 antigen (**Figure 3.2A**). Degree of interstitial pneumonia was also scored in all 20 pigs, with 6/10 control and 2/10 FMT pigs having severe diffuse interstitial pneumonia with >75% lung lobe involvement (**Figures 3.2C and 3.3D**). Control pigs again tended to have higher overall severity of microscopic lung lesions; however, this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.164, Mann-Whitney U test).

Taken together, the control pigs trended towards having more severe gross and microscopic lesions associated with PCVAD when compared to pigs that received the transplant material, indicating that FMT provided partial protection from both respiratory and lymphoid disease. This difference was seen due to an increased number of PCVAD-affected pigs in the control group.

#### FMT reduced PRRSV and PCV-2 virus replication and increased antibody

**production.** PRRSV and PCV-2 viremia curves are shown for both individual pigs as well as group means (**Figure 3.4**). PRRSV viremia followed the typical time course, peaking at 7 dpi prior to a gradual decline over the next 5 weeks. Interestingly, most of the PCVAD-affected pigs had PRRS viremia rebound, a phenomenon initially described in 2010 <sup>431</sup> and later by our group <sup>432</sup>. For example, one control pig had peak PRRSV replication at 7 dpi (5.8 log<sub>10</sub> copy number/25  $\mu$ L reaction volume), a gradual decline of PRRSV replication until a low at 21 dpi (2.9 log<sub>10</sub> copy number/25  $\mu$ L reaction volume), and a second peak of PRRSV replication at 30 dpi (5.9 log<sub>10</sub> copy number/25  $\mu$ L reaction volume). When comparing mean PRRSV replication between groups, the only significant difference was seen at 28 dpi where the control group had significantly higher viremia; a mean of 3.9 and 3.0 log<sub>10</sub> copy number/25  $\mu$ L reaction volume was seen for control and FMT groups, respectively (p = 0.02, repeated measures analysis).

PCV-2 viremia also followed the typical time course, peaking later in the co-infection period between 14 and 21 dpi, followed by a plateau through the conclusion of the study.

Interestingly, all nine pigs that died had significantly higher levels of PCV-2 replication when compared to pigs that survived the course of the study (**Figures 3.4D, 3.4E and 3.4H**). Specifically, surviving pigs maintained < 7  $\log_{10} \operatorname{copy} \operatorname{number/20} \mu L$  reaction volume in the serum at all measurements whereas pigs that died had > 7  $\log_{10} \operatorname{copy} \operatorname{number/20} \mu L$  reaction volume detected during the study. When comparing the two groups' mean PCV-2 replication, significant differences were seen on 7 and 21 dpi, where the FMT group had a more rapid increase in PCV-2 replication on 7 dpi and a more rapid decline in PCV-2 replication on 21 dpi (p = 0.02 and 0.03, respectively; repeated measures analysis). Overall, PCVAD-affected pigs had high levels of PCV-2 and PRRSV in serum at the time of death or euthanasia, confirming the role of viral load in the course of clinical disease (**Figure 3.4G and 3.4H**). In general, virus replication during peak clinical disease was reduced in the FMT group, demonstrating a protective effect of FMT on viral load.

Antibodies were measured against PRRSV N protein, PCV-2 whole capsid protein (CP 43-233), and PCV-2 decoy epitope (CP 160-233). PRRSV antibodies were detected similarly in both groups initially on 7 dpi and peaking between 11 and 14 dpi (**Figure 3.5A**). PRRSV antibodies were detected at a greater level in FMT pigs on 21, 28 and 42 dpi (p = 0.06, p = 0.02, and p = 0.05, respectively; repeated measures analysis). When comparing PCV-2 antibody levels, a similar trend was noted with FMT pigs having higher antibody levels. FMT pigs had higher CP 43-233 antibodies at 21 and 28 dpi whereas the FMT pigs maintained higher CP 160-233 antibodies from 21 dpi until the conclusion of the study. Taken together, FMT promoted the production of higher and more sustained levels of antibodies directed at both PRRSV and PCV-2.

**FMT shifted microbiome composition.** Fecal microbiomes of the transplanted and control groups were analyzed both before and after FMT or mock-transplantation by a panmicrobial array (LLMDA) and 16S rDNA sequencing. First, microbiome composition and diversity was measured by the LLMDA. Diversity was calculated as the mean number of species and families in each group; after transplantation, the mean number of species was  $62.3 \pm 2.7$  and  $59.9 \pm 4.2$  for the control and FMT groups, respectively. With regards to family diversity, the mean number of families on 0 dpi in the control group was  $35.3 \pm 2.7$  while the transplant group had  $33.8 \pm 2.6$ . Interestingly, no significant differences in species or family diversity were detected in the FMT group compared to the controls after transplantation using the pan-microbial array. Microbiome diversity, as measured by the microarray, was also similar in the two groups upon arrival (data not shown).

Microbiome composition was also assessed by the LLMDA through the presence of individual phyla, families and species in the two groups. After 7 days of transplantation, there were 64 total families and 166 total species detected in both the control and transplanted groups. Several differences were detected between the transplant and control groups after transplantation that were not detected upon arrival (**Figure 3.6A**). Specifically, the family *Synergistaceae* was detected at a decreased prevalence rate in the transplanted group after FMT compared to the controls (20 and 70%, respectively; p = 0.07; Fisher's exact test) and a bacterium in the *Intrasporangiaceae* family was detected in a higher proportion of the transplant pigs when compared to the control pigs (100 and 50%, respectively; p = 0.03; Fisher's exact test). Even though members of the *Intrasporangiaceae* family have been discovered in environmental samples and sequenced <sup>433,434</sup>, there is a lack of research exploring the effects of these organisms on the vertebrate gut microbiome.

Finally, species diversity within each family was assessed for differences associated with transplantation (**Figure 3.6B**). Most families had similar species diversity between the control and transplanted groups. However, within the families *Spirochaetaceae* and *Vibrionaceae*, there was greater species diversity in the control group compared to the transplanted group. The mean number of species within the family *Spirochaetaceae* was 2.6 species in the control group, while in the transplant group it was 2.0 species (p = 0.01; Mann Whitney U test). The mean number of species within the family *Vibrionaceae* was 1.6 species in controls, while in the transplant group it was 0.8 species (p = 0.02; Mann Whitney U test). Overall, the LLMDA failed to detect a global increase in microbiome diversity after 7 days of transplantation; however, several shifts in microbiome composition were detected, primarily based on a reduction in bacteria generally considered pathogenic.

A secondary analysis was performed to assess microbiome diversity between PCVADaffected and unaffected pigs using the LLMDA. Affected and unaffected pigs had similar mean numbers of families and species when compared on days -7 and 0 post-infection. However, there was a significant increase detected in the number of families in the unaffected pigs between -7 and 0 dpi, with the mean number of families detected increasing from 28.9 to 33.7 during the transplantation period (p = 0.03; Mann-Whitney U test). Although an increase in family diversity was also seen in the affected pigs between -7 and 0 dpi, this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.20; Mann-Whitney U test). Species diversity also increased in both affected and unaffected pigs during the transplantation period, albeit at a similar rate (p = 0.07 and p =0.09 for unaffected and affected pigs, respectively; Mann-Whitney U test). Taking the results together from the LLMDA, there is some evidence suggesting that pigs unaffected by PCVAD after challenge had a greater increase in microbiome diversity during the transplantation period.

Fecal bacterial communities of the control and transplanted groups were also analyzed using 16S rDNA sequencing both prior to and immediately following transplantation (**Figures 3.7 and 3.8**). A total of 2,446,796 quality-filtered 16S rDNA sequences of the V4 region were generated with an average read depth of 61,169 reads per sample. To determine if sampling depth was adequate for gut microbiota analysis, Good's coverages were calculated, which displayed that 99.4 – 99.8% of the bacterial community in the gut was represented in the dataset.

The Chaol alpha diversity metric for richness was similar in the transplant and control animals at 7 days post transplantation ( $p \ge 0.82$ ; **Figure 3.7A**). The phylum level distribution of the major taxa in both control and transplanted pigs included Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria. Interestingly, the phylum Actinobacteria was almost half in the transplanted group compared to the control group (1.7% vs 3.3%, respectively; **Figure 3.7B**). The family level analysis of the transplanted and control animals revealed *Prevotellaceae*, *Paraprevotellaceae*, Bacteroidales S24-7, *Lactobacillaceae*, Christensenellaceae, *Lachnospiraceae*, Ruminococcaceae, and Veillonellaceae to be the predominant families (**Figure 3.7C**). Phyla composition was not significantly different across the transplant and control animals. Bacterial communities did not cluster by treatment group, suggesting no global shifts in the bacterial populations as a result of the fecal microbiota transplantation. However, there was a significant day effect displayed during transplantation (p < 0.001).

To reduce animal-animal variation, a core measurable microbiome (CMM) was defined for the control and transplanted groups. For the transplant group, the CMM was composed of 306 OTUs (23.5% of total OTUs), which represented 81.1% of the rarefied quality-filtered reads. For the control group, the CMM was composed of 316 OTUs (25.3% of total OTUs), which represented 83.2% of the rarefied quality-filtered reads. To further investigate potential bacterial community differences across the transplanted and control groups, differentially abundant OTUs across the CMM were identified using the LefSe algorithm.<sup>430</sup> A total of 30 significant, differentially abundant OTUs with LDA scores  $\geq 2$ were identified across comparisons of the two groups (**Figure 3.8**). The differential OTUs associated with the transplant group belong to the bacterial families *Veillonellaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, and *Ruminococcaceae*.

Additionally, the 16S rDNA bacterial community composition was analyzed based on the prevalence of disease in the PCVAD-affected (n = 9) and unaffected (n = 11) pigs. A two-way ANOVA was performed on the Chao1 and observed OTUs to determine the effect of subsequent disease phenotype on pre-challenge bacterial diversity. Both measures of bacterial diversity were lower in the affected group on 0 dpi (**Figure 3.9**); however, these differences were not statistically significant ( $p \ge 0.14$  and  $p \ge 0.24$ , respectively). We also performed beta-diversity analysis to determine the effect of the disease phenotype on global microbial community diversity using PERMANOVA analysis. This analysis demonstrated no differences in community composition based on disease phenotype ( $p \ge 0.46$ ), but detected a significant effect of day (p < 0.001) on the bacterial community composition.

## Discussion

Although FMT has been accepted for centuries as a treatment for various gastrointestinal diseases, it has only been very recently that FMT has been recognized as an alternative therapeutic for diseases outside of the gastrointestinal tract, such as respiratory or neurologic diseases.<sup>435,436</sup> Moreover, using FMT as a prophylactic tool prior to the development of disease has been even less explored. The current study describes FMT efficacy when used as a prophylactic tool to prevent PCVAD in pigs infected with two important swine pathogens.

Additionally, the study was conducted in a manner in line with current swine industry standards, where pigs are typically handled at 3 weeks of age after weaning and without broad-spectrum antimicrobial therapy.

To identify beneficial characteristics of the FMT material, 2 diagnostic tests were used for characterization: 1) a pan-microbial array and 2) bacterial culture. Comparing these results in reveals several discrepancies between the two different detection methods. Interestingly, several bacteria cultured through standard methods, such as *Escherichia coli* and *Streptococcus* sp., are not detected on the pan-microbial array. Culture methods may promote growth of certain wellcharacterized bacterial species, even if the genome is present at a rate lower than that detectable by the microarray. Previous studies have reported similar results. For example, Sung et al. (2018) reported bacterial species detected in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid by both conventional culture techniques as well as next generation sequencing (NGS). Similar to the current study, they detected some species only by culture and other species only by sequencing, with increased diversity detected in the genome-based technique. Interestingly, the genera Staphylococcus and *Escherichia* were only detected by culture and not by NGS,<sup>437</sup> a result similar to our findings on the transplant material. However, with these two species being common environmental microbes, contamination of the bacterial culture must also be considered. With advantages and limitations to each diagnostic test, using culture and DNA-based techniques in combination can serve to provide a more comprehensive characterization of complex microbial communities.

Biphasic clinical disease after co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2 has been described previously <sup>116,118</sup>. Clinical disease associated with PRRS is typically seen in the first 21 dpi, during peak PRRSV replication. In contrast, clinical disease associated with PCVAD is typically seen after 21 dpi and is associated with the peak and plateau in PCV-2 replication. Although

respiratory signs are common in both phases, clinical disease associated with PCVAD is typically more severe and associated with significant weight loss and muscle wasting. Compared to previous studies where PCV-2b was used, the current study used PCV-2d, which has been recently reported as the most common circulating PCV-2 genotype in U.S. swine <sup>438</sup>. This use of PCV-2d appeared to increase morbidity and mortality rates of co-infected pigs. The principal effect of FMT in the co-infection model was to decrease the number of PCVAD-affected pigs, as demonstrated by a significant reduction in morbidity and mortality. Specifically, a 70% reduction in mortality of transplanted pigs was demonstrated. Additionally, parenteral antimicrobial treatments prescribed for clinical disease were reduced by 60% in the FMT group. With increasing pressure to eliminate antimicrobial usage in food animal production, a 60% decrease in prescribed antimicrobials is a significant effect, important to both human and animal health. Interestingly, FMT did not appear to significantly impact clinical disease in the first half of the co-infection period, typically associated with PRRS. Nevertheless, further research is warranted to understand if FMT improves response to PRRS in a PRRSV-only infection model.

The mechanisms by which FMT is effective are poorly understood but thought to be associated with increasing microbial diversity and restoring normal microbial communities which provide both local and systemic benefits to the host.<sup>439</sup> How FMT protected nursery pigs from developing PCVAD in this study is unknown, but may be due to several possible mechanisms. First, FMT increased the relative abundance of several bacterial families associated with metabolism, including *Veillonellaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, and *Ruminococcaceae*. The members of the *Lachnospiraceae* family are fermentative, anaerobic, chemoorganotrophic and have the ability to hydrolyze many different substrates, such as xylanase,  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -galactosidase.<sup>440</sup> Bacteria in the *Ruminococcaceae* family are common gut

microbes of animals and humans, which help the host break down complex carbohydrates.<sup>441</sup> Both *Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae* have previously been associated with fatness traits in pigs<sup>442</sup> and our previous work detected a positive association between *Ruminococcaceae* species and growth after co-infection.<sup>291</sup> In the current study, the comparison of absolute weights over time in the two groups was significantly impacted by the high mortality rate in the control pigs; as such, the increase in weight in the remaining control pigs at the conclusion of the trial was likely the result of decreased competition for feed. Evaluating the weight gain of individual pigs, it is clear that the weight gain of the control pigs was impacted to a greater extent than the FMT pigs throughout the trial.

As a second possible mechanism, FMT may modulate the systemic immune response, increasing the function of immune cells or stimulating cytokine production. In the current study, evidence for an enhanced immune response to both PRRSV and PCV-2 was demonstrated by a reduction in pulmonary pathology as well as a more robust and prolonged antibody response to both viruses detected in the serum of transplanted pigs. It is also possible that FMT may enhance gastrointestinal health and provide competitive exclusion of pathogens. Supporting this possible mechanism in the current study was the documented reduction of two bacterial families thought to be primary pathogens, including *Spirocheataceae* and *Vibrionaceae*,<sup>443-445</sup> in transplanted pigs.

Perhaps surprising in the current study was the lack of significant global increases of microbiome diversity in pigs receiving the transplant. In humans, where FMT is most commonly used to treat recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infections, patients have almost always been treated with several standard doses of antibiotics, making an increase in microbiome diversity more likely with FMT therapy. Even in these human patients, however, Staley et al. (2016) reported

that successful resolution of *C. difficile* infections through FMT treatment did not require complete microbiota engraftment.<sup>446</sup> Similarly to the current study, it does not appear that complete microbiota engraftment occurred in transplanted pigs; nonetheless, significant beneficial effects occurred due to transplantation.

Compared to humans receiving FMT, an important concept to discuss for the current study is that pigs were not treated with antimicrobials and thus had normal microbiomes for their age at the time of transplantation. Pigs were weaned at 3 weeks and allowed normal contact with sows and a commercial environment after birth. The rationale behind this experimental design was to model commercial conditions, where antimicrobial stewardship practices have made it increasingly important to avoid the use of antimicrobials for prophylactic use, and to evaluate FMT as a preventative tool that may be applied to swine production in the field, including its use as a replacement for antimicrobials. However, this could be considered a limitation of the study, due to our inability to control the microbiota present at the time of transplantation, such as would be the case had microbiota-depleted or germ-free pigs been utilized.

A second consideration should be the lack of gender and donor diversity in the current study; the FMT material was collected from 2 older sows and transplanted into weaned barrows. Although the FMT donors were selected based on several specific characteristics and requirements, it should be noted that donation from other sows or boars may have resulted in a different outcome. Gender has been previously described as a factor affecting the success, failure or effect of FMT. For example, Meighani et al. (2016) reported that female sex was a significant predictor of FMT failure when treating humans with recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection.<sup>447</sup> In contrast, Siegerstetter et al. (2018) demonstrated that female chickens trended towards having higher feed intake (p = 0.087) and weight gain (p = 0.081) after FMT; this same beneficial effect

of FMT was not seen in male chickens.<sup>448</sup> Regarding the current study, it is unknown how FMT collected from boars or administration to weaned gilts would have impacted the study outcome. Additional research is warranted to understand the effects of gender, both in collection and administration, on FMT efficacy in swine.

Decades of research into control of respiratory disease associated with PRRS have failed to produce a broadly protective vaccine or programs capable of long-term virus elimination from farms. Due to the significant economic and animal welfare impacts that respiratory disease continues to have on the swine industry, it is necessary to consider alternative strategies, such as FMT, for the control of respiratory disease in swine production. Very recently, microbiome therapeutics have been developed for the prevention and/or treatment of diseases in the respiratory tract of children. For example, in May 2017, a microbiome therapeutic utilizing a mixture of 4 gut bacteria, including Faecalibacterium, Lachnospira, Veillonella, and Rothia (FLVR), was announced for preventing childhood asthma and potentially other childhood allergic diseases.<sup>449,450</sup> Interestingly, two of those bacterial families were differentially expressed in FMT pigs post-transplantation. Utilizing beneficial gut microbes for the prevention and treatment of respiratory disease is an emerging and exciting area of study. As respiratory infections are a major cause of morbidity and mortality in swine and other livestock, FMT or other microbiome therapeutics provide a promising approach for control of these complex, often polymicrobial, and economically devastating diseases.

In conclusion, this study provides evidence of the significant relationship between the gut microbiome and outcome following systemic viral infections in swine. Most importantly, novel insight is provided into our ability to modulate the microbiome through FMT to improve the clinical outcome of pigs to common pathogens. Future research is necessary to understand the

mechanism behind this relationship and how large-scale microbiome modulation could be adapted to increase the health of PRRS-positive herds in the field.

# **Funding and Acknowledgements**

This work was supported by the Kansas State University College of Veterinary Medicine Success for Young Investigators Grant Program, start-up funds from Kansas State University College of Veterinary Medicine, and the State of Kansas National Bio and Agro-Defense Facility Fund. The authors thank Dr. Lisa Tokach, Dr. Brooke Bloomberg, Cathy Troupe, Ana Stoian, Vlad Petrovan, Josh Springfield, and Andrew Suddith for sample collection, animal care and laboratory research support.

| Phylum <sup>‡</sup> | Family                | Genus Species  |  |
|---------------------|-----------------------|--|--|
| Actinobacteria      | Bogoriellaceae        | Georgenia sp.  |  |
|                     | Nocardiaceae          | Rhodococcus rhodnii  |  |
| Amoebozoa           | Entamoebidae          | Entamoeba nuttalli   |  |
| Bacteroidetes       | Bacteroidaceae        | Bacteroides graminisolvens, Bacteroidetes                            |  |
|                     |                       | bacterium  |  |
|                     | Cyclobacteriaceae     | Algoriphagus marincola   |  |
|                     | Prevotellaceae        | Prevotella sp.   |  |
|                     | Rikenellaceae         | Rikenella microfusus   |  |
| Basidiomycota       | Ceratobasidiaceae     | Rhizoctonia solani   |  |
| Euryarchaeota       | Methanobacteriaceae   | Methanobrevibacter oralis, Methanobrevibacter smithii                |  |
| Firmicutes          | Carnobacteriaceae     | Alkalibacterium sp.  |  |
|                     | Clostridiaceae        | Candidatus Clostridium anorexicamassiliense,                         |  |
|                     |                       | Clostridiaceae bacterium, Clostridium sp.                            |  |
|                     | Clostridiales         | Clostridiales bacterium  |  |
|                     | Lachnospiraceae       | Lachnospiraceae bacterium  |  |
|                     | Lactobacillaceae      | Lactobacillus amylovorus   |  |
|                     | Peptostreptococcaceae | Clostridium bifermentans, Clostridium mangenotii                     |  |
| Fusobacteria        | Fusobacteriaceae      | Psychrilyobacter atlanticus  |  |
| Proteobacteria      | Anaplasmataceae       | Candidatus Xenolissoclinum pacificiensis                             |  |
|                     | Bradyrhizobiaceae     | Bosea sp., Bradyrhizobium sp.  |  |
|                     | Campylobacteraceae    | Campylobacter sp., Sulfurospirillum<br>arcachonense                  |  |
|                     | Desulfovibrionaceae   | Desulfovibrio alkalitolerans   |  |
|                     | Helicobacteraceae     | Helicobacter pametensis  |  |
|                     | Legionellaceae        | Legionella lansingensis  |  |
|                     | Piscirickettsiaceae   | Thiomicrospira kuenenii, Thiomicrospira sp.                          |  |
|                     | Pseudomonadaceae      | Pseudomonas sp., Rhizobacter sp.                                     |  |
|                     | Sphingomonadaceae     | Sphingomonas sp.   |  |
|                     | Vibrionaceae          | Candidatus Photodesmus katoptron                                     |  |
|                     | Xanthomonadaceae      | Ignatzschineria larvae, Xanthomonadaceae<br>bacterium                |  |
| Spirochaetes        | Spirochaetaceae       | Borrelia parkeri, Spirochaeta sp., Treponema<br>pedis, Treponema sp. |  |
| Synergistetes       | Synergistaceae        | Aminiphilus circumscriptus   |  |
| Tenericutes         | Acholeplasmataceae    | Acholeplasma equifetale, Acholeplasma<br>granularum                  |  |
|                     | Mycoplasmataceae      | Mycoplasma conjunctivae, Mycoplasma<br>fermentans, Mycoplasma iowae  |  |

**Table 3.1.** Microorganisms detected in the fecal microbiota transplant material by the panmicrobial detection array\*

|  | Spiroplasmataceae | Spiroplasma apis                              |  |  |  |
|--|-------------------|---|--|--|--|
| Virus  | Circoviridae      | Fur seal faeces associated circular DNA virus |  |  |  |
| *Only those microbes identified at the phylum, family and genus level are included |                   |   |  |  |  |

‡ Organized alphabetically by phylum; order listed when family unidentifiable

| Weight on arrival (-8 dpi) |            | Weight after 7 days of FMT (0 dpi) |            |
|----------------------------|------------|------------------------------------|------------|
| Control                    | FMT        | Control                            | FMT        |
| 4.73                       | 5.41       | 5.09                               | 5.32       |
| 5.05                       | 5.59       | 5.23                               | 5.77       |
| 5.82                       | 5.82       | 5.86                               | 6.05       |
| 6.77                       | 5.91       | 7.50                               | 6.23       |
| 7.27                       | 6.14       | 7.91                               | 6.64       |
| 7.36                       | 8.23       | 8.23                               | 8.27       |
| 7.64                       | 8.23       | 8.41                               | 8.45       |
| 8.27                       | 8.32       | 8.59                               | 8.45       |
| 8.73                       | 8.45       | 9.59                               | 8.68       |
| 8.91                       | 8.64       | 9.64                               | 8.95       |
| Mean: 7.05                 | Mean: 7.07 | Mean: 7.60                         | Mean: 7.28 |
| SD: 1.46                   | SD: 1.39   | SD: 1.67                           | SD: 1.40   |
| p = 0.99                   |            | p = 0.85                           |            |

 Table 3.2. Effect of FMT on weight gain prior to co-infection\*

\*Data is shown in kg. Statistics performed by unpaired t-tests using repeated measures analysis.



Figure 3.1. Morbidity and mortality of pigs with and without fecal microbiota transplantation prior to co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2d.

A. Percent morbidity over time; data is shown as the percent of pigs in each group with veterinary treatment prescribed due to moderate to severe clinical disease. Asterisks demarcate statistically significant differences (\*p < 0.05 and  $\ddagger p < 0.1$ ; Fisher's exact test). B. Survival curve shows a significantly higher survival rate in pigs administered the FMT. C. Weight gain is shown as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of control and FMT groups considered unaffected (squares) and affected (circles) by PCVAD, as identified by mortality and clinical disease. The surviving pigs in each group are shown at the bottom of the figure over time.



Figure 3.2. Representative gross and microscopic lesions associated with porcine circovirus associated disease (PCVAD).

Images shown are from representative PCVAD-affected pigs with severe clinical disease between 19 and 30 dpi or minimally-affected pigs for the purpose of comparison. A) Immunohistochemical staining of a tracheobronchial lymph node showing severe lymphoid
depletion associated with large amounts of PCV-2 antigen. **B**) Immunohistochemical staining of a tracheobronchial lymph node showing lymphoid follicles with minimal lymphoid depletion and no PCV-2 antigen staining. **C**) H&E-stained lung showing severe diffuse interstitial pneumonia affecting greater than 75% of lung. **D**) H&E-stained lung showing mild and multifocal interstitial pneumonia affecting less than 50% of lung. **E**) Dorsal and ventral gross lung showing severe consolidation, hemorrhage, and pneumonia affecting approximately 95% of lung. **F**) Dorsal and ventral gross lung showing minimal consolidation, hemorrhage, and pneumonia affecting approximately 12% of lung.



Figure 3.3. Degree of lung and lymphoid lesions in pigs after co-infection with PRRSV and PCV-2d.

Data is shown as individual scores at the time of death with horizontal lines representing the mean  $\pm 1$  standard deviation for each group. Pigs shown in red are those that died or were humanely euthanized due to severity of disease. **A.** Gross lung affected by pneumonia. Mean percent of lung affected was lower in FMT when compared to Controls (p = 0.06, unpaired t-test). **B.** Lung weight to body weight ratio at the time of necropsy showing the control pigs had significantly higher ratios (p = 0.037, unpaired t-test). **C.** Lymphoid depletion mean scores were higher in the control group ( $2.5 \pm 0.3$ ) when compared to the FMT group ( $1.9 \pm 0.3$ ), but differences were not statistically significant. **D.** Lung lesion mean scores were higher in the control group ( $3.3 \pm 0.3$ ) when compared to the FMT group ( $2.7 \pm 0.3$ ), but differences were not statistically significant.



Figure 3.4. Time course of PRRSV and PCV-2d viremia.

Data is shown as the log<sub>10</sub> copy number/PCR reaction volume for individual pigs in both the control and FMT groups (**A and** B for PRRSV; **D and E** for PCV-2d). Red boxes indicate pigs that died or were humanely euthanized during the course of the co-infection trial due to severity of disease. **C. and F**. Data is shown as mean log<sub>10</sub> copy number/PCR reaction volume  $\pm 1$  standard deviation for each group. Asterisks demarcate statistically significant differences for PRRSV and PCV-2d. **G. and H**. Data is shown as PRRSV and PCV-2 viremia in PCVAD-affected (circles) and PCVAD-unaffected (squares) pigs within the control and FMT groups, as measured by mortality and clinical disease.



Figure 3.5. Detection of antibody in transplanted and control pigs.

Data is shown as the mean sample:positive ratio  $\pm 1$  standard deviation for PRRSV (**A**), PCV-2 large epitope (**B**) and PCV-2 decoy epitope (**C**). Differences between the two group are shown as \*p < 0.03 and  $\ddagger p < 0.06$  (repeated measures analysis using multiple t-test

### A. Microbiome Family Prevalence



B. Microbiome Species Diversity

Figure 3.6. Fecal microbiome composition as detected by the pan-microbial array in FMT and control pigs after 7 days of transplantation.

**A.** Microbiome family composition is shown as the percent of FMT pigs (n = 10) and control pigs (n = 10) with each family detected on the pan-microbial array. Families with a total prevalence of less than 40% between the FMT and control groups are not shown. There was a significantly higher prevalence of a species within the family *Intrasporangiaceae* in the FMT group. A trend towards a higher percentage of control pigs having species within the family *Synergistaceae* was also detected ( $\ddagger p = 0.07$ ; Fisher's exact test). **B.** Data is shown as the mean number of species detected  $\pm$  one standard deviation in each family detected in FMT and control pigs. Within the families *Spirochaetaceae* and *Vibrionaceae*, there was greater species diversity in the control group compared to the transplanted group (\*p = 0.01 and p = 0.02, respectively; Mann Whitney U test).  $\ddagger$ Indicates families found in the transplant material.



# Figure 3.7. 16S rDNA fecal microbiome analysis pre and post fecal microbiota transplantation.

**A**. Chao1 alpha diversity of the control and transplanted groups pre and post-transplantation (data is shown as the range of values with medians, quartiles and outliers). **B**. Bar graphs show the mean relative abundance of bacterial phyla for each group and time. **C**. Bar graphs show mean relative abundance of bacterial families making up 1% or more of all sequences detected in 1 or more sample subset.



# Figure 3.8. Differentially abundant operational taxonomic units (OTU) in the control and FMT groups after 7 days of fecal microbiota transplantation.

In the FMT group, 73.3% of the differential OTUs belong to the *Veillonellaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *and Ruminococcaceae* families, and 13.3% of the OTUs were not classified at the family level. For the control group, 40% of the differential OTUs belong to *Erysipelotrichaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae* and *Ruminococcaceae* families and 33.3% of the differential OTUs were unclassified. Interestingly, the hierarchical clustering of the differential OTUs show two major clusters for each of the control and FMT groups.



# Figure 3.9. Fecal bacterial diversity in the PCVAD-affected and unaffected pigs at the time of challenge.

Data is shown as **A**. Chao1 alpha diversity and **B**. Observed OTUs for the affected and unaffected pigs after transplantation or mock-transplantation (data is shown as the range of values with medians, quartiles and outliers). PCVAD-affected pigs developed disease and were euthanized or died due to severity of clinical signs during the 42-day post-infection trial.

# Chapter 4 - Gut microbiome associations with outcome following coinfection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) in pigs immunized with a PRRS modified live virus vaccine

Published in Veterinary Microbiology

Constance LA, Thissen JB, Jaing CJ, McLoughlin KS, Rowland RRR, Serão NVL, Cino-Ozuna AG, Niederwerder MC. Gut microbiome associations with outcome following coinfection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) in pigs immunized with a PRRS modified live virus vaccine. *Vet Microbiol.* 2021 Mar;254:109018. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2021.109018. Epub 2021 Feb 16. PMID: 33639341.

#### Abstract

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) are two of the most significant pathogens affecting swine. Co-infections are common and result in respiratory disease and reduced weight gain in growing pigs. Although PRRS modified live virus (MLV) vaccines are widely used to decrease PRRS-associated losses, they are generally considered inadequate for disease control. The gut microbiome provides an alternative strategy to enhance vaccine efficacy and improve PRRS control. The objective of this study was to identify gut microbiome characteristics associated with improved outcome in pigs immunized with a PRRS MLV and co-challenged with PRRSV and PCV2b. Twenty-eight days after vaccination and prior to co-challenge, fecal samples were collected from an experimental population of 50 nursery pigs. At 42 days post-challenge, 20 pigs were retrospectively identified as having high or low growth outcomes during the post-challenge period. Gut microbiomes of the two outcome groups were compared using the Lawrence Livermore Microbial Detection Array (LLMDA) and 16S rDNA sequencing. High growth outcomes were associated with several gut microbiome characteristics, such as increased bacterial diversity, increased *Bacteroides pectinophilus*, decreased *Mycoplasmataceae* species diversity, higher Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratios, increased relative abundance of the phylum Spirochaetes, reduced relative abundance of the family *Lachnospiraceae*, and increased *Lachnospiraceae* species C6A11 and P6B14. Overall, this study identifies gut microbiomes associated with improved outcomes in PRRS vaccinated pigs following a polymicrobial respiratory challenge and provides evidence towards the gut microbiome playing a role in PRRS vaccine efficacy.

### Introduction

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) are two of the most significant pathogens of swine worldwide. PRRSV, a single-stranded RNA virus in the family *Arteriviridae*,<sup>451</sup> is widely considered to cause the most costly disease of swine in the United States (U.S.), with estimated annual losses of \$664 million due to diminished weight gain and respiratory disease in growing pigs.<sup>410</sup> PCV2, a single-stranded DNA virus in the family *Circoviridae*, <sup>90</sup> is estimated to cause economic losses up to \$20/pig in unvaccinated herds<sup>91</sup> due to a group of syndromes termed porcine circovirus associated disease (PCVAD), which includes muscle wasting, weight loss and respiratory disease.<sup>92</sup> Both PRRSV and PCV2 result in systemic infections and modulation of host immunity,<sup>121,122</sup> reducing the rate of weight gain and increasing the likelihood of primary and secondary polymicrobial disease syndromes in swine.

PRRS modified live virus (MLV) vaccines are widely used in PRRS-endemic herds to reduce losses associated with PRRSV infection. In experimental and field settings, PRRS MLV immunization has the potential to improve weight gain, reduce viral replication, reduce pulmonary pathology, and decrease clinical disease after wild-type PRRSV exposure.<sup>163</sup> However, several challenges remain for PRRS MLV vaccine safety and efficacy, including the potential for reversion to virulence and recombination with wild-type strains,<sup>164</sup> potentiation of primary and secondary pathogens,<sup>116</sup> and incomplete protection against emerging wild-type strains.<sup>165</sup> As such, the currently available commercial vaccines are generally considered inadequate for disease control and improved vaccines or alternatives strategies for PRRS control are urgently needed.<sup>170,171</sup>

The gut microbiome, or community of microorganisms in the gastrointestinal tract, is an emerging alternative tool for improving the response of swine to PRRS.<sup>280</sup> Previous work has demonstrated several gut microbiome characteristics that are associated with several improved outcome parameters in pigs co-infected with PRRSV and PCV2. Specifically, increased gut microbiome diversity, increased *Ruminococcaceae* species, increased *Streptococcaceae* species, and fecal microbiota transplantation were associated with infection outcomes such as reduced virus replication, improved weight gain, and decreased morbidity.<sup>118,291,338</sup> The mechanism by which the gut microbiome impacts outcome in pigs exposed to respiratory pathogens is largely unknown, but is believed to be associated with modulation of immunity and through the metabolic products of microbes.<sup>280</sup>

Considering the proposed mode of action for the microbiome on modulating immunity,<sup>452</sup> extending the potential impact of gut microbes beyond primary infection to vaccine response is a rational approach. Although research focused on gut microbiome associations with PRRS

vaccine efficacy is limited to a study showing no effect of an oral single-strain probiotic on PRRS vaccine response,<sup>342</sup> the relationship between immune response to other infectious disease vaccines and gut microbiome characteristics has been described.<sup>340,341,344</sup> For example, improved immune response as defined by IgA seroconversion after oral immunization with a live human rotavirus vaccine has been correlated with fecal microbiome characteristics such as increased *Streptococcus bovis* and reduced species in the Bacteroidetes phylum.<sup>345</sup> Furthermore, pigs with high IgG production after immunization with a killed *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine were identified as having several differential microbiome characteristics, including increased *Lachnospiraceae*, *Prevotella* and *Fibrobacter* bacteria, when compared to pigs with low IgG production post-vaccination.<sup>346</sup>

In the current study, we took advantage of a larger host genetics study<sup>173</sup> to identify microbiome characteristics which may predispose outcome in PRRS MLV vaccinated pigs during co-challenge with PRRSV and PCV2. The results demonstrate that several gut microbiome characteristics, such as increased bacterial diversity and the presence of certain bacterial families and species, may play a role in subsequent growth after co-challenge. This data suggests that porcine gut microbes may serve as an alternative tool for improving the efficacy of PRRS MLV vaccines during polymicrobial respiratory disease.

### Methods

Animals and housing. All use and experimentation of animals and viruses were done in accordance with the Federation of Animal Science Societies (FASS) Guide for the Care and Use of Agricultural Animals in Research and Teaching, the USDA Animal Welfare Act and Animal Welfare Regulations, and approved by the Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and Institutional Biosafety Committee. This study was conducted as a part of the PRRS Host Genetics Consortium (PHGC) as described previously.<sup>173</sup> A subset of barrows (n = 50; mean age 23.4 ± 2.1 days) were obtained at weaning from a high health commercial herd negative for PRRSV. Piglets were not vaccinated for PCV2 and were used without regards to maternal antibody. Piglets were housed in a single environmentally controlled room at the Kansas State University Large Animal Research Center and maintained under BSL-2 conditions. Piglets were randomly distributed into six 13.4 m<sup>2</sup> pens, and housed in groups of 7-10 pigs per pen. Pigs were given access to food and water *ad libitum*.

**Viruses.** The PRRSV and PCV2b viral isolates used in this study originated from the lymph node of a pig with severe postweaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS) as previously described.<sup>117,414</sup> PRRSV (isolate KS62; GenBank accession no. KM035803) was isolated by propagation on MARC-145 cells and PCV2b (GenBank accession no. JQ692110) was isolated by utilizing the heat stability of the virus and preparing a lymph node suspension enriched for PCV2. The procedures used to isolate and titrate the viruses have been described previously in detail.<sup>116,118,291</sup> Analysis of the PCV2b tissue homogenate used for challenge detected two ubiquitous swine viruses, including torque teno sus virus (TTSuV) and porcine endogenous retrovirus (PERVs).<sup>417</sup> PRRSV was quantified on MARC-145 cells and swine testicle cells were used to quantify PCV2. The 50% tissue culture infectious dose per milliliter (TCID<sub>50</sub>/mL) was calculated using the Reed and Muench method.<sup>453</sup>

**Experimental design and sample collection.** After 4 days of acclimation, all 50 pigs were vaccinated with a 2-ml dose of a commercial PRRS MLV vaccine (Ingelvac PRRS MLV; Boehringer Ingelheim Animal Health, Duluth, GA; GenBank accession no. AF159149). The vaccine was administered intramuscularly according to the vaccine label instructions. At 28 days post-vaccination (dpv) and approximately 8 weeks of age (mean age  $55.4 \pm 2.1$  days), all pigs

were challenged with a combination of PRRSV and PCV2b. The challenge viruses were combined to yield a 2-ml dose consisting of 10<sup>3.6</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub> PCV2b and 10<sup>5</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub> PRRSV in MEM. The 2-ml dose was split, with 1 ml administered intranasally and 1 ml administered intranascularly. Rationale for co-infection has been described in detail<sup>280</sup> and includes the prevalence of PRRSV as a contributor to PCVAD and the potentiation of immunomodulation.

Individual body weights were determined on 0, 7, 14, 21, 28, 35, 42, 49, 56, 63, and 70 dpv. Blood samples were collected on 0, 4, 7, 11, 14, 21, 28, 32, 35, 39, 42, 49, 56, 63, and 70 dpv. Fecal samples were collected from all 50 pigs during the week prior to co-challenge for microbiome analysis. At 42 days post-challenge (dpc) or 70 dpv, 20 pigs were retrospectively identified as having high (n = 10) or low (n = 10) growth rates during the co-challenge period. To select these groups, average daily gain (ADG) was calculated as the change in weight over the 42-day period and reported in kg. Any pig displaying clinical signs which required veterinary medical treatment (as described below) were excluded from the study. At 42 dpc, all 20 pigs were humanely euthanized in accordance with the American Veterinary Medical Association Guidelines for the Euthanasia of Animals and complete necropsies were performed.

**Clinical and Histological Evaluation.** Pigs were visually examined by a veterinarian or veterinary assistant on each day of the study for clinical signs associated with PRRSV/PCV2 cochallenge, including respiratory signs (e.g., dyspnea, coughing, nasal discharge, ocular discharge and open mouth breathing), lethargy, depression, diarrhea, pyrexia, lameness, joint effusion, decreased body condition, muscle wasting and aural cyanosis. Any pig showing moderate to severe clinical disease was treated or euthanized under the direction of a veterinarian. Examples of clinical signs in which treatment was administered included 1) dyspnea, 2) mucopurulent nasal discharge, 3) lameness with associated joint effusion, 4) pallor with muscle wasting, and 5) lethargy or depression with pyrexia. Clinically affected pigs were administered parenteral antibiotics, including ceftiofur hydrochloride (Excede®; Zoetis, Parsippany, NJ), oxytetracycline (Liquamycin® LA-200®; Zoetis, Parsippany, NJ), or enrofloxacin (Baytril®; Bayer HealthCare LLC, Shawnee Mission, KS). Pigs with overt clinical disease and rectal temperatures of  $\geq 104^{\circ}$ F were administered a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, such as flunixin meglumine (Banamine®; Merck Animal Health, Madison, NJ) or meloxicam. Any pig with documented clinical disease requiring veterinary medical treatment was excluded from selection for fecal microbial analysis.

At 42 dpc, all pigs were humanely euthanized using pentobarbital sodium (Fatal-Plus®; Vortech Pharmaceuticals, Dearborn, MI). A masked board certified veterinary pathologist performed complete necropsies and histopathologic evaluations. Tonsils were collected and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for at least 7 days, routinely processed in an automated tissue processor, embedded in paraffin, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E stain). Lymphoid depletion was scored on a scale of 0-3 as previously described.<sup>118</sup> Briefly, scores were given as follows: 0, no lymphoid depletion; 1, mild or small amount of lymphoid depletion; 2, moderate or intermediate amount of lymphoid depletion; 3, severe or large extent of lymphoid depletion.

**Measurement of PRRSV and PCV2 viremia and viral load.** Methods utilized to measure PRRSV and PCV2 viremia have been described in detail previously.<sup>116,118,291</sup> Briefly, viral DNA and RNA were extracted simultaneously from 50 μL of serum using Ambion's MagMAX 96 Viral Isolation Kit (Applied Biosystems, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. PRRS viral RNA was quantified using EZ-PRRSV MPX 4.0 Real Time RT-PCR Target-Specific Reagents (Tetracore, Rockville, MD)

according to the manufacturer's instructions. The PRRSV PCR assay results were reported as log<sub>10</sub> RNA starting quantity (copy number) per 50-µl reaction volume. PCV2 DNA was quantified using SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR green supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). The forward and reverse PCR primers were 5'-AATGCAGAGGCGTGATTGGA-3' and 5'-CCAGTATGTGGTTTCCGGGT-3', respectively. Standard curves and positive and negative controls were included on each plate. The PCV2b PCR assay results were reported as log<sub>10</sub> DNA starting quantity (copy number) per 20 µL reaction volume. Total viral load for PRRSV and PCV2 were calculated by Riemann sums of the total area of the trapezoids under the line segments connecting weekly or biweekly viremia measurements. Viral load was calculated during the vaccination period (0-28 dpv) for PRRSV MLV vaccine replication and during the challenge period (28-70 dpv) for PRRSV and PCV2 replication.

**Microsphere immunoassay for detection of PRRSV and PCV2 antibodies.** PRRSV nucleocapsid protein and PCV2b capsid protein polypeptide fragments (43-233 and 160-233) were cloned into the pHUE vector, as previously described in detail <sup>338</sup>. Proteins were expressed, purified and measured prior to being coupled to carboxylated Luminex MagPlex<sup>®</sup> polystyrene microspheres (Luminex Corporation, Austin, TX) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For the assays, approximately 2500 antigen-coated beads, suspended in 50 μL PBS with 0.05% Tween-20 and 4% goat serum (PBST-GS), were placed in each well of a 96-well polystyrene round bottom plate (Corning® Costar® Corporation, Cambridge, MA). Sera were diluted 1:400 in PBST-GS and 50 μL was added to each well. An adhesive foil plate sealer was applied and the plate was incubated for 30 min at room temperature with gentle shaking. After incubation, the plate was placed on a magnet and beads were washed three times with 190 μL of PBS-GS. For the detection of IgG, 50 μL of biotin-SP-conjugated affinity purified goat anti-swine secondary antibody (IgG, Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove, PA) was diluted to  $2 \mu g/mL$  in PBST-GS and 100  $\mu$ L was added to each well. The plate was incubated at room temperature for 30 min and washed three times followed by the addition of 50  $\mu$ L of streptavidin-conjugated phycoerythrin (2 ug/ml in PBST-GS; SAPE). After 30 min, the plate was washed and microspheres resuspended in 100  $\mu$ L of PBST-GS. Microspheres were analyzed using a MAGPIX instrument (Luminex Corporation, Austin, TX) and Luminex<sup>®</sup> xPONENT 4.2 software. A minimum of 50 microspheres was used for the calculation of mean fluorescence intensity (MFI). The sample to positive (S/P) ratio was calculated as the MFI of the sample minus the MFI of the negative control divided by the MFI of the standard positive control minus the MFI of the negative control.

**Microarray Analysis of fecal microbiome.** The Lawrence Livermore Microbial Detection Array (LLMDA) was used to analyze microbiome composition and diversity of fecal samples collected prior to co-challenge. This specific array detects annotated sequences of microbes within GenBank®, the National Institute of Health genetic sequence database. The version 7 of the LLMDA in the 4plex 180K probe format was used in this study, which detects a total of 10,612 microorganisms including 5,457 bacteria, 4,377 viruses, 327 archaebacteria, 319 fungi, and 132 protozoa. Probe lengths on the array is around 60 nt and have roughly equivalent affinities for their complementary target DNA molecules <sup>415</sup>. Probes were designed to detect all sequenced microbial families with a large number of probes per sequence (average of 30 probes) to improve sensitivity. The high-density oligo LLMDA microarray and statistical analysis method have been extensively tested in numerous studies for viral and bacterial detection in pure or complex environmental and clinical samples.<sup>118,416-418</sup> The PowerViral<sup>™</sup> Environmental RNA/DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO, San Diego, CA) was used to extract DNA and RNA from the fecal samples. For each sample, approximately 0.25 g of feces was added to 600 µl of PV1/β-mercaptoethanol in a glass bead tube included in the kit. Samples were homogenized and lysed by vortexing tubes for 10 minutes at maximum speed. Samples were further processed using the PowerViral<sup>™</sup> Kit protocol. All samples were eluted into 100 µl of RNase-Free water. The purified nucleic acids were quantified using the Thermo Scientific<sup>™</sup> Nanodrop<sup>™</sup> spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). For each sample, 10 µl of the extracted DNA and RNA was amplified using the random amplification procedure as previously described <sup>418</sup>. The amplified cDNA and DNA was purified with the Qiaquick PCR purification columns (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and quantified using the Nanodrop<sup>™</sup> spectrophotometer.

Approximately 1 µg of amplified cDNA and DNA were fluorescently labeled using a one-coloring labeling protocol (Roche NimbleGen, Madison, WI). Briefly, the samples were labeled using nick translation with Cy3-labeled random nonamer primers (TriLink Biotechnologies, San Diego, CA) and Klenow DNA polymerase (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA) at 37°C for 2 hr. The labeled DNA was precipitated in isopropanol, and the pellet was washed, and dried. The pellet was then reconstituted in 50 µl of RNase-Free water and quantified using the Nanodrop<sup>TM</sup> spectrophotometer.

The Agilent Technologies Oligo aCGH/ChIP-on-Chip Hybridization kit (Santa Clara, CA) was used to hybridize samples to the arrays. For each sample, 10 µg of fluorescently labeled DNA was mixed with 10x aCGH blocking agent, 2x HiRPM hybridization buffer and nuclease free water. The samples were then denatured at 95°C for 3 min, and incubated at 65°C for 3 min. Each sample was then immediately loaded onto the array and hybridized for approximately 40 hr at 65°C in a microarray rotator oven (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA) set to a speed of 20. Microarrays were washed using the standard manufacturer's protocol with Oligo aCGH/ChIP-on-chip Wash Buffer 1 for 5 min at room temperature and Oligo aCGH/ChIP-onchip Wash Buffer 2 for 1 min at 37°C (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA). Using the SureScan Microarray Scanner (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA), all arrays were scanned to a resolution of 3 μm.

Microarray data was generated from the microbe sequences using the CLiMax method developed at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, at a detection threshold of  $\geq$  99%. The log likelihood for each of the positive targets is estimated from the BLAST similarity scores of the array feature and target sequences, together with the feature sequence complexity and other covariates derived from BLAST results. Diversity of the fecal samples was measured by calculating the number of families and species detected in each sample. The mean number of families and species were compared between high and low growth rate groups. Microbiome composition was compared between the two groups at the level of phylum, family and species. The Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes (Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes) ratio was determined by dividing the total number of Fimicutes bacterial species by the total number of Bacteroidetes bacterial species detected for each pig.

**16S rDNA Analysis of Fecal Microbiome.** DNA was extracted from fecal samples as described above for microarray detection analysis prior to submission to the University of Minnesota Genomics Center (UMGC) for 16S library preparation of the V4 region using standard diagnostic protocols and a two-step PCR protocol as described previously.<sup>454</sup> Briefly, a dual-indexing protocol was utilized that uses a single pair of PCR primers with 5' adaptor tails to

amplify samples in a 'primary' amplification, while a 'secondary' PCR adds flow cell adaptors and indices.

The primary amplification was done in a qPCR reaction, using ABI7900. The following recipe was used: 3  $\mu$ l of template DNA, 0.48  $\mu$ l of nuclease-free water, 1.2  $\mu$ l of 5× KAPA HiFi buffer (KAPA Biosystems, Woburn, MA), 0.18  $\mu$ l of 10 mM dNTPs (KAPA Biosystems, Woburn, MA), 0.3  $\mu$ l of DMSO (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), 0.12  $\mu$ l of ROX (25  $\mu$ M) (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA), 0.003  $\mu$ l of 1,000× SYBR Green, 0.12  $\mu$ l of KAPA HiFi polymerase (KAPA Biosystems, Woburn, MA), 0.3  $\mu$ l of forward primer (10  $\mu$ M), and 0.3  $\mu$ l of reverse primer (10  $\mu$ M). Cycling conditions were as follows: 95°C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles of 98°C for 20 s, 55°C for 15 s, and 72°C for 1 min. The primers for the primary amplification contained both 16S-specific primers (V4 515F and V4 806R) and adaptor tails for adding indices and Illumina flow cell adaptors in a secondary amplification. The following primers were used (16S-specific sequences in bold):

V4\_515F\_Nextera:

TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAG**GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA** V4\_806R\_Nextera:

#### GTCTCGTGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT

The amplicons from the primary PCR were diluted 1:100 in sterile, nuclease-free water, and a second PCR reaction was set up to add the Illumina flow cell adaptors and indices. The secondary amplification was done using the following recipe: 5  $\mu$ l of template DNA, 1  $\mu$ l of nuclease-free water, 2  $\mu$ l of 5× KAPA HiFi buffer (KAPA Biosystems, Woburn, MA), 0.3  $\mu$ l of 10 mM dNTPs (KAPA Biosystems, Woburn, MA), 0.5  $\mu$ l of DMSO (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), 0.2  $\mu$ l of KAPA HiFi Polymerase (KAPA Biosystems, Woburn, MA), 0.5  $\mu$ l of forward primer (10  $\mu$ M), and 0.5  $\mu$ l of reverse primer (10  $\mu$ M). Cycling conditions were as follows: 95°C for 5 min; ten cycles of 98°C for 20 s, 55°C for 15 s, and 72°C for 1 min; and a final extension at 72°C for 10 min. The following indexing primers were used (p5 and p7 flow cell adapters are in bold; X indicates the positions of the 8-bp Illumina indices):

1) Forward indexing primer:

AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACACXXXXXXTCGTCGGCAGCGTC 2) Reverse indexing primer:

#### CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGATXXXXXXGTCTCGTGGGCTCGGPCR

Products were quantified using a PicoGreen dsDNA assay kit (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA), normalized and pooled the samples, and concentrated approximately 1  $\mu$ g of material to 10  $\mu$ l using 1.8× AMPureXP beads (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA). The pooled sample was then size-selected at 427 bp ± 20%, on a Caliper XT DNA 750 chip (Caliper Life Science, Hopkinton, MA). The size-selected material was cleaned up using AMPureXP beads and eluted in 20  $\mu$ l of EB buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.5). The final pooled sample was quantified using the PicoGreen dsDNA assay. The sample pools were diluted to 2 nM on the basis of the PicoGreen measurements, and 10  $\mu$ l of the 2 nM pool was denatured with 10  $\mu$ l of 0.2 N NaOH, diluted to 8 pM in Illumina's HT1 buffer, spiked with 20% PhiX, heat-denatured at 96 °C for 2 min and immediately sequenced with a MiSeq 600 cycle v3 kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA).

For data processing, UMGC's bioinformatics pipeline which implements QIIME<sup>455</sup> version 1.9.1 analysis software was used. Raw fastq files were filtered for primer and adapter dimer sequences, removing contaminating host sequences and chimeric sequences, clustering sequences into OTUs using the QIIME open-reference OTU calling method with the greengenes 16s reference. Sequencing adapter sequences were trimmed from the 3' ends of reads using

Trimmomatic <sup>456</sup>. PandaSeq (version 2.7)<sup>457</sup> was used to remove primer sequences from the beginning of reads and to stitch the overlapping paired reads together. Reads without primer sequences and reads that could not be stitched together were discarded. Stitched reads whose length were outside the expected length of the targeted variable region were discarded. FASTQ files were converted to QIIME FASTQ format using a custom script. Individual sample FASTA files were concatenated into one FASTA file, chimera detection was run and chimeric sequences were removed using ChimeraSlayer's usearch61 method.<sup>458</sup> Contaminating host sequences were identified and discarded by aligning stitched reads to the HOST reference genome using BWA/BOWTIE2 [if a bwa or bowtie2 index was provided to the pipeline]. For OTU picking, we used QIIME's pick\_open\_reference\_otus.py script with usearch61. Taxonomy was assigned using QIIME's assign\_taxonomy.py script, which uses the RDP classifier and the Greengenes reference database clustered at 97% identity. Reference-based OTUs were then collapsed according to taxonomy at the genus level using QIIME's summarize\_taxa.py script. Statistical Analysis. Statistical analysis of 16S rDNA data was conducted with the Dynamic Assessment of Microbial Ecology (DAME) server.<sup>459</sup> DAME is an open source platform that uses the R environment to analyze and visualize microbial sequencing data. Alpha ( $\alpha$ -) and beta  $(\beta$ -) diversity as well as relative abundance were analyzed between high and low growth rate groups. The  $\alpha$ -diversity and  $\beta$ -diversity indices were calculated based on the rarefied OTU counts. A Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare  $\alpha$ -diversity between the two groups; specifically Chao1 was used to determine species richness and the Shannon's index was used to determine species evenness. Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) was performed on  $\beta$ -diversity measures using the adonis2() function from the vegan package with a setting of 500 permutations. Bray-Curtis analysis was used to analyze differences between the two groups. Negative binomial regression<sup>460</sup> using the R package DESeq2<sup>461</sup> was used to determine differential abundance of individual taxa. Likelihood ratio tests for overall experimental group comparisons was used to compare differential abundance between the two groups.

All remaining statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism® 7.01 software (La Jolla, CA). Mean weekly weights was measured by repeated measures two-way ANOVA. ADG, mean viremia, viral load, lymphoid depletion, antibody levels, the mean Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio, and the mean number of Proteobacteria were compared between groups using the unpaired *t*-test. Mean arrival age, mean microbiome diversity and mean number of species within each family were compared between groups using the Mann-Whitney *U* test. Proportions of each group with individual species and families detected were compared using Fisher's exact test.

#### Results

Weight gain divergence after PRRS vaccination and PRRSV/PCV2 co-challenge led to groups of high and low growth rate pigs. Of the 50 pigs that had fecal samples collected prior to co-challenge, twelve pigs were excluded from the microbiome study due to the presence of clinical disease and/or mortality. Therefore, 38 pigs were considered for selection into high and low growth rate groups for fecal microbiome analysis. These pigs supported subclinical infections or had mild and transient clinical disease that did not require veterinary intervention or antimicrobial therapy. ADG between 0 and 42 dpc was utilized as the selection criteria for the two groups in this study (**Figure 4.1A**). Mean ADG for the high growth rate group was  $0.95 \pm$ 0.06 kg, with a range of 0.87 kg and 1.03 kg. Mean ADG for the low growth rate group was 0.71  $\pm 0.11$  kg, with a range of 0.49 kg and 0.83 kg. No overlap occurred between the ADG values of individual pigs within the two groups and the mean ADG was significantly different over the 42 day co-challenge period between the two groups (p < 0.001; unpaired t-test). Mean weekly weights between the two groups were similar during the vaccination period (p > 0.05; repeated measures two-way ANOVA); however, ADG over the entire 28-day vaccine period was significantly greater in the high growth rate group. Mean ADG prior to challenge was  $0.47 \pm$ 0.08 kg and  $0.36 \pm 0.09$  kg for the high and low growth rate groups, respectively (p = 0.008; unpaired t-test). A significant divergence in the mean absolute weekly weights of the two groups occurred at 7 dpc; mean weights of  $25.5 \pm 3.8$  kg and  $19.5 \pm 3.4$  kg were measured in high and low growth rate groups, respectively (p = 0.01; repeated measures two-way ANOVA). Weekly weights continued to be significantly different between the two growth rate groups for the remaining 5 weeks of the post-challenge period (Figure 4.1B). Over the course of the 70 day study, the growth rate slopes of the two groups were significantly different (p = 0.004; linear regression). At the conclusion of the study, the high growth rate group weighed an average of 59.2 kg compared to 44.6 kg in the low growth rate group (p < 0.0001; repeated measures ANOVA).

Viremia, antibody production and lymphoid depletion of high and low growth rate groups. Virus replication on weekly to bi-weekly serum sampling days and total viral load in serum were determined for both PRRSV and PCV2b. PRRSV viremia had a bimodal distribution with peaks associated with vaccine virus replication and subsequent challenge virus replication (**Figure 4.2A**). Vaccine virus replication was similar between the two growth rate groups, with peak MLV replication occurring at 11 dpv in both groups (p > 0.05; repeated measures analysis). After challenge with wildtype PRRSV, high growth rate pigs had a more rapid incline in virus replication followed by a more rapid decline compared to low growth rate pigs. On 32 dpv, mean PRRSV viremia was 3.1 and 2.5 log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction for the high and low growth rate groups, respectively (p = 0.086; repeated measures analysis using multiple t-tests). High growth rate pigs peaked PRRS challenge virus replication at 35 dpv whereas low growth rate pigs peaked 4 days later at 39 dpv. At 39 dpv, there was a trend towards a significant reduction in the PRRS viremia of high growth rate pigs, with a mean of 2.6 log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction being detected compared to 3.2 log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction in the low growth rate group (p = 0.076; repeated measures analysis using multiple t-tests). This trend continued at 42 dpv, where high growth rate pigs (mean 2.1 log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction) had reduced PRRSV detected in serum compared to the low growth rate group (2.7 log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction; p = 0.091, repeated measures analysis using multiple t-tests). Overall, PRRSV viral load during the vaccination and challenge periods were similar between the two growth rate groups (**Figure 4.2B**; p = 0.78 and p = 0.95, respectively; unpaired *t*-test).

PCV2 viremia curves were similar between the two growth rate groups post-challenge, with peak virus replication occurring at 49 dpv followed by a generalized plateau of continued virus detection in the serum until 70 dpv (**Figure 4.2C**). On 39 dpv, there was a trend towards high growth rate pigs having higher PCV2 viremia compared to low growth rate pigs (p = 0.054; repeated measures analysis using multiple t-tests); PCV2 detection was approximately 1 log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction greater in high growth rate pigs. Overall, PCV2 total viral loads were similar between the two groups; 57.0 ± 35.5 for high growth pigs and 46.9 ± 29.9 for low growth pigs (**Figure 4.2D**; p = 0.50; unpaired *t*-test).

Antibody production against PRRSV N protein, PCV2 whole capsid protein (CP 43-233), and PCV2 decoy epitope (CP 160-233) were quantified at 28 dpv (prior to co-challenge) and 63 dpv (35 dpc; **Figures 4.3A-C**). Although antibody levels were greater numerically in the high growth rate group against PRRSV N protein after vaccination and after challenge, no significant differences were detected (p > 0.1; unpaired t-test). Antibody levels directed at the PCV2 capsid protein were also similar between the two groups. However, low growth rate pigs had significantly higher levels of baseline antibodies directed against PCV2 whole capsid protein (CP 43-233);  $0.12 \pm 0.05$  S:P ratio in high growth pigs compared to  $0.27 \pm 0.20$  S:P ratio in low growth pigs (p = 0.04; unpaired *t*-test). These low levels of detectable antibodies prior to challenge are likely associated with passive maternal transfer while nursing.

Tonsillar tissues were examined for lymphoid depletion associated with porcine circovirus associated disease at 70 dpv and compared between high and low growth rate groups (**Figure 3D**; representative histopathologic images shown in **Figures 4.3E and F**). Of the 20 pigs included in the study, 16 pigs (80%) had some degree of lymphoid depletion. Overall, mean lymphoid depletion scores indicated more severe pathology in the low growth rate group;  $1.4 \pm 0.7$  and  $1.2 \pm 1.0$  in low and high growth rate groups, respectively. However, no significant difference between the groups was detected (p = 0.58; Mann-Whitney U test).

Improved growth rates were associated with increased fecal microbiome diversity and shifts in microbial composition. Overall, the LLMDA identified 184 uniquely classified microbes across all 20 pigs. Identified bacterial species most commonly fell within the phyla Proteobacteria or Firmicutes. At the family level, fifty-nine unique classification groups were identified, with most being identified at the family level (n = 52) and seven additional higher classifications which could not be further identified. From the fifty-nine classifications, most were bacterial (n = 52), but other represented groups included archaea (n = 1), eukaryotes (n = 3) and viruses (n = 3). Microbiome diversity was calculated using the LLMDA data as the number of families and species detected in the feces of each pig (**Figures 4.4A and 4B**). The mean number of families detected were similar in both growth rate groups;  $29.2 \pm 5.5$  and  $29.1 \pm 2.6$  in high and low growth rate groups, respectively (p = 0.96; Mann-Whitney *U* test). Similarly, no significant difference was detected in the mean number of species between the two groups (p = 0.73, Mann-Whitney *U* test). The Firmicutes/Bacteriodetes ratio was calculated by dividing the number of Firmicutes species by the number of Bacteroidetes species. High growth pigs had a higher numerical mean Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio ( $2.6 \pm 1.0$  and  $1.9 \pm 0.7$  in high and low growth rate groups, respectively), with a trend towards significance detected (p = 0.07; unpaired *t*-test; Figure 4.4C).

At the level of family microbial composition detected by the LLMDA, most microbial families were detected at similar prevalence rates among the two growth rate groups (**Figure 4.5A**). Several microbial families were detected in all 20 pigs, including *Anaplasmataceae*, unclassified Bacteria, *Bradyrhizobiaceae*, unclassified Clostridiales, *Prevotellaceae*, and *Spirochaetaceae*. Although not statistically significant, *Mycoplasmataceae* was detected in less than half of high growth rate pigs (4/10) compared to a greater detection rate in low growth rate pigs (8/10; p = 0.17, Fisher's exact test). Additionally, *Streptococcaceae* was detected at a higher level in high growth rate pigs (7/10) compared to low growth pigs (3/10), albeit a lack of statistical significance (p = 0.18, Fisher's exact test). Species diversity within each family was analyzed for differences associated with growth; two significant differences were detected (**Figure 4.5B**). First, high growth rate pigs had increased species diversity within the group of unclassified bacteria (p = 0.046; Mann-Whitney *U* test). Second, within the *Mycoplasmataceae* family, there was a trend towards less species diversity in high growth pigs;  $0.5 \pm 0.7$  species in high growth pigs and  $1.3 \pm 0.8$  species in low growth pigs (p = 0.059; Mann-Whitney *U* test).

Increased species diversity was also noted in low growth pigs within the family *Prevotellaceae*, although no significant difference was detected (p = 0.12; Mann-Whitney *U* test).

At the species level on the LLMDA, three bacterial species were identified at greater rates in high growth pigs (data not shown). *Bacteroides pectinophilus* was detected in half of high growth rate pigs (5/10) while no low growth rate pigs had this species present (p = 0.03; Fisher's exact test). Furthermore, two bacterial species in the family *Lachnospiraceae* trended towards having higher prevalence in high growth rate pigs. *Lachnospiraceae* bacterium C6A11 and *Lachnospiraceae* bacterium P6B14 were found in 6 and 7 of the high growth rate pigs, respectively, compared to 1 and 2 of the low growth rate pigs, respectively (p = 0.057 and p = 0.069, respectively; Fisher's exact test). Although not significant, half the number of high growth pigs (4 versus 8 in low growth group) had *Mycoplasma conjunctivae* and two times the number of high growth pigs (8 versus 4 in low growth group) had *Ruminococcaceae* bacterium AE2021 detected in the feces (p = 0.169; Fisher's exact test). These bacterial species may play a role in promoting or deterring growth performance after vaccination and co-challenge.

In addition to the LLMDA, fecal bacteriomes were further analyzed using 16S rDNA sequencing. Two of the samples from high growth rate pigs were excluded from the analysis due to failed quality control after 16S rDNA sequencing at UMGC. Therefore, 16S rDNA sequencing results were compared between 8 high growth rate pigs and 10 low growth rate pigs. Both bacterial and archaeal microbes were identified through 16S rDNA sequencing of fecal samples, with several bacterial families being detected across all 18 pigs, such as *Clostridiaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Ruminococcaceae*, *Lactobacillaceae*, *Prevotellaceae*, *Streptococcaceae*, and *Veillonellaceae*, *Coriobacteriaceae*, and *Erysipelotrichaceae*.

Based on the relative abundance of OTUs, the two most abundant phyla were

Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes in the fecal samples from the 18 pigs; no significant differences in relative abundance of these two phyla were identified between the growth rate groups (adjusted p > 0.05; Likelihood Ratio Test; **Figure 4.6A**). However, the relative abundance of bacteria in the phylum Spirochaetes trended toward being significantly higher in the high growth group (adjusted p = 0.06; Likelihood Ratio Test). The relative abundance of Spirochaetes was 1.5% in high growth pigs while only 0.3% in low growth pigs. At the family level (**Figure 4.6B**), a lower relative abundance of *Lachnospiraceae* was detected in high growth rate pigs (5.8%) compared to low growth rate pigs (8.2%; adjusted p = 0.021; Likelihood Ratio Test).

Alpha diversity between the two groups was compared using Chao1 and Shannon Index metrics (**Figure 4.6C**). The Chao1 diversity metric based on OTU was significantly higher in high growth pigs compared to low growth pigs (p = 0.026; Mann-Whitney *U* test). Further, the observed OTU diversity was also significantly greater in high growth rate pigs (p = 0.023; Mann-Whitney *U* test; data not shown). This data suggests gut microbiome diversity may be beneficial for growth under the study conditions. Although the mean Shannon Index was numerically higher in high growth rate pigs, no significant difference was detected between the two groups (p = 0.145; Mann-Whitney *U* test). Beta diversity analysis did not detect any significant differences at the phyla or family level between the two groups (p > 0.05; PERMANOVA; data not shown).

Overall, microbial testing modalities utilized in the current study identified several gut microbiome characteristics associated with improved growth after vaccination and co-infection, including increased bacterial diversity, increased *Bacteroides pectinophilus*, decreased *Mycoplasmataceae* species diversity, higher Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratios, increased relative abundance of the phylum Spirochaetes, reduced relative abundance of the family *Lachnospiraceae*, and increased *Lachnospiraceae* species C6A11 and P6B14.

## Discussion

There is a growing body of evidence for the role of the gut microbiome in response to vaccination for infectious diseases of humans and livestock.<sup>340,341</sup> Despite PRRS MLV vaccines being widely used to reduce PRRS-associated losses in endemic herds, the currently available commercial vaccines are inadequate for disease control<sup>171</sup> and additional tools are necessary to reduce the effects of PRRS on swine production. Through the gut-lung axis, a bi-directional communication pathway between the gastrointestinal tract and pulmonary tissues,<sup>462</sup> beneficial gut microbes provide an opportunity to improve immunity and efficacy of PRRS MLV vaccines.

Herein, several microbiome characteristics were identified in the post-vaccination/prechallenge feces of pigs that had subsequent improvements in growth during the co-challenge period. These characteristics may predispose more rapid weight gain in the presence of wild-type PRRSV after vaccination. First, increased gut microbiome diversity was detected in high growth rate pigs. Microbiome diversity has also been associated with reduced clinical disease and high growth rates of co-infected pigs in the absence of PRRS vaccination.<sup>118,291</sup> Moreover, associations between microbiome diversity and improved outcome following challenge with bacterial respiratory pathogens in swine have been reported.<sup>287</sup> Further, antibody production after vaccination for *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* and PCV2 has been linked to increased gut microbiome diversity in pigs.<sup>463</sup> However, reduced gut microbiome diversity was associated with enhanced antibody production in pigs immunized with cholera toxin subunit B orally and tetanus toxoid intramuscularly.<sup>464</sup> Although increased gut microbiome diversity has shown to be

beneficial after respiratory infection with diverse pathogens,<sup>280</sup> further studies are necessary to clarify effects on infectious and noninfectious immunizations.

In addition to respiratory and immunological outcomes, PRRSV reduces nutrient digestibility and feed efficiency of growing pigs.<sup>288</sup> Here, the primary differentiator between high and low growth rate groups was indeed weight gain, as no significant differences were detected in humoral immunity, clinical disease or tonsillar pathology. As such, an interesting second microbiome characteristic associated with high growth included an increased Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes ratio. In early gut microbiome research evaluating lean versus obese humans, increased Firmicutes abundance and decreased Bacteroidetes abundance were considered to have enhanced nutrient extraction capabilities.<sup>289,290</sup> The trend of Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratios being increased in high growth nonvaccinated pigs after PRRSV/PCV2 co-infection has also been reported.<sup>291</sup> Moreover, a positive correlative relationship between Firmicutes abundance and weight gain<sup>292,293</sup> and a negative correlative relationship between Bacteroidetes abundance and weight gain<sup>294</sup> have been demonstrated in swine. Whereas, others reported no significant differences in the relative abundance of these two phyla between high and low growing pigs.<sup>295</sup>

Perhaps surprising was the current finding of high growth pigs having an increased relative abundance of bacteria in the phylum Spirochaetes, as this family is generally considered pathogenic.<sup>465</sup> In contrast, previous work reported decreased species diversity within the family *Spirochateaceae* in association with improved clinical disease outcome after fecal transplantation and PRRSV/PCV2 co-infection.<sup>338</sup> Further, in non-disease challenged conditions, high body weight pigs had significantly less Spirochaetes phylum abundance in feces compared to low body weight pigs.<sup>295</sup> However, another study demonstrated that increased relative abundance of bacteria within the Spirochaetes phyla is positively correlated to hemicellulose digestibility in

pigs, increasing the availability of energy from dietary plant material.<sup>466</sup> Differences between these studies underscore the need for further clarification of *Spirochateaceae* species function in health-challenged and growing swine.

Three bacterial species, including *Bacteroides pectinophilus*, *Lachnospiraceae* bacterium C6A11 and *Lachnospiraceae* bacterium P6B14, were detected at greater prevalence rates in high growth rate pigs. First, *Bacteroides pectinophilus* is an obligate anaerobe known to be an inhabitant of the human gut,<sup>467</sup> which aids in the breakdown of pectin, an otherwise indigestible portion of plant cell walls. *B. pectinophilus* is considered unique from other *Bacteroides* species based on 16S rRNA genetic diversity and the presence of novel protein families<sup>468</sup> and can diminish in gastrointestinal diseases such as irritable bowel syndrome.<sup>469</sup> *Lachnospiraceae* bacterium C6A11 and Lachnospiraceae bacterium P6B14 are unclassified anaerobic fermentative species in the Firmicutes phylum originally isolated from a cow rumen in New Zealand<sup>470</sup> that play an important role in metabolism of plant material.

Interestingly, *Lachnospiraceae* results reported herein differed based on assay; specifically, high growth rate pigs had increased prevalence of the two species described above per the LLMDA and decreased relative abundance of the family per 16S rDNA sequencing. In other studies of swine, fecal microbiota transplantation increased the relative abundance of *Lachnospiraceae* and was associated with improved growth and health outcomes.<sup>338,471</sup> Data published by Tran et al. (2014, 2018) found that pigs consuming feed with spray-dried porcine plasma had increased ADG and decreased relative abundance of *Lachnospiraceae* in fecal samples; further, a significant negative correlation was detected between one *Lachnospiraceae* species (*Blautia marasmi*) and body weight.<sup>472,473</sup> Consistent with this dilemma and the need for further understanding the role of *Lachnospiraceae* bacteria, a recently published review

describes the inconsistency of *Lachnospiraceae* as both beneficial for health and metabolism while also being associated with certain disease conditions as a challenge in human microbiome research.<sup>474</sup>

Many diverse studies have demonstrated a role for gut microbes in host outcome following respiratory disease and growing evidence suggests gut microbes modulate the response to infectious disease immunizations. Described herein, several gut microbiome characteristics, such as increased diversity and shifts in microbial composition, were associated with a significant increase in ADG of pigs after PRRSV vaccination and PRRSV/PCV2 co-infection. These microbiome characteristics may contribute to improved outcome of pigs exposed to either attenuated vaccine or wild-type PRRS viruses. Further research aimed to expand these findings and identify beneficial gut microbes that may improve the health of pigs in PRRS endemic herds and aid in the efficacy of current PRRS vaccines is warranted.

### Funding

This work was supported by USDA NIFA [2013-68004-20362]; the State of Kansas National Bio and Agro-Defense Facility Fund; and by the Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory's Laboratory Derived Research and Development Effort [14ERD081].

#### Acknowledgements

The authors thank Mallory Phillips, Vlad Petrovan, Maureen Sheahan, Rebecca Eaves, and Josh Springfield for animal and laboratory research support. The authors also thank the University of Minnesota's Genomics Center for their assistance in running the 16S rDNA sequencing data.

#### A. Average daily gain post-challenge



# Figure 4.1. Weight gain in high and low growth pigs after PRRSV MLV vaccination and co-challenge with PRRSV and PCV2b.

A) Data shown as mean ADG in kg  $\pm$  one standard deviation for high and low growth rate groups post-challenge. Mean ADG was significantly greater in high growth pigs (p < 0.001; unpaired t-test). B) Data shown as the mean weight in kg  $\pm$  one standard deviation with regression lines. Asterisks identify statistically significant differences in mean weights between the two groups (\*p  $\leq$  0.01, \*\*p  $\leq$  0.001 and \*\*\*p  $\leq$  0.0001; two-way ANOVA with repeated measures). The slope of weight gain in high growth rate pigs was significantly greater than low growth rate pigs (p = 0.004; linear regression analysis).


Post-Challenge

5 Vaccination Period **Challenge** Period 150-‡ log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction 4 p = 0.95100 Viral Load 3 2 50 0 D. PCV2b Viral Load C. PCV2b viremia **Challenge** Period <sup>5</sup> Vaccination Period 150p = 0.50log10 copies/PCR reaction 4 100 Viral Load 3 ‡ 2 50 High Growers 1 Low Growers 0 0 0 7 14 21 28 35 42 49 56 63 70 High Low Growth Growth Day-post vaccination

### Figure 4.2. PRRSV and PCV2 virus replication in high and low growth rate pigs after PRRS MLV vaccination and PRRSV/PCV2 co-challenge.

Data shown as the mean log10 copies/PCR reaction  $\pm$  standard deviation for each virus and growth rate group (**A and C**). On 32 dpv, the high growth rate group had a trend towards significantly higher PRRSV replication, while on 39 and 42 dpv, the low growth rate group had a trend towards significantly higher PRRS viremia. On 39 dpv, the high growth rate group had a trend towards significantly higher PCV2 viremia. Trends towards significance ( $\ddagger p < 0.1$ ; repeated measures analysis using multiple t-tests) are highlighted. **B and D**) Data shown as the post-challenge total viral loads for each pig with horizontal lines representing mean  $\pm$  one standard deviation. No significant differences in PRRSV or PCV2 viral load was noted post-challenge (unpaired t-test).





Data shown as the mean Sample:Positive (S/P) ratio  $\pm$  one standard deviation in each group for PRRSV (A), PCV2 CP 43-233 epitope (B), and PCV2 CP 160-233 decoy epitope (C) on 28 and 63 dpv with p-values (unpaired t-tests). D) Data shown as individual lymphoid depletion scores for each of the 20 pigs with horizontal lines representing mean scores  $\pm$  one standard deviation. Representative histopathologic images of 2X H&E stained tonsils are shows as follows: score 0, no lymphoid depletion (E) and score 3, severe lymphoid depletion (F). No significant difference was detected in the severity of lymphoid depletion scores between the two groups (p = 0.58, Mann-Whitney U test).



## Figure 4.4. Fecal microbiome diversity in pigs with high and low growth rates after PRRS MLV vaccination and subsequent co-infection with PRRSV and PCV2.

Data shown as the total number of microbial families (**A**) and microbial species (**B**) detected by the LLMDA prior to co-challenge for individual pigs. Group means and standard deviations are represented by horizontal lines. No significant difference in microbiome diversity was detected on a family or species level between the two groups (p > 0.05; Mann-Whitney U test). **C**) Data shown as the Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratio for each pig in the two groups. Horizontal lines represent mean  $\pm$  one standard deviation. High growth pigs had a trend towards significantly higher ratios when compared to low growth pigs (unpaired t-test).



### A. Microbiome Family Prevalence

B. Microbiome Species Diversity

### Figure 4.5. Fecal microbiome composition in pigs with high and low growth rates after PRRS MLV vaccination and subsequent co-infection with PRRSV and PCV2.

A) Microbiome family prevalence is shown as the percent of high growth (n = 10) and low growth (n = 10) rate pigs with each family detected on the LLMDA. Families detected in less than 40% of all 20 pigs are not shown. No significant differences in family prevalence were detected between growth rate groups. B) Data shown as the mean number of species detected  $\pm$  one standard deviation in each family identified in high and low growth rate pigs. Statistical significance (\*p < 0.05) and trends towards significance (\$p < 0.1\$) are highlighted.



Figure 4.6. Fecal microbiome analysis by 16S rDNA sequencing in high and low growth rate pigs.

**A**) Data shown as the mean relative abundance of bacterial phyla for high and low growth groups. **B**) Data shown as the mean relative abundance of bacterial families for high and low growth groups. Families making up 1% or less of all sequences detected in 1 or more sample

subsets are grouped together and classified as "Other". C) Data shown as the  $\alpha$ -diversity metric (Chao1 or Shannon Index) for individual pigs in each group. Group means and standard deviations are represented by horizontal lines. Chao1  $\alpha$ -diversity was significantly greater in the high growth group (Mann Whitney U test).

# Chapter 5 - Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Reduces Viremia after Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome (PRRS) Modified Live Virus (MLV) Vaccination

#### Abstract

Fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) is the process by which the fecal microbiota from a healthy individual is transplanted into an immature or diseased individual. Benefits of FMT are thought to be the result of enhanced numbers of beneficial microbial populations. Our previous study established that FMT improved outcome after co-infection with PRRSV and porcine circovirus type 2d. The objective of this study was to determine the effects of FMT on PRRSV modified live virus (MLV) vaccination. Pigs were split into four groups; two groups of pigs (FMT; n = 20) were administered a fecal microbiota transplant while two control groups (n = 20) were administered a sterile mock-transplant for 7 days prior to vaccination. One FMT and one control group were then vaccinated with the PRRSV MLV vaccine and allowed to mount an immune response over the next 28 days. Then all pigs were infected with PRRSV and followed for 42 days. Throughout the duration of the study FMT and vaccination status had no effect on morbidity and treatment rates, nor PRRSV-associated pathology. During the 28 day vaccination period transplanted pigs had lower, however not significant, viremia levels. Over the 42-day post-infection period, while PRRS MLV vaccination decreased viremia and increased antibody load, there was no effect seen due to transplantation. FMT resulted in overall decreases in microbial diversity; however, shifts in microbial composition were consistent to previous studies; increased microbes within taxonomic groups Bacteroidetes, Prevotellaceae, Turcibacteraceae, Ligilactobacillus ruminis and Limosilactobacillus pontis, as well as a decrease of microbes

within the taxonomic group Micrococcales. Overall, this study supports the idea that FMT improves PRRSV MLV vaccination by reducing vaccine-associated viremia.

#### Introduction

Porcine reproductive and respiratory (PRRS) modified live virus (MLV) vaccines are widely used to reduce PRRS-associated losses. PRRS, caused by the PRRS virus (PRRSV) within the Arteriviridae family, triggers increased morbidity and mortality in growing pigs, due to respiratory disease, decreased reproductive performance, and weight gain reductions. PRRSV has an inherently high mutation rate attributable to the high error frequency during RNA replication,<sup>28,29</sup> resulting in a diverse genetic population. This substantial genetic variation creates challenges in stimulating long-term and broadly protective immunity, either through natural exposure or through modified live virus vaccination.<sup>14,15</sup> In experimental and field settings, PRRS MLV immunization has the potential to improve weight gain, reduce viral replication, pulmonary pathology, and clinical disease after wild-type PRRSV exposure.<sup>163</sup> However, several challenges remain for PRRS MLV vaccine safety and efficacy, including the potential for virulent reversion and wild-type strain recombination,<sup>164</sup> pathogen potentiation,<sup>116</sup> and incomplete protection against emerging wild-type strains.<sup>165</sup> Available commercial vaccines generally provide insufficient disease control and superior or alternatives PRRS control strategies are necessary.<sup>170,171</sup>

The gut microbiome is a collection of microorganisms, composed of bacteria, viruses, fungi, archaea and protozoa, that inhabit the gastrointestinal tract. Within the gut, there is abundant immunomodulation, due to microbial interaction with host epithelial and immune cells, secretory immunoglobulins, and metabolites that cause changes not only locally within the gut, but also to distant places such as the respiratory tract. Pigs without a microbiome, also known as

gnotobiotic, have decreased immune function, T-lymphocytes,<sup>315</sup> fecal secretory immunoglobulin A,<sup>317</sup> and less developed Peyer's patches.<sup>475</sup> Since the gut microbiome plays such a significant role in immunological development and regulation, it is likely that it also contributes to vaccine-induced immune response.

Research focused on gut microbiome associations with PRRS vaccine efficacy is limited. While one study shows no effect of Lactobacillus casei on PRRS vaccine response,<sup>342</sup> another showed that after PRRSV vaccination, increased Lactobacillus relative abundance was associated with increased antibody titers and milder pathogenic damage.<sup>343</sup> After PRRSV challenge, there were also positive correlations between Lactobacillus and Prevotella bacteria and decreased rectal temperatures. Another study from the same group showed that increased Prevotella and Ruminococcus abundance pre-vaccination best predicted increased antibody titers in association with vaccine response. The relationship between the gut microbiome and other porcine respiratory diseases has been illustrated.<sup>340,341,344</sup> For example, high immunoglobulin G (IgG) production, after Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae immunization in pigs, was connected with increased Lachnospiraceae and Prevotella bacteria, when compared to pigs with low IgG production.<sup>346</sup> In a study investigating the immune response to influenza A virus vaccination, pigs with increased microbiome diversity, and increased Prevotella and Muribaculaceae abundance were associated with a stronger immune response, measured by virus-specific IgG and hemagglutination inhibition assays, while weaker response was associated with increased abundance of *Helicobacter* and *Escherichia-Shigella* bacteria.<sup>476</sup>

Together with the known effects of gut microbiome on outcome after PRRSV infection, PRRSV has also been shown to effect the gut microbiome. In one study, PRRSV infection caused immune modulation associated with the gut microbiome.<sup>477</sup> PRRSV infected pigs had

higher *Treponema* and *Methanobrevibacter* abundance, and reduced *Prevotella* abundance. Decreased bacteria within the taxonomic groups *Methobrevibacter*, *Spirochaeta*,

*Micrococcaceae* and *Spirochaetaceae*, as well as increased bacteria within the taxonomic groups Firmicutes, *Lachnospiraceae*, and *Prevotellaceae* were associated with decreased PRRSassociated clinical signs, gross lesions and viremia. Increased *Micrococcaceae* and *Spirochaetaceae* in addition to decreased Firmicutes bacteria were associated with increased interferon-gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), interleukin 6 (IL-6) and haptoglobin. Dynamically shifting these microorganisms could lead in more appropriate immune responses to PRRSV infection and vaccination.

Fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) was originally described as the process by which fecal material, containing microorganisms, from a healthy individual is transplanted into a diseased individual. Fecal transplantation was described as early as the 4<sup>th</sup> century in China for the human diarrheal treatment<sup>407</sup> and in the 17<sup>th</sup> century in Italy for ruminant disease treatment<sup>368</sup> suggesting its possible role in microbe modulation leading to clinical and immunological changes. These treatments can be implemented without antibiotic usage, which has enormous implications in the face of ever growing antimicrobial resistance concerns.

Previous work in pigs has demonstrated that FMT improved clinical disease outcome and antibody response, and decreased lung pathology response after PRRSV and porcine circovirus type 2d co-infection.<sup>478</sup> Improved outcome was associated with increased microbial family numbers, higher *Intrasporangiaceae* and *Synergistaceae* species prevalence, lower *Spirochaetaceae* and *Vibrionaceae* species diversity, and increased *Veillonellaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, and *Ruminococcaceae* relative abundance. With respect to other porcine respiratory disease, one study showed that an oral microbial inoculum obtained from healthy boars prior to *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* challenge resulted in decreased coughing and lung pathology.<sup>287</sup> The objective of the current study was to determine if FMT from high-parity healthy sows could improve the response of the PRRSV MLV vaccine. The results showed that FMT lowered PRRSV MLV vaccine-associated viremia. This was associated with increased microbial abundance within taxonomic groups Bacteroidetes (Bacteroidia, Bacteroidiales, and *Bacteroides zylanisolvens*), *Prevotellaceae*, *Turicibacteraceae* (unclassified *Turicibacter sp.*), *Ligilactobacillus ruminis* and *Limosilactobacillus pontis*, together with decreaseed microbial abundance within the taxonomic group Micrococcales (*Microbacteriaceae*). Altering these specific bacterial groups could lead to improved PRRSV MLV vaccine response.

#### Materials and methods

Animals and housing. All use and experimentation incorporating animals and viruses were done in accordance with the Federation of Animal Science Societies (FASS) Guide for the Care and Use of Agricultural Animals in Research and Teaching, the USDA Animal Welfare Act and Animal Welfare Regulations, and approved by the Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees and Institutional Biosafety Committees. The dates of the study were between May 14, 2018 and July 31, 2018. Twenty pairs of Yorkshire x Landrace barrow siblings (n = 40; 18.6  $\pm$  0.5 days of age upon arrival) were obtained at weaning from a single high health, closed colony commercial source negative for PRRSV, *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*, pseudorabies virus, porcine epidemic diarrhea virus (PEDV) and acute malignant hypothermia (porcine stress syndrome). Sibling pairs were from 10 different sows. The piglets were not vaccinated for PCV2 and were utilized without regards to maternal antibody. No prophylactic or therapeutic antibiotics were administered at weaning or within 1 week of arriving at Kansas State. All pigs were housed in one environmentally controlled room

at the Kansas State University Large Animal Research Center and maintained under biosafety level 2 (BSL-2) conditions. Pigs were housed in groups of 10 in a 98.2 sq ft pen on concrete flooring with mats. All pigs were given approximately 9 hours to acclimate to their new environment. Pen order was maintained throughout the study to avoid cross-contamination of fecal microbiota; personnel entered pens in the following order: 1) control non-vaccinated pen, 2) FMT non-vaccinated pen, 3) control vaccinated pen, and 4) vaccinated FMT pen; personal protective equipment was changed between non-vaccinated, FMT pigs and vaccinated, control pigs. Pigs were given access to food and water ad libitum.

**Fecal microbiota transplant (FMT).** *FMT preparation and administration:* The fecal transplant material was obtained in the same method and is described previously.<sup>478</sup> Briefly, two sows from a commercial farrow-to-wean farm in Kansas were selected as donors for the transplant material. This herd was negative for PRRSV and had recently undergone a *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* elimination program. The two sows were selected based on several characteristics, including older age, high parity, large litters with a high percentage of born alive piglets, low pre-weaning mortality, no history of fetal mummification, and no antibiotic treatment received within at least the last 15 months prior to donation. Feces were collected during lactation and sows had not yet weaned their respective litters at the time. Feces were initially screened and confirmed as negative for gastrointestinal parasites using a fecal float qualitative exam by the Kansas State Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (KSVDL).

To prepare the FMT, fresh feces was collected naturally during defecation or manually from the rectum of the two sows. Feces were processed within approximately 3 hours after collection, during which the fecal microbiota was concentrated and stored using a protocol adapted from the human FMT literature.<sup>412</sup> Specifically, feces were weighed into 50 gram

aliquots and mixed in a standard commercial blender (Oster, Sunbeam Products Inc.) with 250 mL of sterile saline (0.9% sodium chloride irrigation USP, Braun Medical) until homogenized. The fecal slurry was then passed progressively through 2.0, 1.0, 0.5, and 0.25 mm stainless steel sieves into a sieve receiver (Fisherbrand<sup>TM</sup>). The filtered liquid was collected, aliquoted into 50 ml tubes, and centrifuged at 6,000xg for 15 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and each bacterial pellet was resuspended in approximately 20 mL of sterile saline. All resuspensions were gently vortexed prior to mixing the concentrated microbiota in a large beaker. Glycerol (molecular biology reagent grade, MP Biomedicals<sup>TM</sup>) was added to create a 10% glycerol suspension and the transplant material was stored at -80°C until the day of transplantation. On the day of transplantation, the FMT was thawed for 2 hours on ice and kept cold prior to administration.

*FMT Characterization:* Prior to administration, the FMT material was analyzed for microbial composition and pathogenic organisms. The FMT material was submitted to KSVDL for routine bacterial culture, including aerobic culture, anaerobic culture and *Salmonella* enrichment. Species identification was attempted for all bacteria cultured. The Lawrence Livermore Microbial Detection Array (LLMDA) was used to analyze microbiome composition and diversity of the transplant material. This array detects annotated sequences of microbes associated with infection of vertebrates within GenBank®, the National Institute of Health genetic sequence database. The version 7 of the LLMDA in the 4plex 180K probe format was used in this study. This version of the array targets 4,377 viruses, 5,457 bacteria, 327 archaebacteria, 319 fungi, and 132 protozoa. The LLMDA oligonucleotide probes vary between 50 and 65 nucleotides in length and have roughly equivalent affinities for their complementary target DNA molecules <sup>415</sup>. Probes were designed to detect all sequenced microbial families with

a large number of probes per sequence (average of 30 probes) to improve sensitivity in the evaluation of microbial nucleic acids in a variety of samples. The high-density oligo LLMDA microarray and statistical analysis method have been extensively tested in numerous studies for viral and bacterial detection in pure or complex environmental and clinical samples.<sup>118,416-418</sup>

The methods have been discussed previously;<sup>478</sup> however, they will be briefly described. The PowerViral<sup>TM</sup> Environmental RNA/DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO, San Diego, CA) was used to extract DNA and RNA from the fecal samples using the kit's protocol. For each sample, 10 µl of the extracted DNA and RNA was amplified using the random amplification procedure.<sup>418</sup> The amplified cDNA and DNA was purified with the Qiaquick PCR purification columns (Qiagen) and quantified using the Nanodrop<sup>™</sup> spectrophotometer. Approximately 1 µg of amplified cDNA and DNA were fluorescently labeled using a one-coloring labeling kit (Roche NimbleGen, Madison, WI). The samples were labeled using nick translation with Cy3-labeled random nonamer primers (TriLink Biotechnologies, San Diego, CA) and Klenow DNA polymerase at 37°C for 2 hr. The labeled DNA was precipitated in isopropanol, centrifuged for 10 min, and the pellet was washed and dried. The pellet was then reconstituted in 50 µl of RNase-Free water and quantified using the Nanodrop<sup>™</sup> spectrophotometer. The Agilent Technologies Oligo aCGH/ChIP-on-Chip Hybridization kit (Santa Clara, CA) was used to hybridize samples to the arrays. For each sample,  $10 \mu g$  of fluorescently labeled DNA was mixed with blocking agent, hybridization buffer and nuclease free water. The samples were then denatured at 95°C for 3 min, and incubated at 65°C for 3 min. Each sample was then immediately loaded onto the array and hybridized for approximately 40 hr at 65°C in a microarray rotator oven (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA) set to a speed of 20. Microarrays were then washed using the standard manufacturer's protocol with Oligo

aCGH/ChIP-on-chip Wash Buffer 1 for 5 min at room temperature and Oligo aCGH/ChIP-onchip Wash Buffer 2 for 1 min at 37°C (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA). Using the SureScan Microarray Scanner (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA), all arrays were scanned to a resolution of 3  $\mu$ m. Microarray data was generated from the microbe sequences using the CLiMax method developed at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory,<sup>416</sup> at a detection threshold of  $\geq$  99%. The log likelihood for each of the positive targets is estimated from the BLAST similarity scores of the array feature and target sequences, together with the feature sequence complexity and other covariates derived from BLAST results.

FMT microbial composition: Fecal floatation for parasites confirmed feces were negative for parasites through standard diagnostic testing at KSVDL. Aerobic and anaerobic culture identified several culturable bacteria known to inhabit the gastrointestinal tract, including nonhemolytic Escherichia coli, Bacillus altitudinis, Streptococcus alactolyticus, Enterococcus hirae, non-hemolytic Staphylococcus sp., Bacteroides vulgatus, and Clostridium perfringens. Several additional anaerobic bacteria were cultured but unable to be identified at the genus or species level; these bacteria included gram negative coccobacilli, gram positive long rods, and large gram positive boxy rods. Salmonella enrichment culture was negative. The pan-microbial array detected 12 phyla, 33 microbial families and 49 microbial species detected. Microbes were from the phyla Actinobacteria, Amoebozoa, Bacteroidetes, Basidiomycota, Euryarchaeota, Firmicutes, Fusobacteria, Proteobacteria, Spirochaetes, Synergistetes, and Tenericutes. Additionally, a single virus was detected. The majority of species detected fell within the Proteobacteria phylum (16/49; 32.7%) with the second highest number of species falling with the Firmicutes phylum (9/49; 18.4%) and the third highest number of species falling within the Tenericutes phylum (6/49; 12.2%). Known swine pathogens were not detected with the LLMDA.

**PRRS Virus.** The PRRS virus used to prepare the inoculum for this study originated from the lymph node of a pig with severe postweaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS) as previously described.<sup>117</sup> PRRSV (isolate KS62; GenBank accession no. KM035803) was isolated by propagation on MARC-145 cells. PRRSV titration was also performed on MARC-145 cells as previously described <sup>116</sup>. Briefly, PRRSV infectivity was titrated through serial 10-fold dilutions of PRRS stock virus in minimal essential medium (MEM; Corning) supplemented with 7% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma-Aldrich), penicillin-streptomycin (Pen Strep; 80 U/mL and 80 µg/mL, respectively; Gibco), 3 µg/mL amphotericin B (Fungizone; Gibco), and 25 mM HEPES (Life Technologies). The dilutions were added in quadruplicate to confluent MARC-145 cells in a 96-well tissue culture plate (BD Falcon). Following a 4-day incubation at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, cells were examined for PRRSV-induced cytopathic effects. The median tissue culture infective dose (TCID<sub>50</sub>/mL) was calculated using the Spearman-Karber method.<sup>411</sup> To prepare the inocula for pigs, the stock virus was made to yield a 2-mL dose consisting of 10<sup>5</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub> PRRSV in MEM. The 2-mL dose was split, with 1 mL being delivered intranasally and 1 mL being delivered intramuscularly.

**Experimental design and sample collection.** The experimental design was a 2 x 2 factorial design with FMT administration and PRRS vaccination. Four treatments each employing a group of pigs were applied: (a) pigs treated with FMT and vaccinated against PRRS (vaccinated, FMT), (b) pigs vaccinated against PRRS and not treated with FMT (vaccinated, control), (c) pigs treated with FMT only (non-vaccinated, FMT), and (d) pigs neither vaccinated against PRRS nor treated with FMT (non-vaccinated control). Groups were balanced according to arrival weight and housed in separate pens. Approximately 9 hours after arriving at Kansas State University on May 14<sup>th</sup>, pigs were administered a fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) or a

mock transplant (CON). Mock transplants were made of 10% glycerol in sterile saline. To administer the FMT or mock-transplant, 5 mL doses were delivered orally through flexible dispensing tips (6.4 mm Flexoject<sup>TM</sup> Dispensing Tips, Innovet). Solutions were delivered slowly on the tongue or in the cheek pouch, allowing the pig to chew on the tip and naturally consume the material over 30 seconds to 1 minute. Transplants or mock-transplants were administered daily for seven consecutive days prior to co-infection. After one week of transplantation, and approximately three and half weeks of age (mean age of  $25.6 \pm 0.5$  days), two pens were vaccinated (Vx) with a 2-mL dose of a commercial PRRS vaccine (Ingelvac PRRS MLV; Boehringer Ingelheim Animal Health; Gen Bank accession no. AF159149) administered intramuscularly according to the vaccine label instructions. Unvaccinated pigs (Non-Vx) were of a similar age (25.6  $\pm$  0.5 days). At 28 days post-vaccination (dpv), and approximately seven and half weeks of age (mean age of  $53.6 \pm 0.5$  days), all pigs were infected with PRRSV and PCV2d. Individual body weights were collected upon arrival (-7) and on 0, 7, 14, 21, 28, 35, 42, 49, 56, 63, and 70 dpv. Average daily gain (ADG) was calculated by the change in weight (kilograms) over the change in time (days), and was reported in kilograms (kg). ADG was determined for the entire 42-day study. Blood samples were collected from all pigs on 0, 4, 7, 11, 14, 21, 28, 32, 35, 39, 42, 49, 56, 63, and 70 dpv. Fecal samples were collected from all 39 pigs weekly on -7, 0, 7, 14, 21, 28, 35, 42, 49, 56, 63, and 70 dpv. Pigs were humanely euthanized under the direction of the attending laboratory animal veterinarian if 1) pigs had greater than or equal to 20% weight loss, 2) pigs were moribund or nonresponsive to veterinary treatment, or 3) pigs had severe dyspnea or clinical disease that compromised animal welfare. At 42 dpi, all remaining pigs were humanely euthanized in accordance with the American Veterinary Medical Association Guidelines for the Euthanasia of Animals and complete necropsies were performed.

**Challenge Inoculum.** PRRSV (isolate NVSL; GenBank accession no. AY545985) was isolated by propagation on MARC-145 cells. The PRRS virus shares 88.06% identity with the MLV at the peptide sequence level of GP5. PRRSV titration was performed on MARC-145 cells as previously described.<sup>116</sup> Briefly, PRRSV infectivity was titrated through serial 10-fold dilutions of PRRS stock virus in minimal essential medium (MEM; Corning) supplemented with 7% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma-Aldrich), penicillin-streptomycin (Pen Strep; 80 U/mL and 80  $\mu$ g/mL, respectively; Gibco), 3  $\mu$ g/mL amphotericin B (Fungizone; Gibco), and 25 mM HEPES (Life Technologies). The dilutions were added in quadruplicate to confluent MARC-145 cells in a 96-well tissue culture plate (BD Falcon). Following a 4-day incubation at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, cells were examined for PRRSV-induced cytopathic effects. The median tissue culture infective dose (TCID<sub>50</sub>/mL) was calculated using the Spearman-Karber method.<sup>411</sup> To prepare the inocula for pigs, the stock virus was mixed to yield a 2-mL dose consisting of 10<sup>5</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub> PRRSV in MEM. The 2-mL dose was split, with 1 mL being delivered intranasally and the remaining 1 mL delivered intramuscularly.

Clinical and pathological evaluation. Pigs were evaluated daily throughout the 77 day trial by a veterinarian or veterinary assistant for the presence of clinical signs associated with PRRS, including tachypnea, dyspnea, coughing, sneezing, mucoid rhinorrhea, open mouth breathing, conjunctivitis, aural cyanosis, altered joint conditions (altered ambulation or joint effusion), diarrhea, decreased body condition, and altered mentation (lethargy or depression). Any pig showing clinical signs of PRRS was restrained for a physical examination and rectal temperature measurement was taken by the attending veterinarian. A standardized health evaluation form was developed and utilized during both trials. This form was completed for all pigs showing clinical signs that warranted veterinary evaluation. Included on the health

evaluation form were clinical signs characterized by presence or absence in addition to several clinical signs scored based on severity. Examples of clinical signs documented as a binomial variable included diarrhea, pyrexia, tachypnea, mucoid rhinorrhea, coughing, sneezing, dyspnea, open-mouth breathing, ocular discharge, conjunctivitis, altered ambulation, and joint effusion. Examples of clinical signs scored based on severity included altered mentation and response to stimuli, and body condition. However, in the calculation of clinical signs for comparing the two viruses in the current study, all clinical signs were characterized as binomial variables. For example, attitude was considered normal for any pig characterized as bright, alert, and responsive whereas attitude was considered abnormal for any type of decreased mentation (e.g., quiet, alert and responsive; depressed, alert, responsive; moribund). In addition to presence of clinical signs, the frequency along with duration of each clinical sign were calculated for the two populations of pigs.

Pigs with clinical disease were prescribed parenteral veterinary treatment as deemed appropriate by the attending veterinarian. Examples of clinical presentations where parenteral treatment was administered included 1) dyspnea or persistent coughing, 2) mucoid rhinorrhea, 3) altered ambulation with or without joint effusion, 4) diarrhea with pyrexia, and 5) lethargy or depression with pyrexia. Antimicrobials, including oxytetracycline (Liquamycin®; LA-200®) or ceftiofur hydrochloride (Excenel®), were administered for altered ambulation or clinical signs of respiratory disease. Typical antimicrobial therapy included once daily intramuscular injection for a total of 3 days. The non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medication flunixin meglumine (Banamine®) was administered for altered ambulation and/or pyrexia, with a typical treatment regimen of once daily intramuscular injection for a period of three days. Pigs were monitored for progression or resolution of clinical signs, including daily rectal temperature measurements

during treatment and a 3-day post-treatment evaluation period for all pigs recovering from clinical illness. Pigs that were non-responsive to veterinary treatment or had progressive clinical disease and compromised animal welfare were humanely euthanized by the attending veterinarian.

Mortality and morbidity were assessed throughout the 42-day study. Any pig that died or was humanely euthanized because of PRRS was counted as a mortality. Any clinical signs warranting a veterinary evaluation and/or a mortality throughout the 42-day study were counted as a morbidity. Morbidity rates over time were determined by summing the total number of pigs with clinical signs on a given day divided by the total number of pigs alive on that day. Mean duration of specific clinical signs was calculated by summing the number of days individual pigs had a given clinical sign throughout the study divided by the total number of pigs that had the given clinical sign.

At 42 dpi, all surviving pigs were humanely euthanized with intravenous pentobarbital sodium. A board certified veterinary pathologist, blinded to the source of the pigs, performed complete necropsies and histopathology. First, whole body weights were collected post-mortem. Second, lungs and trachea were removed *in toto* immediately after euthanasia and total lung weights were measured. The trachea was excised immediately distal to the larynx. Wet lung weight to body weight ratio was calculated as a measure of pulmonary pathology. Dorsal and ventral aspects of the whole lung were photographed (Canon EOS Rebel T6 DSLR) and digital images were evaluated after gross necropsy using a photo scoring system. Gross anatomical photo scores were reported as the percentage of whole lung affected by pneumonia (ranging from 0 to 100%). Scores were combined from 5 sections of the lung as previously described <sup>413</sup>, including 1) right dorsal lung – 25%, 2) left dorsal lung – 25%, 3) right ventral lung – 22.5%, 4)

left ventral lung -22.5%, and 5) accessory lung lobe -5%. The photos were evaluated by a board certified veterinary pathologist who was blinded to the source of the lung pictures.

Tissues collected for histopathology included lung (1 section from each lobe), tracheobronchial lymph node, thymus, tonsil, duodenum, jejunum, ileum, mesenteric lymph node, spiral colon, cecum, spleen, nasal turbinates, kidney and skin. Additional tissues were collected at the pathologist's discretion by evidence of gross lesions. Tissues were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for at least 7 days, routinely processed in an automated tissue processor, embedded in paraffin, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E stain). Microscopic lung lesions were scored using a 0-4 system as previously described <sup>116,118</sup>. Scores were assigned as follows: 0, no significant lung lesions; 1, mild multifocal interstitial pneumonia with <50% lung lobe involvement; 2, mild to moderate multifocal interstitial pneumonia with 50-75% lung lobe involvement; 4, severe diffuse interstitial pneumonia with >75% lung lobe involvement.

**Viremia.** Blood samples were collected from all pigs at 15 points (0, 4, 7, 11, 14, 21, 28, 32, 35, 39, 42, 49, 56, 63, and 70 dpv) to determine PRRSV viremia, total viral load, and viremic duration. Methods utilized to measure PRRSV and PCV2 viremia have been described in detail previously (Niederwerder et al., 2015; Niederwerder et al., 2016; Ober et al., 2017). Briefly, viral DNA and RNA were extracted simultaneously from 50 µL of serum using Ambion's MagMAX 96 Viral Isolation Kit (Applied Biosystems, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. PRRS viral RNA was quantified using EZ-PRRSV MPX 4.0 Real Time RT-PCR Target-Specific Reagents (Tetracore, Rockville, MD) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The PRRSV PCR assay results were reported as

log10 RNA starting quantity (copy number) per 50-μl reaction volume. PCV2 DNA was quantified using SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR green supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). The forward and reverse PCR primers were 5'-AATGCAGAGGCGTGATTGGA-3' and 5'-CCAGTATGTGGTTTCCGGGT-3', respectively. Standard curves and positive and negative controls were included on each plate. The PCV2b PCR assay results were reported as log10 DNA starting quantity (copy number) per 20 μL reaction volume. Total viral load for PRRSV was calculated as the area under the curve of viremia in Graphpad Prism®. Total viral load for PRRSV was calculated by Riemann sums of the total area of the trapezoids under the line segments connecting weekly or biweekly viremia measurements. Viral load was calculated for PRRSV MLV vaccine replication during the vaccination period (0-28 dpv) and for wild-type PRRSV replication during the challenge period (28-70 dpv).

**Microsphere immunoassay for detection of PRRSV antibodies.** Blood samples were collected from all pigs at 15 points (0, 4, 7, 11, 14, 21, 28, 32, 35, 39, 42, 49, 56, 63, and 70 dpv) to determine antibody levels and antibody load. PRRSV nucleocapsid protein were cloned into the pHUE vector, as previously described in detail <sup>338</sup>. Proteins were expressed, purified and measured prior to being coupled to carboxylated Luminex (Luminex Corporations; Austin, TX) MagPlex<sup>®</sup> polystyrene microspheres according to the manufacturer's instructions. For the assays, approximately 2500 antigen-coated beads, suspended in 50 μL PBS with 0.05% Tween-20 and 4% goat serum (PBST-GS), were placed in each well of a 96-well polystyrene round bottom plate (Costar®; Corning®; Tewksburg, MA). Sera were diluted 1:400 in PBST-GS and 50 μL was added to each well. The plate was sealed and incubated for 30 min at room temperature with gentle shaking. After incubation, the plate was placed on a magnet and beads were washed three times with 190 μL of PBS-GS. For the detection of IgG, 50 μL of biotin-SP-conjugated affinity

purified goat anti-swine secondary antibody (IgG, Jackson ImmunoResearch; West Grove, PA) was diluted to 2 µg/mL in PBST-GS and 100 µL was added to each well. The plate was incubated at room temperature for 30 min and washed three times followed by the addition of 50 µL of streptavidin-conjugated phycoerythrin (2 ug/ml in PBST-GS; SAPE). After 30 min, the plate was washed and microspheres resuspended in 100 µL of PBST-GS. Microspheres were analyzed using a MAGPIX instrument (Luminex Corporations; Austin, TX) and Luminex<sup>®</sup> xPONENT 4.2 software. A minimum of 50 microspheres was used for the calculation of mean fluorescence intensity (MFI). The sample to positive (S/P) ratio was calculated as the MFI of the sample minus the MFI of the negative control divided by the MFI of the standard positive control minus the MFI of the negative control. Total antibody load for PRRSV antibodies was calculated by Riemann sums of the total area of the trapezoids under the line segments connecting weekly or biweekly viremia measurements. Antibody load was calculated for PRRSV MLV vaccine associated antidbodies during the vaccination period (0-28 dpv) and for PRRSV wild-type virus associated antibody is during the challenge period (28-70 dpv).

**Microbiome Characterization.** Feces was collected after 7 days of FMT and prior to vaccination to characterize predictive differences in the DNA-based microbiome using Illumina-based next generation sequencing, and the RNA-based microbiome using RNA-seq.

DNA and RNA extraction. The DNA was extracted using Qiagen's AllPrep PowerViral DNA/RNA Kit by following the manufacturer's instructions. For the optional steps, in order to modify the protocol to retain mostly DNA, β-ME was not added to Solution PM1 and phenolchloroform-isoamyl alcohol was not added to the PowerBead Tube. RNA was extracted using Qiagen's RNeasy PowerMicrobiome Kit by following the manufacturer's instructions. Phenolchloroform-isoamyl alcohol was added to the PowerBead Tube to assist in protecting the

integrity of the RNA during homogenization of the sample. Bead beating was utilized in both protocols.

#### UMGC Illumina NexteraXT methods (NovaSeq).

<u>Sample Quality Assessment</u>: Upon submission, the DNA samples were quantified using a fluorimetric PicoGreen assay. The purity of the samples were also assessed via a Nanodrop. For a sample to pass QC, it needs to quantify greater than 0.2 ng/ul. If the samples pass QC they entered the TruSeq NexteraXT DNA library preparation queue.

Library Creation: gDNA samples were converted to Illumina sequencing libraries using Illumina's NexteraXT DNA Sample Preparation Kit (Cat. # FC-131-1096). Please visit www.illumina.com for a detailed list of kit contents and methods. In summary, 1 ng of gDNA is simultaneously fragmented and tagged with a unique adapter sequence. This "tagmentation" step is mediated by a transposase. The tagmented DNA is simultaneously indexed and amplified 12 PCR cycles. Final library size distribution were validated using capillary electrophoresis and quantified using fluorimetry (PicoGreen). Libraries were then normalized and pooled.

<u>Cluster generation and sequencing</u>: Pooled libraries were denatured and diluted to the appropriate clustering concentration. The libraries were then loaded onto the NovaSeq paired end flow cell and clustering occurs on board the instrument. Once clustering was complete, the sequencing reaction immediately began using Illumina's 2-color SBS chemistry. Upon completion of read 1, 2 separate 8 or 10 base pair index reads were performed. Finally, the clustered library fragments were re-synthesized in the reverse direction thus producing the template for paired end read 2.

<u>Primary analysis and de-multiplexing</u>: Base call (.bcl) files for each cycle of sequencing were generated by Illumina Real Time Analysis (RTA) software. The base call files and run

folders were streamed to servers maintained at the Minnesota Supercomputing Institute. Primary analysis and de-multiplexing were performed using Illumina's bcl2fastq v2.20. The end result of the bcl2fastq workflow was de-multiplexed FASTQ files.

#### UMGC Illumina RNA-Seq methods Total RNA Prep Ligation with Ribo-Zero Plus

<u>Sample Quality Assessment</u>: Total eukaryotic RNA isolates were quantified using a fluorimetric RiboGreen assay. Total RNA integrity was assessed using capillary electrophoresis (e.g., Agilent BioAnalyzer 2100), generating an RNA Integrity Number (RIN). For samples to pass the initial QC step, they need to quantify higher than 200 nanograms and have a RIN of 7 or greater, then they were converted to Illumina sequencing libraries.

Library Creation: Total RNA samples were converted to Illumina sequencing libraries using Illumina Stranded Total RNA Prep Ligation with Ribo-Zero Plus (cat#: 20040525). Please see www.illumina.com for a detailed list of kit contents and methods. In summary, a normalized input mass of total RNA was enzymatically depleted of rRNA using sequence specific Ribozero capture probes. The reduced RNA was then fragmented and reverse transcribed (via random hexamers) into cDNA and then underwent second strand synthesis. The resulting cDNA fragments were blunt-ended, adenylated, and ligated to universal pre-index anchors. A final PCR amplification enriched for the anchor-ligated DNA fragments and incorporated primer sequences for cluster generation and unique barcodes for each library. Final library size distribution was validated using capillary electrophoresis and quantified using fluorimetry (PicoGreen). Indexed libraries were then normalized and pooled equimolar.

<u>Cluster generation and sequencing</u>: Pooled libraries were denatured and diluted to the appropriate clustering concentration. The libraries were then loaded onto the NovaSeq paired end flow cell and clustering occurred on board the instrument. Once clustering was complete, the

sequencing reaction immediately began using Illumina's 2-color SBS chemistry. Upon completion of read 1, 2 separate 8 or 10 base pair index reads were performed. Finally, the clustered library fragments were re-synthesized in the reverse direction thus producing the template for paired end read 2.

<u>Primary analysis and de-multiplexing</u>: Base call (.bcl) files for each cycle of sequencing were generated by Illumina Real Time Analysis (RTA) software. The base call files and run folders were streamed to servers maintained at the Minnesota Supercomputing Institute. Primary analysis and de-multiplexing were performed using Illumina's bcl2fastq v2.20. The end result of the bcl2fastq workflow was de-multiplexed FASTQ files.

*Microbiome data analysis.* DNA and RNA-sequencing data was used to analyze microbiome composition and diversity of fecal samples collected prior to PRRSV MLV vaccination. Genomes from NCBI Genbank for the archaea, bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and viruses' subdirectories were downloaded from the web on 9-13-2021

(https://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes). Genomic fasta (.fna) files for all downloaded genomes were filtered for completed genomes only, and joined to produce a database file for each subdirectory. This included a 1.1GB database for archaea that included 439 species, 3.4Gb database for 165 fungal species, 435 Mb database for 19 protozoa species, and 107.3Gb database for 27,158 bacterial species. For viruses, we included cds fasta (.fna) files for those genomes that were available, and for the viruses that did not have a cds fasta, we kept the genomic fasta. Overall, the viral database file was 2.4Gb for 42,061 viral species. To analyze the gDNA, we combined all these database genomes together to produce a 112Gb reference database for alignment. To analyze the RNA-seq data, we used the virus only database file for alignment. Both database files were indexed using *minimap* $2^{479}$  using -*k* 21 -*w* 11, parameters for kmer length and window size parameters respectively.

Raw fastq reads for both sets of data (gDNA and RNA) were aligned to the reference database using *minimap2* with default parameters. Each pig's alignment file (.sam) was processed to produce a bam file, and the resulting bam file was filtered using map quality score  $\geq$ 30 to retain high quality, unique alignments using *Samtools*.<sup>480</sup> Resulting high quality alignments were used to produce a final .txt file per pig that included the genus and species information and number of reads that aligned using a custom *Perl* script for both datasets.

Output data, consisting of genus and species information, was compared in excel. Overall reads were filtered to include only species that are present at >0.01% relative abundance. Higher taxonomy (phylum, class, order, and family) was determined through the NBCI Taxonomy and classifications at the genus and species level were updated as necessary (e.g. *Lactobacillus reuteri* is now classified as *Limosilactobacillus reuteri*).<sup>481</sup> Diversity of the fecal samples was measured by calculating the number of phyla, classes, orders, families and species detected in each sample. Relative abundance of phyla, class, order, family and species was determined by dividing the number of aligned reads by the total number of aligned reads per pig. The Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes (Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes) ratios were determined by dividing the overall relative abundance of Firmicutes species by the overall relative abundance of Bacteroidetes species, as well as by dividing the total number of Firmicutes bacterial species by the total number of Firmicutes bacterial species by

**Statistical Analysis.** All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 9.0 software (La Jolla, CA). Clinical sign duration, viremia duration, plus macroscopic and microscopic lung lesions scores were compared using Kruskal-Wallis tests with associated

Dunn's multiple comparisons tests. Daily morbidity and treatment rates were compared using the chi-square test. Vaccine period viral and antibody loads were compared using unpaired *t*-tests. Challenge period viral and antibody loads were compared using a two-way ANOVA with associated Tukey's multiple comparisons tests. Three-way ANOVAs were utilized to compare weight gain between the four groups; pairwise comparisons were done if significance was found within the ANOVA using Tukey's multiple comparison tests. Two-way ANOVAs were utilized to compare PRRSV viremia and antibody levels during the vaccination period, in addition to lung to body weight ratios; if significance was found, pairwise comparisons were done using Šidák's multiple comparisons. Three-way ANOVAs were utilized to compare PRRSV viremia and PRRS antibody levels during the challenge period; if significance was found, pairwise comparisons were done using Tukey's multiple comparisons tests. Simple linear regression was used to determine the slopes of PRRSV viral decay after peak challenge viremia. Unpaired t-tests were used to screen for potential microbial associations between groups. Where at least one comparison between groups was significant (p <0.05; unpaired t-tests) and had at least one group with a relative abundance greater than 0.1%, a Kruskal-Wallis test was applied for more stringent analysis. Microbiome diversity and Firmicutes: Bacteroidetes ratios (both relative abundance and frequency) were compared using Mann-Whitney U and Kruskal-Wallis tests with associated Dunn's multiple comparisons tests.

#### Results

**FMT had no effect on pigs prior to vaccination.** Upon arrival to Kansas State University, control and FMT pigs appeared clinically within normal limits. Morbidity levels, during the transplant or mock transplant period, were similar between the four groups and was most associated with post-weaning diarrhea (**Figure 5.1**). Mean weight of the control, non-

vaccinated group was  $5.2 \pm 1.1$  kg, mean weight of the control, vaccinated group was  $5.2 \pm 1.2$  kg, mean weight of the FMT, non-vaccinated group was  $5.4 \pm 1.1$  kg and the mean weight of the FMT, vaccinated group was  $5.2 \pm 1.2$  kg (p > 0.99; three-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison tests; **Figure 5.2A**). No significant difference in weight gain was noted during the transplantation or mock-transplantation time period, suggesting no detrimental effect of FMT on weight gain in unchallenged conditions; mean weights on 0 dpi for the control, non-vaccinated group was  $6.3 \pm 1.1$  kg, for the control, vaccinated group was  $6.4 \pm 1.6$  kg, for the FMT, non-vaccinated group was  $6.2 \pm 1.2$  kg and for the FMT, vaccinated group was  $5.9 \pm 1.3$  kg (p > 0.99; three-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison tests; **Figure 5.2A**).

**FMT pigs had similar morbidity as control pigs with and without PRRSV MLV vaccination.** Pigs were assessed daily throughout the 42-day study for clinical signs associated with PRRSV infection; pigs showing clinical signs were assessed and treated as needed. There was one mortality that was unrelated to PRRSV infection (intestinal torsion and adhesions); this pig was excluded from further analysis. One pig in the control vaccinated group had tarsal swelling that was present prior to challenge and throughout the study; this was found to be cystic in nature with no purulent material within the joints on necropsy and was therefore excluded from morbidity rates.

Morbidity was assessed for the four groups of pigs and are shown in **Figure 5.1**. Overall morbidity was calculated during the PRRSV MLV vaccine period in two vaccinated groups (control and transplanted). During this period, 100% of control, vaccinated pigs developed clinical signs while 90% of transplanted, vaccinated pigs developed clinical signs; this was not statistically significant (p > 0.99; Fisher's exact test; data not shown) and was most likely due to post-weaning stress. Of the pigs with clinical signs, only one pig (in the control non-vaccinated

group) needed treatment. During the vaccination period, clinical sign duration, calculated by the total number of days each pig had to be assessed, was calculated in the vaccinated groups. Clinical signs were similar between the two groups; on average  $4.0 \pm 3.6$  days in length for control, vaccinated pigs while they were  $4.0 \pm 3.0$  days in length for transplanted, vaccinated pigs (p = 0.89; Mann-Whitney *U* test; data not shown). These data suggest that FMT did not affect clinical outcome during PRRSV MLV vaccination.

Overall morbidity was also calculated during the PRRSV challenge period. Of the 39 pigs infected with PRRSV, 37 pigs (94.5%) pigs had PRRSV-associated clinical signs requiring assessment. Of these pigs, nine (9/10) were in the control non-vaccinated group, nine (9/9) were in the transplanted non-vaccinated group, ten were in the control vaccinated group (10/10), and nine were in the transplanted vaccinated group (9/10); this was not significantly different (p = 0.99; chi-square test; data not shown). A total of six out of the 37 (16.2%) pigs that were assessed required treatment with antibiotics and/or NSAIDs. Of the pigs that were treated two were in the control non-vaccinated group, two were in the transplanted non-vaccinated group, one was in the control vaccinated group, and one was in the transplanted vaccinated group; this was also not significantly different (p = 0.3; chi-square test; data not shown). During the challenge period, clinical sign duration was calculated in all four groups. The control nonvaccinated pigs had a clinical sign duration of  $5.6 \pm 6.3$  days, transplanted, non-vaccinated pigs had a clinical sign duration of  $6.6 \pm 3.6$  days, and control, vaccinated pigs had a clinical sign duration of  $6.8 \pm 5.2$  days, and transplanted; interestingly, transplanted, vaccinated pigs had a lower clinical sign duration than the other groups at  $4.5 \pm 6.1$  days, however, this was not statistically significant (p = 0.3; Kruskal-Wallis test; data not shown). These data suggest that

neither FMT, nor PRRSV MLV vaccination, significantly affected clinical outcome during PRRSV challenge.

FMT pigs had similar weights compared to control pigs during the PRRSV MLV vaccination and PRRSV challenge periods while PRRSV MLV vaccination improved ADG. Weights were measured throughout the study, and used to determine average daily gain (ADG) in the four groups; results are shown in Figure 5.2. Weight steadily increased throughout the study in all groups. There was significant variation associated with time and time by vaccination (p < 0.0001 and p = 0.04; three-way ANOVA). Pairwise comparisons were conducted between groups to further analyze these differences; however, weights were found to be similar throughout the vaccination and challenge period (p > 0.1; Tukey's multiple comparison test;

#### Figure 5.2A and B).

Since no significant findings were found in weight between groups, ADG was examined for more global changes during the vaccination and challenge period. During the 28 day vaccination period mean ADG was similar in all groups at approximately  $0.6 \pm 0.1$  kg (p = 0.11; two-way ANOVA; **Figure 5.2C**); notably, there was significant variation due to individual animals (p = 0.002; two-way ANOVA). Pairwise comparisons did not find a significant difference between groups during the vaccination period (p > 0.36; Tukey's multiple comparisons test). Mean ADG after PRRSV challenge was significantly different based on treatment (p = 0.002; two-way ANOVA), along with inter-individual variation (p = 0.009; twoway ANOVA). Within the control groups, non-vaccinated pigs had significantly lower ADG of 0.84 ± 0.12 kg compared to vaccinated pigs, which had ADG of 0.98 ± 0.12 kg (p = 0.03; Tukey's multiple comparison test). Within the transplanted groups, non-vaccinated pigs also had significantly lower ADG at 0.82 ± 0.09 kg in contrast to vaccinated pigs with ADG of 0.96 ± 0.17 kg (p = 0.02; Tukey's multiple comparison tests). While some vaccinated pigs in the transplanted group had higher ADG than their control counterparts, there was not a significant difference between the two groups (p > 0.8; Tukey's multiple comparison test). These data suggest that while the PRRSV MLV vaccine improves weight gain during PRRSV challenge, that the FMT did not have a significant effect on weight gain.

FMT reduced viremia after PRRSV MLV vaccination and challenge. Serum PRRSV virus replication was determined bi-weekly during the vaccination period and used to calculate total viral load (Figure 5.3). In the two groups of vaccinated pigs, PRRSV viremia had a bimodal distribution with peaks associated with vaccine and challenge virus replication. During the vaccination period, there was significant time and pig variation (p < 0.0001 and p = 0.003, respectively; two-way ANOVA; Figure 5.3A). Therefore, we further evaluated differences on a daily basis. On 0 dpv, vaccine viremia was not present ( $0.0 \log_{10} \text{ copies/PCR}$  reaction) in both the control and transplanted animals. Vaccine virus replication steadily increased and peaked at 7 dpv. At this time, viremia in transplanted pigs deviated from control pigs; mean PRRSV viremia was 3.2 and 3.6 log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction for the transplanted and control groups, respectively (p = 0.76; Sidák's multiple comparison test; Figure 5.3B). This difference was larger, however not significant, on 11 dpv with mean PRRSV viremia was 2.9 and 3.4 log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction for the transplanted and control groups, respectively (p = 0.27; Šidák's multiple comparison test). At 14 dpv, there continued to be a be differences, albeit not significant, with mean viremia in transplanted pigs 2.8 log10 copies/PCR reaction compared to 3.3 log10 copies/PCR reaction in the control group (p = 0.56; Šidák's multiple comparison test). During the rest of the vaccination period, viremia in the transplanted and control pigs were similar (p > 0.99; Šidák's multiple comparison test). With regards to viral load, transplanted pigs had a lower viral load than control

pigs during the vaccination period; however, this difference was not significant (p = 0.24; unpaired *t*-test; **Figure 5.3C**).

After PRRSV challenge, serum PRRSV virus replication was determined weekly to biweekly and used to calculate total viral load (Figure 5.3). There was significant variation caused by time, time by vaccination, and time by transplantation (p < 0.0001, p < 0.0001, and p = 0.01, respectively; three-way ANOVA; Figure 5.3A); we therefore, investigated differences between individual groups. On the day of challenge (28 dpv), both non-vaccinated groups had 0 log<sub>10</sub> PCR copies/reaction compared to their vaccinated counterparts which had 2.3 and 2.9 log<sub>10</sub> copies/PCR reaction; this difference was significant (p < 0.0001; Tukey's multiple comparisons test; Figure 5.3B). This difference was not apparent at 32 dpv (p = 0.9 and p = 0.2 in control and transplanted groups, respectively; Tukey's multiple comparisons test). Challenge virus replication peaked at 35dpv in all groups. While non-vaccinated pigs often had higher viremia than vaccinated pigs during the challenge period, this difference was not significant (p > 0.1; Tukey's multiple comparisons test). After peak viremia (35 dpv), slopes of viral decay were found to be significantly different between the groups (p = 0.048; linear regression; data not shown), with decay trending towards significantly faster in transplanted groups than control groups. While vaccinated pigs initially had higher viremia, they were surpassed by nonvaccinated pigs later in challenge, leading to similar viral loads between the four groups (Figure **5.3C**; p > 0.1; two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test). Viremia duration, or the mean number of days each pig had viremia, was similar between the groups (p = 0.84; Kruskal-Wallis test; data not shown). These data suggest that while FMT does not decrease viremia, viral load nor viral duration, that it leads to faster viral decay.

Antibody production and load was higher after PRRSV MLV vaccination but similar between control and transplanted animals. Antibody production against PRRSV nucleocapsid (N) protein was quantified bi-weekly during the vaccination period (**Figure 5.4**). During the vaccination period, there was significant antibody level variation as a result of time and individual pigs (p < 0.0001; two-way ANOVA; **Figure 5.4A**); however, there were no significant differences associated with transplantation status (p = 0.96; two-way ANOVA;

**Figure 5.4B**). In contrast, after PRRSV challenge, there was significant variation attributable to multiple factors; time, vaccination status, and time by vaccination status (p < 0.0001; three-way ANOVA; **Figure 5.4A**); additionally there was a trend towards significance for variation due to transplantation status (p = 0.07; three-way ANOVA). Pairwise comparisons were conducted to look for differences between the groups on a daily basis. On the day of challenge (28 dpv) antibody levels were significantly higher in vaccinated compared to the non-vaccinated groups; approximately 0 sample to positive (S:P) ratio in both non-vaccinated groups, while the vaccinated, control group was 2.2 ± 0.2 S:P ratio and the vaccinated, transplanted group was 2.4 ± 0.3 S:P ratio (p < 0.0001; Tukey's multiple comparison tests; **Figure 5.4B**). Significant differences were also found between the non-vaccinated and vaccinated groups on 32 dpv (p < 0.0001; Tukey's multiple comparisons tests). Throughout the rest of the challenge period, PRRSV antibody levels were similar between all of the groups.

To assess for global changes in antibodies we looked at antibody load. There was no difference found in antibody load between the control and transplanted groups (p = 0.85; unpaired *t*-test; **Figure 5.4C**). After challenge, there was significant variation associated with treatment and individual pigs (p = 0.02 and p = 0.0015, respectively; two-way ANOVA). Antibody load was higher in vaccinated pigs than non-vaccinated pigs, most likely associated

with antibody production early in the challenge period. Within control groups, non-vaccinated pigs had a lower antibody load of  $74.2 \pm 9.6$ , compared to vaccinated pigs which had an antibody load of  $83.6 \pm 7.2$  (p = 0.03; Tukey's multiple comparisons test). Within transplant groups, non-vaccinated pigs had an antibody load of  $70.7 \pm 8.5$  and vaccinated pigs had an antibody load of  $81.1 \pm 9.4$  (p = 0.02; Tukey's multiple comparison test).

Lung pathology was similar with respect to vaccination and transplantation status. Gross lung tissue images were captured during necropsy and subsequently scored for severity of lesions. There was no significant difference found between any groups (p = 0.32; Kruskal-Wallis test). Within control pigs, non-vaccinated pigs had a mean of  $43.8 \pm 42.8\%$  lung affected while vaccinated pigs had a mean of  $36.9 \pm 29.6\%$  lung affected (p > 0.99; Dunn's multiple comparisons test; data not shown). Within FMT pigs, non-vaccinated pigs had a mean 57.8  $\pm$ 29.8% lung affected, while vaccinated pigs had a mean of  $58.8 \pm 37.6\%$  lung affected (p > 0.99; Dunn's multiple comparisons test; data not shown). At necropsy, a wet lung weight to body weight ratio was calculated for each pig. Pigs in all four groups had a similar lung to body weight ratio at approximately 0.01 (p > 0.1; two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons tests; data not shown). Microscopic lung lesions were also assessed through histopathology. Lesions included lymphoplasmacytic and histiocytic interstitial pneumonia, suppurative bronchopneumonia, and interlobular septal edema and hemorrhage. Degree of interstitial pneumonia was scored in all 39 pigs, with 1/20 control and 1/19 FMT pigs having severe diffuse interstitial pneumonia with >75% lung lobe involvement (data not shown). Control pigs has slightly higher, but not significant, severity of microscopic lung lesions (p = 0.32; Kruskal-Wallis test; data not shown).
**Fecal microbiome diversity decreased after transplantation but also lead to shifts in microbial composition.** Feces was collected after transplantation, but prior to vaccination to look for predicative associations between the gut microbiome and vaccine efficacy. The pig that was excluded from clinical data due to non-PRRS related morbidity and euthanasia was excluded from further analysis. Additionally, one pig had poor sample quality after RNA isolation and was excluded from further analysis. For genomic DNA, libraries for 39 pigs were sequenced generating nearly 881 million paired-end (2x151bp) reads, for 11.3 million reads per pig. Nearly 3 billion paired-end (2x151bp) RNA-seq reads were generated from fecal samples for 38 pigs, resulting in an average of nearly 38.1 million PE reads per pig using a NovaSeq at University of Minnesota. On average, ~1.5 million high quality gDNA reads uniquely mapped to the bacterial, fungal, viral, archaea, and protozoa genomes, and ~2 million high quality RNA-seq reads uniquely mapped to the viral genomes per pig.

Microbial diversity was determined by calculating the mean number of microbial classification (phylum, class, order, family) in the four groups. On average approximately 12 phyla, 19 classes, 25 orders, 46 families and 157 species were detected (**Figure 5.5**). There was a trend towards significant difference in the phyla diversity between the groups (p = 0.07; Kruskal-Wallis test; **Figure 5.5**, **top left panel**), with significance at the class, order and family level (p = 0.04, p = 0.02, and p = 0.008, respectively; Kruskal-Wallis test; **Figure 5.5**, **top right, bottom left and right panels**). Pairwise comparisons were done to analyze potential changes associated with vaccination and transplantation status. There was a decrease in the phyla, order and family diversity within the vaccinated groups, between control and transplanted pigs (p = 0.02, p = 0.04, and p = 0.06, respectively; Mann-Whitney *U* tests; **Figure 5.5**). There was also a decrease in class and family diversity within non-vaccinated groups, between control and transplanted pigs

(p = 0.05 and p = 0.03, respectively; Mann-Whitney U tests). Firmicutes:Bacteroides ratios, based on relative abundance, were found to be similar (p = 0.3; Kruskal-Wallis test; data not shown), while ratios based on bacterial species frequencies was significantly different (p = 0.02; Kruskal-Wallis test; data not shown); however, pairwise comparisons did not find significant differences between the groups (p > 0.14; Dunn's multiple comparisons test; data not shown). These data together suggest that FMT decreased overall microbial diversity and had no apparent effect on Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratios.

There were microbial groups detected in all 39 pigs; these are shown in **Table 5.1**. Microbial organisms included one archaeal species (*Methanobrevibacter smithii*) with remaining microorganisms (n =47) falling within bacterial groups. Bacteria within the phyla Firmicutes were most represented (n =32), with bacteria in this phyla most often in the classes Bacilli, Clostridia and Erysipelothrichia. Bacteria were also found in the phyla Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, and Spirochaetes. At the species level, there were multiple *Bacteroides*, *Phocaeicola, Eubacterium, Blautia, Clostridium*, and *Lachnoclostridium* species present. One additional unclassified bacteria was observed (an uncultured human bacteria). These data suggest that these bacterial groups represent a core set of microbial species within pigs.

Metagenomic sequencing uncovered that microbial species most commonly fell within the phyla Firmicutes, Euryarchaeota, and Bacteroidetes (**Figure 5.6, top left panel**). There was a significant difference between the four groups within the phyla Bacteroidia and Spirochaetia (p < 0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test). At the class level, 29 uniquely classified groups were identified, with a majority falling within the classes Clostridia, Methanobacteria, and Bacilli (**Figure 5.6, top right panel**). There was a significant difference between the four groups within the classes Bacteroides and Spirochaetes (p < 0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test). Within orders, there were 42 identified microbial groups, with Methanobacteriales, Clostridiales, Lactobacillales and Eubacteriales being the most commonly identified (**Figure 5.6, bottom left panel**). There was a significant difference between the four groups within the orders Bacteroidiales, Bifidobacteriales and Spirochaetales (p < 0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test). At the family level, 90 unique classification groups were identified, with most being identified at the family level (n = 73; **Figure 5.6, bottom right panel**). From the 73 classifications, most were bacterial (n = 61), but other represented groups included archaea (n = 2), eukaryotes (n = 2) and viruses (n = 8). The most commonly represented families were *Methobacteriaceae* (archaea), *Lactobacillaceae* (bacteria), and *Coriobacteriaceae* (bacteria). There was a significant difference between the four groups within the families *Oscillospiraceae*, *Bacteroidaceae*, *Turicibacteraceae*, *Bifidobacteriaceae*, *Prevotellaceae*, *Treponemataceae*, and *Podoviridae* (p < 0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test). Metagenomic sequencing also identified 411 uniquely classified microbes across the 39 pigs (data not shown). The most prevalent species in all four groups was *Methanobrevibacter smithii*; prevalence ranged from 15.2 – 26.1 %. Some of the more prevalent species were *Bacteroidies*,

Clostridium, Eubacterium, Lactobacillus, Limisolactobacillus, and Lachnospiracaeae species.

In order to examine biologically relevant microbial groups, we focused on significant differences in overall relative abundance with groups consisting of greater than or equal to one percent ( $\geq$ 1%) relative abundance. If global differences were detected, pairwise comparisons were studied to identify individual group variations. At the level of phyla microbial composition detected by metagenomics, most phyla had similar abundance among the four groups. However, microbial groups within the most abundant phyla were most likely to have significant differences and are, therefore, shown in **Figure 5.7**. Two phyla were found to be significantly different; Bacteroidetes and Spirochaetes (p = 0.046 and p = 0.03; Kruskal-Wallis tests). This significance

persisted, due to only one lineage being represented, at the class level within Bacteroidia and Spirochaetia (p = 0.046 and p = 0.03; Kruskal-Wallis tests), as well as within the orders Bacteroidales and Spirochaetales (p = 0.046 and p = 0.03; Kruskal-Wallis tests). Within the order Spirochaetales, the family *Treponemataceae* showed significant differences between the groups (p = 0.03; Kruskal-Wallis test), continuing to the species level with *Treponema succinifaciens* with significant differences between the groups (p = 0.03; Kruskal-Wallis test). While these global changes were found in the Spirochaetes lineage, none of these resulted in biologically relevant changes between the groups (p > 0.1; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). However, within the phyla Bacteroidetes, there was a trend towards significant changes between the transplanted groups, with non-vaccinated pigs having a lower relative abundance compared to vaccinated pigs (p = 0.09; Dunn's multiple comparisons test; Figure 5.7A); this difference persisted at the class and order level (p = 0.09; Dunn's multiple comparisons test; Figure 5.7B and C). Additionally, within the order Bacteroidales, the family *Prevotellaceae* showed significant differences between the groups (p = 0.01; Kruskal-Wallis tests). Significant changes were seen within the transplanted groups; non-vaccinated pigs had significantly lower *Prevotellaceae* relative abundance compared to vaccinated pigs (p = 0.04; Dunn's multiple comparison test; **Figure 5.7D**). Following the Bacteroidetes taxonomic group, within the family *Bacteroidaceae*, which showed no significance (p = 0.49; Kruskal-Wallis test; Figure 5.7D), *Bacteroides xylanisolvens* was found to be significantly different between the groups (p = 0.02; Kruskal-Wallis test). The differences were associated with the transplanted groups; nonvaccinated pigs had lower relative abundance of Bacteroides xylanisolvens than vaccinated pigs (p = 0.055; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). Within the Actinomycetia phylum, while the other three groups contained less than 0.0001% Micrococcales, and therefore

*Microbacteriaceae*, the control, vaccinated group had a relative abundance of  $1.3 \pm 2.4$  % (p = 0.03; Kruskal-Wallis test); this resulted in trends towards significant differences between this group and control non-vaccinated in addition to the transplanted, vaccinated group (p = 0.08 and p = 0.08, respectively; Dunn's multiple comparisons test; Figure 5.7C and D). Within the Erysipelotrichiales order, there were groups differences within the *Turicibacteraceae* (p = 0.0006; Kruskal-Wallis test). These differences were associated with changes between control and transplant groups. Between the non-vaccinated groups, control pigs had lower relative abundance of *Turicibacteraceae* than their transplanted counterparts (p = 0.04; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). This difference persisted in an unclassified species in the genus Turicibacter (p = 0.0005; Kruskal-Wallis test). Differences were again associated with transplantation status, with control pigs having a lower relative abundance of Turicibacter sp. compared to transplanted pigs, both non-vaccinated and vaccinated (p = 0.04 and 0.009; respectively; Dunn's multiple comparisons test; Figure 5.7E). Within the family *Lactobacillaceae*, which was not significantly different between groups (p = 0.45; Kruskal-Wallis test; Figure 5.7D), there were significant differences found between groups within the species Ligilactobacillus ruminis and *Limosilactobacillus pontis* (p = 0.0002 and p = 0.001, respectively; Kruskal-Wallis test). Similar to Turicibacter sp., Ligilactobacillus ruminis changes in relative abundance were associated with transplantation. Control pigs had a lower relative abundance of *Ligilactobacillus ruminis* compared to transplanted pigs in both non-vaccinated and vaccinated (p = 0.01 and 0.0499; respectively; Dunn's multiple comparisons test; Figure 5.7E). Similar changes were found in non-vaccinated pigs with respect to Limosilactobacillus pontis; control pigs were found to have a lower relative abundance compared to transplanted pigs (p = 0.03; Dunn's multiple comparisons test).

For RNA-seq, reads were filtered to identify RNA viruses. RNA-seq identified 10 uniquely classified viruses across the 38 pigs (**Figure 5.8**). Identified microbial species were only found within two classified phyla; Pisuviricota and Negarnaviricota (**Figure 5.8**, **top left panel**). Within each class only one order (**Figure 5.8**, **top right panel**) was detected; these orders were represented by the families *Picornaviridae*, *Astroviridae* and *Paramyxoviridae* (**Figure 5.8**, **bottom left panel**). Species that represented greater than one percent (1%) relative abundance included porcine enterovirus 9, enterovirus G, porcine kobuvirus, posavirus, porcine astrovirus, and wild boar astrovirus (**Figure 5.8**, **bottom right panel**). Porcine parainfluenza influenza virus 1 was also found at a low relative abundance. A virus within Picornavirales order, posavirus, was found to be significantly different between the groups (p = 0.02; Kruskal-Wallis test; **Figure 5.8**, **bottom right panel**). Specifically, when comparing between vaccinated groups, the transplanted pigs had higher levels of posavirus than control pigs (p = 0.03; Dunn's multiple comparisons test).

Overall, metagenomics and RNA-seq in the current study identified several gut microbiome characteristics in transplanted pigs associated with lower viremia after vaccination, including increased *Turicicbacteraceae* bacteria, specifically an unidentified *Turcibacter sp.* as well as decreased Micrococcales bacteria. Additionally, two other species within the family *Lactobacillaceae*, *Ligilactobacillus ruminis* and *Limosilactobacillus pontis* were found at a higher abundance in transplanted versus control pigs. Beneficial gut microbes were also associated with vaccination; vaccinated had a higher abundance of bacteria within the phylum Bacteroides, the order Micrococcales, and the family *Prevotellaceae*.

#### Discussion

PRRS MLV vaccines are beneficial for improved weight gain, reduced PRRS viral replication, pulmonary pathology, and clinical disease. However, the currently available commercial vaccines are inadequate for disease control<sup>171</sup> as a result of vaccine shedding, reversion to virulence and lack of broadly protective immunity against genetically distinct strains.<sup>14,15</sup> The gut-lung axis, communication between gut microbes to and from the respiratory tract, <sup>462</sup> could be modulated to improve immunity and efficacy of currently available commercial PRRS MLV vaccines. In the current study we demonstrated that, although not significantly, FMT lowered viremia associated with PRRSV MLV vaccination. PRRS viremia has been previously correlated with viral shedding;<sup>482</sup> therefore, decreased viremia could potentially lead to decreased virus shedding. With smaller numbers of pigs we were limited in differences that can been seen between groups; however, if decreases persist with larger studies, FMT could be used as an adjunct therapy for PRRS MLV vaccination. Additionally, decreased viremia could be advantageous in PRRSV/PCV2 co-infections as PRRS MLV vaccine-associated viremia has been demonstrated to potentiate PCV2 replication and associated pathology.<sup>116</sup>

Clinically, pigs in all groups were similar with comparable morbidity, clinical sign duration and treatment rates. Lung pathology, both macro- and microscopic, was also similar between groups. This is interesting because previous work has shown the vaccine to decrease PRRSV-associated gross and histological changes.<sup>163,478</sup> While weekly weight differences were not seen with respect to vaccination nor transplant status, the vaccine did result in increased ADG after challenge. Vaccination also led to PPRS viremia changes; while viremia was higher initially due to sustained vaccine viremia, vaccination led to lower, while not significant, viremia later in infection. These findings are consistent with previous findings that the vaccine improves weight gain and decreases viral replication.<sup>116</sup> Interestingly, while there were no apparent effects of transplantation on viremia or weight gain during the challenge period, transplantation led to increased viral decay after peak viremia. Therefore, it is possible that FMT could be used to decrease overall PRRSV-associated viremia.

We found it noteworthy that, in the current study, FMT decreased microbial diversity. Decreases in microbial diversity were found at all taxonomic levels, but were most apparent at the family level. This is in contrast to our past FMT study which showed the microbial diversity was similar between control and transplant groups.<sup>478</sup> We also did not find a significant increase in the Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratio in transplanted pigs compared to our previous studies. Other studies by our group indicated that increased microbial diversity and Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratio is associated with improved outcome after PRRSV infection;<sup>291,328,483</sup> however, these were experimental PRRSV/PCV2 co-infections. Thus, future studies should investigate if these changes are more beneficial in a co-infection model.

While microbial diversity was decreased in transplanted pigs, we found significant shifts in the gut microbiome composition. Specific microbial groups were found at different relative abundance between non-vaccinated and vaccinated in addition to control and transplanted pigs. In the current study, while broad analysis suggested biological implications, we did not find significant differences within the Spirochaetes phylum between the groups. There has been conflicting data about the role of these bacteria related to the gut microbiome. In the current study, while not significant, vaccinated and transplanted pigs had higher relative abundance; the highest abundance was found in vaccinated, transplanted pigs. In our previous FMT study we found decreased microbiome species diversity within the *Spirochaetaceae* family was associated with improved outcome after PRRSV and PCV2 co-infection.<sup>478</sup> A study by Argüello et al. found

similar results, with decreased bacteria within the class Spirochaeta associated with improved outcome after PRRSV infection.<sup>477</sup> This study also found that decreased bacteria within the families Spirochaetaceae were associated with decreased IFN-y, IL-6, and haptoglobin.<sup>477</sup> In addition to Spirochaetaceae, Argüello found similar immunological associations with decreased bacteria in the *Micrococcaceae*. The current study had similar findings within vaccinated pigs; transplanted pigs had significantly lower levels of bacteria both at the family and order level. Another bacteria found at a higher abundance in vaccinated, transplanted pigs was *Bacteroides* xylanisolvens. Not much is known about this species within pigs, however, it has been previously isolated in swine feces.<sup>484</sup> It has also been associated with improved outcome in a murine lung cancer model, showing increases in CXCL9 and IFN-y.<sup>485</sup> *Turicibacteraceae* together with an unidentified species within this family were found at a higher abundance in transplanted pigs, both non-vaccinated and vaccinated. In one study, where pigs were given a symbiotic, consisting of a probiotic and xylo-oligosaccharides, increased jejunal IL-10, interferon- $\alpha$ , and secretory IgA were associated with increased relative abundance of *Turicibacter* species within the jejunum.<sup>486</sup> It is possible that bacteria within this group could be beneficial for improved immune response associated with the PRRS MLV vaccine. Finally, Lactobacillaceae bacteria make up a considerable proportion of the swine gut microbiome.<sup>274</sup> In the current study they consisted of, on average, 21% of the pig's microbiome. Specifically for the two species, Ligilactobacillus ruminis (basionym Lactobacillus ruminis) and Limosilactobacillus pontis (basionym Lactobacillus pontis), there was a higher relative abundance in transplanted than control pigs. Ligilactobacillus ruminis is within the Ligilactobacillus salivarius (basionym Lactobacillus salivarius) clade; bacteria within these clade have been shown to have antiviral activity against porcine epidemic diarrhea virus.487 In terms of PRRSV vaccination, previous work found

increased relative abundance of *Lactobacillus* species was associated with increased antibody titer, milder pathogenic damage and shorter viral clearance time, following PRRSV vaccination, plus decreased rectal temperatures after PRRSV challenge.<sup>343</sup> However, another study showed no effect of an oral single-strain probiotic on PRRS vaccine response.<sup>342</sup> We did not find increased antibody titers, nor histopathological differences; however, we did see decreased viremia during vaccination as well as increased viral decay during challenge. It is possible that different members of this family have diverse effects and should be further investigated.

Metagenomics have been previously used to describe the pig gut microbiome.<sup>274,488,489</sup> However, this is first study, to the authors knowledge, to also use RNA-seq identification of gutassociated RNA viruses. One previous study utilized RNA-seq to characterize boar semen;490 however, their findings were purely bacterial in nature. RNA viral families with in the swine gut were identified in a previous study using polymerase chain reaction.<sup>491</sup> Families identified in this study were consistent with the current study; Astroviridae, Picornaviridae, Caliciviridae and Coronaviridae, the two later which we identified at very low relative abundance compared to the previous study. Our data demonstrated significant differences between the treatment groups within one virus, posavirus. This virus, contained within the Picornaviridae family, stands for "POrcine Stool Associated Virus".<sup>492</sup> Past studies have identified this species within swine feces;<sup>491,493</sup> however, not much else is known about its gastrointestinal nor extra-gastrointestinal effects. In 2017, Oude Munnink et al. hypothesized that because of the lack of viral antibodies present in pigs, that it may inhabit other gut commensals rather than the gut itself.<sup>492</sup> Within the current study, we found this virus was significantly more abundant in transplanted pigs; control pigs had minimal virus reads (approximately 1000 reads were detected in one control, nonvaccinated pig) compared to, on average, 233,647 reads in transplanted pigs. The pigs in this

study were relatively young ( $18.6 \pm 0.5$  days of age upon arrival) compared to the sows that donated fecal material for the transplant (average age 4.8 years); therefore, the data suggests that this virus might be obtained later on in life from either the sow or the environment. Future studies should investigate whether this virus is beneficial to give to younger pigs to aid in improved vaccine outcome.

Compared to other virus, research to understand the bacteriophage's role within the gut microbiome is relatively new. As indicated by a Pubmed search of "bacteriophage", research on these microorganisms originally increased in the mid-1900s, however, a newer uptick occurred in the mid-2010s. Bacteriophages are known to inhabit the mucous layer of the gut, infecting specific bacteria, thereby preventing overgrowth of gut bacterial populations.<sup>494</sup> With the growing antimicrobial resistance concern, these organisms are now being studied for their use in antibacterial therapy, not only in gastrointestinal disease but respiratory disease as well.<sup>495</sup> *Podoviridae*, a family of bacteriophages identified to be different between the groups, has been demonstrated to infect multiple bacterial species. While the changes were not significant in pairwise comparisons, vaccinated, transplanted pigs had higher levels of this virus family. Interestingly, this family contains bacteriophages known to infect swine respiratory pathogens, including Bordatella bronchiseptica<sup>496</sup> and Pasteurella multocida.<sup>497</sup> These two bacterial species are common species associated with PRRS-associated secondary bacterial infection.<sup>75</sup> Therefore, future studies should study this viral family, as it might aid in treatment of PRRS-associated disease.

This study supports the concept that gut microbiome modulation could be used to decrease viremia associated with PRRSV MLV vaccination, however, further studies are needed to confirm these initial findings. Our data is consist with other studies, indicating that certain

microbial taxonomic groups are beneficial for outcome after vaccination. In the future, studies are necessary to identify the biochemical and molecular pathways involved in benefits observed. By understanding these mechanisms we can learn to apply large-scale microbial modulation to increase herd health and decrease negative vaccine effects.

#### Funding

This work was supported by the USDA NIFA Award #2013-68004-20362, the State of Kansas National Bio and Agro-Defense Facility Fund, and by the Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory Derived Research and Development effort (14ERD081).

#### Acknowledgements

The authors thank Matthew Olcha, Maureen Sheahan and Josh Springfield for animal and laboratory research support. The authors thank the veterinary and animal care staff at the KSU Large Animal Research Center for their exceptional animal care. The authors also thank the University of Minnesota's Genomics Center for their assistance in running the next generation sequencing data.

| Phylum         | Class           | Order              | Family              | Genus Species                                |
|----------------|-----------------|--------------------|---------------------|--|
| Actinobacteria | Actinomycetia   | Bifidobacteriales  | Bifidobacteriaceae  | Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum            |
|                | Coriobacterriia | Coriobacteriales   | Atopobiaceae        | Olsenella sp.                                |
|                |                 |                    | Coriobacteriaceae   | Collinsella aerofaciens                      |
| Bacteroidetes  | Bacteroidia     | Bacteroidales      | Bacteroidaceae      | Bacteroides fragilis, Bacteroides            |
|                |                 |                    |                     | thetaiotaomicron, Bacteroides xylanisolvens, |
|                |                 |                    |                     | Bacteroides zhangwenhongi, Phocaeicola       |
|                |                 |                    |                     | dorei, Phocaeicola vulgatus                  |
|                |                 |                    | Muribaculaceae      | Sodaliphilus pleomorphus                     |
| _              |                 |                    | Prevotellaceae      | Prevotella sp.                               |
| Euryarchaeota  | Methanobacteria | Methanobacteriales | Methanobacteriaceae | Methanobrevibacter smithii                   |
| Firmicutes     | Bacilli         | Lactobacillales    | Enteroccocaceae     | Enterococcus faecalis, Erysipelotichaceae    |
|                |                 |                    | T 1 11              | bacterium                                    |
|                |                 |                    | Lactobacillaceae    | Lactobacillus amylovorous                    |
|                | Cleatridia      | Cleatridialea      | Streptococcaceae    | Streptococcus suis                           |
|                | Clostridia      | Clostridiales      | Eubacteriaceae      | Eubacterium callanaeri, Eubacterium          |
|                |                 |                    |                     | Fubactarium sp                               |
|                |                 |                    | Lachnospiraceae     | Angerobutyricum hallij Blautia argi Blautia  |
|                |                 |                    | Luchnospiraceae     | producta, Blautia sp., unidentified sp.      |
|                |                 | Eubacteriales      | Christensenellaceae | Christensenella sp.                          |
|                |                 |                    | Clostridiaceae      | Clostridium bornimense, Clostridium sp.,     |
|                |                 |                    |                     | Mordacella sp.                               |
|                |                 |                    | Lachnospiraceae     | Cellulosilyticum sp., Coprococcus comes,     |
|                |                 |                    |                     | Enterocloster bolteae, Lachnoclostridium     |
|                |                 |                    |                     | scidens, Lachnoclostridium sp.,              |
|                |                 |                    |                     | Lachnospiraceae eligans, Roseburia           |
|                |                 |                    | 0 111 1             | intestinalis                                 |
|                |                 |                    | Oscillospiraceae    | Dysomobacter welbionis, Faecalibacterium     |
|                |                 |                    |                     | prauznitzii, Flavonifractor plautii,         |
|                |                 |                    |                     | Oscillacter sp., Kuthenibacterium            |
|                |                 |                    |                     | iacialiformans                               |

| Phylum       | Class            | Order              | Family                | Genus Species                    |
|--------------|------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------------|
|              |                  |                    | Peptostreptococcaceae | Clostridioides difficile         |
|              |                  |                    | Unclassified          | Flintibacter sp., Intestinimonas |
|              |                  |                    |                       | butyriciproducens                |
|              | Erysipelotrichia | Erysipelotrichales | Coprobacillaceae      | Catenibacterium sp.              |
|              |                  |                    | Turicibacteraceae     | Turicibacter sp.                 |
| Spirochaetes | Spirochaetia     | Spirochaetales     | Treponemataceae       | Treponema sp.                    |
| Unclassified |                  |                    |                       | Uncultured human bacteria        |



Figure 5.1.Morbidity of pigs with and without fecal microbiota transplantation in addition to with and without PRRSV MLV vaccination prior to PRRSV challenge.

**A)** Percent morbidity during the FMT (-7 to 0 dpv), vaccination period (0 to 28 dpv) and the challenge period (28 to 70 dpv); data is shown as the percent of pigs in each group with clinical signs associated with PRRSV infection. **B and C**) show non-vaccinated and vaccinated groups, respectively.



Figure 5.2 Weight gain and ADG during transplantation (FMT), PRRS MLV vaccination and after PRRSV challenge.

**A** and **B**) Data is shown as the mean weight in  $kg \pm one$  standard deviation over the course of the 70-day study. **A**) Weight gain is shown together for all groups and well as, **B**) separated for pairwise comparison. There was significant variation associated time and time by vaccination

status (p < 0.0001 and p = 0.04; three-way ANOVA). Weights were found to be similar throughout the vaccination and challenge period (p > 0.1; Tukey's multiple comparison test). C) Data is shown as total ADG as violin plots, showing the frequency distribution of the data; lines are the median and quartiles. Mean ADG after PRRSV challenge was significantly different based on treatment (p = 0.002; two-way ANOVA) and inter-individual variation (p = 0.009; two-way ANOVA). Within the control groups, non-vaccinated pigs had significantly lower ADG compared to vaccinated pigs (p = 0.03; Tukey's multiple comparison test). Within the transplanted groups, non-vaccinated pigs also had significantly lower ADG in contrast to vaccinated pigs (p = 0.02; Tukey's multiple comparison tests).



# Figure 5.3 Time course of PRRSV viremia and viral load during vaccination and challenge periods.

**A and B)** Data is shown as the log<sub>10</sub> copy number per PCR reaction  $\pm 1$  standard deviation. **A)** Viremia is shown for all groups and well as, **B**) separated for pairwise comparison. While viremia was lower in transplanted pigs than control pigs during the vaccination period, this difference that was not significant (p > 0.1; Šidák's multiple comparisons). On the day of challenge (28 dpv), both non-vaccinated groups had lower viremia compared to their vaccinated counterparts (\*p < 0.0001; Tukey's multiple comparisons test). **C**) Data is shown as total viral load as violin plots, showing the frequency distribution of the data; lines are the median and quartiles. There was no significant difference in viral load both during the vaccination period as well as the challenge period (p = 0.24; unpaired *t*-test, and p > 0.1; two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test).



#### Figure 5.4 Detection of antibody in transplanted and control pigs.

**A and B)** Data is shown as the mean sample:positive ratio  $\pm 1$  standard deviation for PRRSV antibodies. **A)** During the vaccination period, there was significant variation attributed with time and individual pigs (p < 0.0001; two-way ANOVA). After PRRSV challenge there was significant variation due time, vaccination status, and time by vaccination status (p < 0.0001; three-way ANOVA); additionally there was a trend towards significance for variation due to transplantation status (p = 0.07; three-way ANOVA). **B)** On challenge day (28 dpv) together with 32 dpv, antibody levels were significantly higher in vaccinated compared to the non-vaccinated groups (\*p < 0.0001; unpaired *t*-tests). **C)** Data is shown as total antibody load as violin plots, showing the frequency distribution of the data; lines are the median and quartiles. There was no significant difference in antibody load during the vaccination period (p = 0.85; unpaired *t*-test). After challenge, there was significant variation associated with treatment and individual pigs (p = 0.02 and p = 0.0015, respectively; two-way ANOVA). Within control and transplanted, non-vaccinated pigs had a lower antibody load compared to vaccinated pigs (\*p = 0.03 and p = 0.02; Tukey's multiple comparisons test).



### Figure 5.5 Fecal microbiome diversity in pigs after 7 days of transplantation and prior to PRRRS MLV vaccination as detected by metagenomics.

Data is shown as violin plots, showing the frequency distribution of the data; lines are the median and quartiles. Total number of microbial phyla (top left panel), classes (top right panel), order (bottom left panel) and microbial species (bottom left panel) detected by the metagenomics with the four groups. There was a decrease in the number of phyla, orders and families within the vaccinated groups, between control and transplanted pigs (\*p = 0.02, \*p = 0.04, and †p = 0.06, respectively; Mann-Whitney tests). There was also a decrease in the number of classes and families within non-vaccinated groups, between control and transplanted pigs (†p = 0.05 and \*p = 0.03, respectively; Mann-Whitney tests).



## Figure 5.6. Fecal microbiome composition as detected by metagenomics after 7 days of transplantation and prior to PRRRS MLV vaccination.

Data shown as the mean relative abundance of bacterial families for high and low growth groups. Families making up 0.1% or less of all sequences detected plus unclassified microbes were grouped together and classified as "Other". **Top left panel**) Mean relative abundance of microbial phyla. There was a significant difference between the four groups within the phyla Bacteroidia and Spirochaetia (\*p < 0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test). **Top right panel**) Mean relative abundance of microbial classes. There was a significant difference between the four groups within the classes Bacteroides and Spirochaetes (\*p < 0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test). **Bottom left panel**) Mean relative abundance of microbial orders. There was a significant difference between the four groups within the orders Bacteroidiales, Bifidobacteriales and Spirochaetales (\*p < 0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test). **Bottom right panel**) Mean relative abundance of microbial families. There was a significant difference between the four groups within the orders Bacteroidiales, Bifidobacteriales and Spirochaetales (\*p < 0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test). **Bottom right panel**) Mean relative abundance of microbial families. There was a significant difference between the four groups within the families *Oscillospiraceae*, *Bacteroidaceae*, *Turicibacteraceae*, *Bifidobacteriaceae*, *Prevotellaceae*, *Treponemataceae*, and *Podoviridae* (\*p < 0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test).



### Figure 5.7. Differences found by metagenomics at different taxonomic levels 7 days after transplantation and prior to PRRSV MLV vaccination.

Data is shown as relative abundance between the four groups. Colored boxes represent microbial groups within the same taxonomic lineage (e.g. The phylum Bacteroides contains the class Bacteroidia, the family Bacteroidaceae in which the species Bacteroides xylanisolvens is contained. Also within the phylum Bacteroides, the family *Prevotellaceae* is contained). A) Within the phyla Bacteroidetes, there was a trend towards significant changes between the transplanted groups, with non-vaccinated pigs having a lower relative abundance compared to vaccinated pigs ( $\dagger p = 0.09$ ; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). **B**) Within the class Bacteroidia, there was a trend towards significant changes between the transplanted groups, with nonvaccinated pigs having a lower relative abundance compared to vaccinated pigs ( $\dagger p = 0.09$ ; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). C) Within the order Bacteroidiales, there was a trend towards significant changes between the transplanted groups, with non-vaccinated pigs having a lower relative abundance compared to vaccinated pigs ( $\dagger p = 0.09$ ; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). Within the order Micrococcales, there was a trend towards significant differences between control, non-vaccinated and vaccinated pigs ( $\dagger p = 0.08$ ; Dunn's multiple comparisons test) in addition to vaccinated, control and transplanted pigs ( $\dagger p = 0.08$ ; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). D) The family *Prevotellaceae* showed significant differences between the transplanted groups; non-vaccinated pigs had significantly lower Prevotellaceae relative abundance compared to vaccinated pigs (\*p = 0.04; Dunn's multiple comparison test). Within the family Microbacteraceae there were trends towards significant differences between control, nonvaccinated and vaccinated ( $\dagger p = 0.08$ ; Dunn's multiple comparisons test) as well as vaccinated, control and transplanted groups ( $\dagger p = 0.08$ ; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). Between the nonvaccinated groups, control pigs had lower Turicibacteraceae relative abundance than their transplanted counterparts (\*p = 0.04; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). E) Within transplanted pigs, non-vaccinated pigs had lower relative abundance of *Bacteroides xylanisolvens* than vaccinated pigs ( $\dagger p = 0.055$ ; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). Control pigs had a lower relative abundance of Turicibacter sp. compared to transplanted pigs, both non-vaccinated and vaccinated (p = 0.04 and 0.009; respectively; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). Control pigs also had a lower relative abundance of Ligilactobacillus ruminis compared to transplanted pigs, both non-vaccinated and vaccinated (\*p = 0.01 and \*p = 0.0499; respectively; Dunn's multiple comparisons test). Additionally, control pigs were found to have a lower relative abundance of *Limosilactobacillus pontis* compared to transplanted pigs, within non-vaccinated pig (\*p = 0.03; Dunn's multiple comparisons test).



# Figure 5.8. Microbial diversity as detected by RNA-Seq after 7 days of transplantation and prior to PRRRS MLV vaccination.

Data shown as the mean relative abundance of bacterial families for high and low growth groups. Families making up 0.1% or less of all sequences detected in 1 or more sample subsets in addition to unclassified microbes are grouped together and classified as "Other". Top left panel: Mean relative abundance of microbial phyla. Top right panel: Mean relative abundance of microbial classes/orders. Bottom left panel: Mean relative abundance of microbial families. Bottom right panel: Mean relative abundance of microbial species. Posavirus was found in higher quantities in transplanted pigs than control pigs, a significant difference (\*p = 0.02; Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons test)

#### **Chapter 6 - Conclusions and Future Directions**

PRRS has historically been and continues to be a difficult disease to control; genetic mutations lead to phenotypic variations and make control through vaccines difficult. We demonstrated that even between two isolates that disease progression can be almost non-overlapping. Since the current PRRS MLV vaccines are inefficient, we identified the need for alternative or adjunct control methods. While many methods are being explored, the gut microbiome offers several benefits. It can be used to not only to modify microbial populations within the gut, but also lead to immunological changes throughout the body without using antimicrobials. Gut microbiome modulated immunological changes could also enhance in the efficacy of the PRRS MLV vaccine.

Within our first study we demonstrated how genetic changes of PRRSV can result in significant variation in clinical disease presentation. This data should be used to compare phenotypic outcomes with host genotypes. Our group has previously shown the pig SNP WUR10000125 (WUR) was associated with weight gain and viremia variation.<sup>87,89,174</sup> In order to correlate previously identified SNPs with outcome we identified the need to create larger objective sets of clinical phenotype data. Since clinical data is inherently subjective, we created a new scoring system that transformed qualitative data into semi-quantitative data, which we designated the mean clinical score. Future work should focus on correlating not only this phenotypic data to genotypic data with genome-wide association studies, but also expand our knowledge of other PRRSV isolates. This system could also be used to identify resistance to other high impact swine diseases such as African and classical swine fever.

Within two of our studies we used PCV with PRRSV as a co-infection model. However, in current production settings, PCV2 is less commonly found due to the widespread use of

vaccines. Other co-infection organisms should be explored that create more common conditions, specifically bacteria such as *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*, *Pasteurella multocida*, and *Bordatella bronchiseptica*.

The remaining studies were dedicated to understanding how gut microbiome differences could aid in PRRSV control. Within these studies we utilized various methods of microbiome analysis; the Lawrence Livermore Detection Microbial Detection Array (LLMDA), 16 rDNA sequencing as well as next generation sequencing (NGS) on an Illumina Platform. These studies highlight the advantage and disadvantages of the different methods. LLMDA is a relatively simple method to detect all species that have been annotated with NCBI Genbank; however, quantitative data cannot be gained from this method. 16S rDNA results in semi-quantitative data of relative abundance; however, it can only detect bacterial species. NGS has the ability to provide both qualitative and quantitative data; however, it requires more expertise to analyze. We are the first study, to our knowledge to use RNA-seq to identify RNA viruses within the gut microbiome. Future studies should consider the use of this technology to describe viruses, as we found one virus, posavirus, significantly different between experimental treatments.

We understand that limitations may have affected our studies the associated results. Our first study had sufficient numbers for genome-wide association studies; however, our initial gut microbiome studies lack sufficient sample size to identify minor effects. This likely means that, in terms of significant associations, we are likely at the tip of the iceberg. For example, small effects seen by relatively low abundance microbes would not been detected. Therefore, larger samples sizes are needed to fully demonstrate associations and determine molecular and metabolic pathways that can be manipulated through the gut microbiome.

In our studies we focused on the gut microbiome; there are advances to this model. It is a non-invasive sample to collect that can be tested serially. However, sampling within different locations could result in different results. This includes not only different locations within the feces itself, but different locations in the gastrointestinal tract, in addition to other body systems such as the respiratory tract. Even within the fecal samples itself, microbes may not be homogenously distributed. In future studies it might be better to homogenize the samples with a blender before analyzing the microbiome. Sampling in different gastrointestinal locations will also give different results. Previous studies have shown that microbes differ along the swine gastrointestinal tract,<sup>498</sup> as well as between the mucosal layer and contents within the gut lumen.<sup>499</sup> However, collecting these samples may be invasive or result in terminal data due to the methods required to collect them. In terms of PRRS, it would also be good to look at the respiratory microbiome and the immune response in the respiratory tract. Our previous data has shown that the respiratory tract is not a sterile environment.<sup>328</sup> It is likely that respiratory microbiome differences are correlated to differences in PRRSV-associated outcomes and immunological responses. Therefore, it is necessary to study this environment to determine if microbial modulation would aid in PRRSV vaccine efficacy as well as decrease PRRSVassociated disease. Respiratory immune response is also important to understand; future studies should consider bronchioalveolar lavage to analyze secretory IgA and other cytokines.

The gut microbiome is incredibly complex and minute genetic and environmental alterations can have substantial effects. While the pigs used in these study represent commercial pigs, they are still genetic crosses. Genetics has been shown to affect the gut microbiome.<sup>278</sup> While these pigs were sibling pairs, we couldn't rule out differences due to genetics. It will be important to rule out differences due to host genetics when understanding gut microbiome

variations. Additionally, previous studies have shown the effect of antimicrobials on the swine gut microbiome; some of the earliest microbiome studies were conducted to study antimicrobial effects on the gut microbiome.<sup>248,249,252</sup> While the sows used for FMT had not received antibiotics in 15 months, antibiotics are known to have long-term effects<sup>50,500-502</sup> and could lead to changes for which we cannot account. Additionally, with many gut microbes contributing to outcome, it is hard to parse out the effect of single organisms. In an ideal situation, pigs would only have one microbe within their gut at a time to study its effects. However, synergistic effects would be missed using this method. One method of depleting the microbiome involves the use of multiple antimicrobials. With a growing concern for antimicrobial resistance, and with the known effects of antimicrobials, this may no longer be the best way to look at specific microbes. While consideration can be given to cesarean section pigs lacking a gut microbiome, this is time intensive and requires expertise in this area. For that reason, other options should be considered. Realistically and fully understanding the complexity of gut microbiome is, thus, complicated at best.

Within our first FMT study, we used fecal material from two high-health sows as our FMT to study the effects on PRRSV- and PCV2-associated outcome. Because we are using feces to transplant into the pigs, we can't define all of the components being given. Feces is known to contain colonocytes, secretory IgA (sIgA), plant material, sugars, oligosaccharides, live and dead microorganisms, in addition to microbial metabolites such as short-chain fatty acids.<sup>503</sup> In addition to the microbial composition, future studies should identify prebiotics and postbiotics that might be contained in the fecal transplant material. Synergistic effects occurring between pre-, pro-, post-, and synbiotics (pre- and probiotic combination) have been previously described and likely complicate our understanding of the gut microbiome.<sup>365,366,504</sup> It would be relevant to

isolate parts of the transplant material and give them individually as well as together. Immunological studies should be done to look at lymphocyte populations within the fecal transplant material as well as sIgA.

Within the last two studies we looked at the relationship of the gut microbiome and PRRSV MLV vaccine. In one study we looked at gut microbiome differences in high and low growth, PRRSV MLV vaccinated, PRRSV/PCV2 challenged pigs. To fully understand the effect of the vaccine, we still need to compare non-vaccinated to the vaccinated pigs. In this study we also used the PRRSV/PCV2 co-infection model. This could complicate vaccine effects, as we know that the PRRSV vaccine potentiates PCV2 replication.<sup>116</sup> Pigs used in this study were subclinical; this had both advantages and disadvantages. While these pigs had no received antimicrobials, differences in clinical disease were more subtle, likely making gut microbiome differences more difficult to detect.

Within the next study, we gave the FMT from the first study to look at its effects on the PRRS MLV vaccine. We found that FMT lessened vaccine-associated viremia. Previous studies have shown that viremia is correlated with virus shedding;<sup>482</sup> therefore, decreased viremia could potentially lead to decreased virus shedding. Oronasal and fecal secretions should be analyzed for virus shedding after FMT administration. RNA-seq data allowed us to determine the population of RNA viruses within the gut microbiome. However, this technology has the capability to provide additional information. It can be used to determine transcriptionally active microbes within the gut, as well as the host fecal transcriptome. This could provide information about microbes that are active within the gut and metabolic and immunological pathways that are up or down regulated.

For future studies involving the gut microbiome and the PRRS MLV vaccine it would be good to look at high and low antibody producers to compare gut microbiome differences. Differential antibody production might better predict what bacteria are associated with improved outcome than growth and better to discriminate between groups. It would also be beneficial to administer single microbial isolates isolated in the previous studies to determine their effects on the PRRSV vaccine.

PRRSV is a genetically diverse virus that leads to changes in phenotypic outcome, making it a difficult disease to diagnose, control and prevent. The gut microbiome is a promising alternative tool for PRRS control, due to its important role in both immunity and weight gain. Our research provides initial evidence for the potential application of the microbiome as an alterative tool for improving response during PRRSV vaccination and infection.

### References

1. Holtkamp DJ, Kliebenstein JB, Neumann EJ, et al. Assessment of the economic impact of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus on United States pork producers. *Journal of Swine Health and Production* 2013;21:72-84.

2. Wensvoort G, Terpstra C, Pol JMA, et al. Mystery swine disease in The Netherlands: the isolation of Lelystad virus. *The Veterinary quarterly* 1991;13:121-130.

3. Keffaber KK. Reproductive failure of unknown etiology. *American Association of Swine Practitioners News* 1989;1:1-9.

4. Wensvoort G, Terpstra C, Pol JMA. ['Lelystad agent'--the cause of abortus blauw (mystery swine disease)]. *Tijdschr Diergeneeskd* 1991;116:675-676.

5. Zimmerman JJ, Yoon KJ, Benfield DA, et al. 2003 PRRS Compendium Producer Edition: National Pork Board, 2003.

6. Canelli E, Catella A, Borghetti P, et al. Phenotypic characterization of a highly pathogenic Italian porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) type 1 subtype 1 isolate in experimentally infected pigs. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2017;210:124-133.

7. Halbur PG, Paul PS, Meng X-J, et al. Comparative Pathogenicity of Nine US Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV) Isolates in a Five-Week-Old Cesarean-Derived, Colostrum-Deprived Pig Model. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 1996;8:11-20.

8. Halbur PG, Paul PS, Frey ML, et al. Comparison of the Pathogenicity of Two US Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Isolates with that of the Lelystad Virus. *Veterinary Pathology* 1995;32:648-660.

9. Mengeling WL, Vorwald AC, Lager KM, et al. Diagnosis of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome using infected alveolar macrophages collected from live pigs. *Veterinary Microbiology* 1996;49:105-115.

10. Kwon T, Yoo SJ, Park JW, et al. Genomic characteristics and pathogenicity of natural recombinant porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus 2 harboring genes of a Korean field strain and VR-2332-like strain. *Virology* 2019;530:89-98.

11. Kvisgaard LK, Larsen LE, Hjulsager CK, et al. Genetic and biological characterization of a Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus 2 (PRRSV-2) causing significant clinical disease in the field. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2017;211:74-83.

12. Fan B, Zhang H, Bai J, et al. Pathogenesis of highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in Chinese Tibetan swine. *Research in Veterinary Science* 2016;108:33-37.

13. Stevenson GW, Van Alstine WG, Kanitz CL, et al. Endemic Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Infection of Nursery Pigs in Two Swine Herds without Current Reproductive Failure. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 1993;5:432-434.

14. Kimman TG, Cornelissen LA, Moormann RJ, et al. Challenges for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) vaccinology. *Vaccine* 2009;27:3704-3718.

15. Bøtner A, Strandbygaard B, Sørensen KJ, et al. Appearance of acute PRRS-like symptoms in sow herds after vaccination with a modified live PRRS vaccine. *Veterinary Record* 1997;141:497-499.

16. Dokland T. The structural biology of PRRSV. Virus Research 2010;154:86-97.

17. Kuhn JH, Lauck M, Bailey AL, et al. Reorganization and expansion of the nidoviral family Arteriviridae. *Archives of virology* 2016;161:755-768.

18. Gulyaeva A, Dunowska M, Hoogendoorn E, et al. Domain Organization and Evolution of the Highly Divergent 5' Coding Region of Genomes of Arteriviruses, Including the Novel Possum Nidovirus. *Journal of virology* 2017;91:e02096-02016.

19. Duan X, Nauwynck HJ, Pensaert MB. Effects of origin and state of differentiation and activation of monocytes/macrophages on their susceptibility to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). *Archives of virology* 1997;142:2483-2497.

20. Collins JE, Benfield Da, Christianson WT, et al. Isolation of swine infertility and respiratory syndrome virus (isolate ATCC VR-2332) in North America and experimental reproduction of the disease in gnotobiotic pigs. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 1992;4:117-126.

21. Benfield Da, Nelson E, Collins JE, et al. Characterization of swine infertility and respiratory syndrome (SIRS) virus (isolate ATCC VR-2332). *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 1992;4:127-133.

22. Gulyaeva AA, Lauber C, Samborskiy DV, et al. Evolutionary based classification of genomic diversity of nidoviruses connects metagenomics and experimental research. 14th International Nidovirus Symposium 2017;4-9.

23. Wensvoort G, de Kluyver EP, Luijtze EA, et al. Antigenic Comparison of Lelystad Virus and Swine Infertility and Respiratory Syndrome (SIRS) Virus. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 1992;4:134-138.

24. Beerens N, Snijder EJ. An RNA pseudoknot in the 3' end of the arterivirus genome has a critical role in regulating viral RNA synthesis. *Journal of virology* 2007;81:9426-9436.

25. Choi Y-J, Yun S-I, Kang S-Y, et al. Identification of 5' and 3' cis-acting elements of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: acquisition of novel 5' AU-rich sequences restored replication of a 5'-proximal 7-nucleotide deletion mutant. *Journal of virology* 2006;80:723-736.

26. Verheije M, Olsthoorn R, Kroese M, et al. Kissing interaction between 3' noncoding and coding sequences is essential for porcine arterivirus RNA replication. *Journal of virology* 2002;76:1521-1526.

27. Yin Y, Liu C, Liu P, et al. Conserved nucleotides in the terminus of the 3' UTR region are important for the replication and infectivity of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Archives of virology* 2013;158:1719-1732.

28. Prieto C, Vazquez A, Nunez JI, et al. Influence of time on the genetic heterogeneity of Spanish porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolates. *Vet J* 2009;180:363-370.
29. Chang CC, Yoon KJ, Zimmerman JJ, et al. Evolution of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus during Sequential Passages in Pigs. *Journal of Virology* 2002;76:4750-4763.

30. Pitkin A, Deen J, Dee S. Further assessment of fomites and personnel as vehicles for the mechanical transport and transmission of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 2009;73:298-302.

31. Lager K, Mengeling W, Wesley R. Evidence for local spread of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Journal of Swine Health and Production* 2002;10.

32. Otake S, Dee SA, Rossow KD, et al. Transmission of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by fomites (boots and coveralls). *Journal of Swine Health and Production* 2002;10:59-65.

33. Yoon K-J, Zimmerman JJ, Chang C-C, et al. Effect of challenge dose and route on porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) infection in young swine. *Veterinary Research* 1999;30:629-638.

34. Hermann JR, Muñoz-Zanzi CA, Roof MB, et al. Probability of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus infection as a function of exposure route and dose. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2005;110:7-16.

35. Otake S, Dee SA, Rossow KD, et al. Transmission of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by needles. *Veterinary record* 2002;150:114-115.

36. Bierk MD, Dee SA, Rossow KD, et al. Transmission of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus from persistently infected sows to contact controls. *Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 2001;65:261-266.

37. Batista L, Dee SA, Rossow KD, et al. Assessing the duration of persistence and shedding of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in a large population of breeding-age gilts. *Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 2002;66:196-200.

38. Terpstra C, Wensvoort G, Pol JMA. Experimental reproduction of porcine epidemic abortion and respiratory syndrome (mystery swine disease) by infection with Lelystad virus: Koch's postulates fulfilled. *Veterinary Quarterly* 1991;13:131-136.

39. Christopher-Hennings J, Holler LD, Benfield DA, et al. Detection and Duration of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus in Semen, Serum, Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells, and Tissues from Yorkshire, Hampshire, and Landrace Boars. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 2001;13:133-142.

40. Rowland RRR. The interaction between PRRSV and the late gestation pig fetus. *Virus research* 2010;154:114-122.

41. Kranker S, Nielsen J, Bille-Hansen V, et al. Experimental inoculation of swine at various stages of gestation with a Danish isolate of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). *Veterinary Microbiology* 1998;61:21-31.

42. Lager KM, Halbur PG. Gross and Microscopic Lesions in Porcine Fetuses Infected with Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 1996;8:275-282.

43. Cho JG, Dee SA, Deen J, et al. Evaluation of the effects of animal age concurrent bacterial infection and pathogenicity or PRRSV on virus concentration. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 2006;67:489-493.

44. Rossow KD, Bautista EM, Goyal SM, et al. Experimental Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Infection in One-, Four-, and 10-Week-Old Pigs. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 1994;6:3-12.

45. Christianson WT, Choi CS, Collins JE, et al. Pathogenesis of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in mid-gestation sows and fetuses. *Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 1993;57:262-268.

46. Wagstrom EA, Chang C-C, Yoon K-J, et al. Shedding of PRRS Virus in Milk and Colostrum: Iowa State University Digital Repository, 1998.

47. Wills RW, Zimmerman JJ, Yoon K-J, et al. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: routes of excretion. *Veterinary Microbiology* 1997;57:69-81.

48. Prieto C, Simarro I, Castro JM, et al. Temporal shedding and persistence of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in boars. *Veterinary record* 2004;154:824-827.

49. Swenson SL, Hill HT, Zimmerman JJ, et al. Excretion of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in semen after experimentally induced infection in boars. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 1994;204:1943.

50. !!! INVALID CITATION !!! {}.

51. Cutler TD, Wang C, Hoff SJ, et al. Median infectious dose (ID50) of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolate MN-184 via aerosol exposure. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2011;151:229-237.

52. Hermann JR, Muñoz-Zanzi CA, Zimmerman JJ. A method to provide improved doseresponse estimates for airborne pathogens in animals: an example using porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Veterinary microbiology* 2009;133:297-302.

53. Duan X, Nauwynck HJ, Pensaert MB. Virus quantification and identification of cellular targets in the lungs and lymphoid tissues of pigs at different time intervals after inoculation with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). *Veterinary Microbiology* 1997;56:9-19.

54. Dee SA, Bauermann FV, Niederwerder MC, et al. Survival of viral pathogens in animal feed ingredients under transboundary shipping models. *PLoS One* 2018;13:e0194509.

55. Reotutar R. Swine reproductive failure syndrome mystifies scientists. *J Am Vet Med Assoc* 1989;195:425-428.

56. Nielsen TL, Nielsen J, Have P, et al. Examination of virus shedding in semen from vaccinated and from previously infected boars after experimental challenge with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Veterinary microbiology* 1997;54:101-112.

57. Maes D, Van Soom A, Appeltant R, et al. Porcine semen as a vector for transmission of viral pathogens. *Theriogenology* 2016;85:27-38.

58. de Jong MF, Cromwijk W, Van 't Veld P. The epidemiology of PRRS in the Netherlands. European Commission (Directorate General for Agriculture) seminar/workshop on PRRS April 29-30, 1991;9-19.

59. Schulze M, Revilla-Fernández S, Schmoll F, et al. Effects on boar semen quality after infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: a case report. *Acta veterinaria Scandinavica* 2013;55:16-16.

60. Feitsma H, Grooten H, Schie F, et al. The effect of porcine epidemic abortion and respiratory syndrome (PEARS) on sperm production. *PrOf 12thInt Congr Anim Reprod* 1992:1710-1712. 61. Prieto C, Suárez P, Bautista JM, et al. Semen changes in boars after experimental infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus. *Theriogenology* 1996;45:383-395.

62. Swenson SL, Hill HT, Zimmerman JJ, et al. Artificial insemination of gilts with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus-contaminated semen. *Swine health and production* 1994;2.

63. Loula T. Clinical presentation of mystery swine disease in the breeding herd and suckling piglets. *Proc Mystery Swine Disease Comittee Meeting*, 1990;37-40.

64. Hopper SA, White MEC, Twiddy N. An outbreak of blue-eared pig disease PRRSV in four pig herds in Great Britain. *The Veterinary Record* 1992;131:140-144.

65. Rossow KD. Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome. *Veterinary Pathology* 1998;35:1-20.

66. Epperson B, Holler L. An abortion storm and sow mortality syndrome. Proceedings of the American Association of Swine Practitioners, Quebec, Canada 1997;p479-484.
67. Halbur PG, Bush EB. Update on abortion storms and sow mortality. *Swine Health and Production* 1997;5:73.

68. Zhou L, Yang H. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome in China. *Virus Research* 2010;154:31-37.

69. Tian K, Yu X, Zhao T, et al. Emergence of fatal PRRSV variants: unparalleled outbreaks of atypical PRRS in China and molecular dissection of the unique hallmark. *PLoS One* 2007;2:e526.

70. Li Y, Wang X, Bo K, et al. Emergence of a highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in the Mid-Eastern region of China. *Vet J* 2007;174:577-584.

71. Sundberg P. SHIC/AASV PRRS 1-4-4 Lineage 1c Webinar Provides Information on Recent Outbreaks. 2021. Accessed June 10, 2021, 2021.

72. Christianson WT, Collins JE, Pijoan C, et al. Swine infertility and respiratory syndrome. *Pig Veterinary Journal* 1991;29:9-12.

73. Hill H. Overview and history of Mystery Swine Disease (swine infertility/respiratory syndrome). *Proc Mystery Swine Disease Committee Meeting, Livestock Conservation Institute, Denver, Colorado*, 1990;29-31.

74. Rossow K, Shivers J, Yeske P, et al. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in neonatal pigs characterised by marked neurovirulence. *Veterinary Record* 1999;144:444-448.

75. Opriessnig T, Giménez-Lirola LG, Halbur PG. Polymicrobial respiratory disease in pigs. *Animal Health Research Reviews* 2011;12:133-148.

76. Zachary JF, McGavin MD. *Pathologic basis of veterinary disease*. 5th edition.. ed. St.Louis, Mo.: St.Louis, Mo. : Elsevier, 2012.

77. Brockmeier S, Halbur P, Thacker E. *Polymicrobial Diseases*. Washington, DC: ASM Press, 2002.

78. Pomorska-Mól M, Dors A, Kwit K, et al. Kinetics of single and dual infection of pigs with swine influenza virus and Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2017;201:113-120.

79. Salak-Johnson JL, McGlone JJ. Making sense of apparently conflicting data: Stress and immunity in swine and cattle1. *Journal of Animal Science* 2007;85:E81-E88.

80. Blecha F, Kelley KW. Effects of cold and weaning stressors on the antibody-mediated immune response of pigs. *Journal of animal science* 1981;53:439.

81. Blecha F, Pollmann DS, Nichols DA. Immunologic reactions of pigs regrouped at or near weaning. *American journal of veterinary research* 1985;46:1934.

82. Kelley KW. Immunological Consequences of Changing Environmental Stimuli In: Moberg GP, ed. *Animal Stress*. New York, NY: Springer New York, 1985;193-223.

83. Westly HJ, Kelley KW. Physiologic concentrations of cortisol suppress cell-mediated immune events in the domestic pig. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, NY)* 1984;177:156.

84. Yen JT, Pond WG. Effect of dietary supplementation with vitamin C or carbadox on weanling pigs subjected to crowding stress. *Journal of animal science* 1987;64:1672.

85. Halbur PG, Rothschild MF, Thacker BJ, et al. Differences in susceptibility of Duroc, Hampshire, and Meishan pigs to infection with a high virulence strain (VR2385) of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). *Journal of Animal Breeding and Genetics* 1998;115:181-189.

86. Opriessnig T, Fenaux M, Thomas P, et al. Evidence of Breed-dependent Differences in Susceptibility to Porcine Circovirus Type-2-associated Disease and Lesions. *Veterinary Pathology* 2006;43:281-293.

87. Boddicker N, Waide EH, Rowland RRR, et al. Evidence for a major QTL associated with host response to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus challenge. *Journal of Animal Science* 2012;90:1733-1746.

88. Boddicker NJ, Bjorkquist A, Rowland RR, et al. Genome-wide association and genomic prediction for host response to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection. *Genetics Selection Evolution* 2014;46:18.

89. Waide EH, Tuggle CK, Serão NVL, et al. Genomewide association of piglet responses to infection with one of two porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolates. *Journal of Animal Science* 2017;95.

90. Meehan BM, McNeilly F, Todd D, et al. Characterization of novel circovirus DNAs associated with wasting syndromes in pigs. *The Journal of general virology* 1998;79 (Pt 9):2171-2179.

91. Gillespie J, Opriessnig T, Meng XJ, et al. Porcine circovirus type 2 and porcine circovirusassociated disease. *Journal of veterinary internal medicine* 2009;23:1151-1163.

92. Segales J. Porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) infections: clinical signs, pathology and laboratory diagnosis. *Virus Res* 2012;164:10-19.

93. Sanchez RE, Meerts P, Nauwynck HJ, et al. Change of porcine circovirus 2 target cells in pigs during development from fetal to early postnatal life. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2003;95:15-25.

94. Sato K, Shibahara T, Ishikawa Y, et al. Evidence of Porcine Circovirus Infection in Pigs with Wasting Disease Syndrome from 1985 to 1999 in Hokkaido, Japan. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science* 2000;62:627-633.

95. Krakowka S, Ellis JA, McNeilly F, et al. Immunologic features of porcine circovirus type 2 infection. *Viral immunology* 2002;15:567-582.

96. Chianini F, Majó N, Segalés J, et al. Immunohistochemical characterisation of PCV2 associate lesions in lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissues of pigs with natural postweaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS). *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology* 2003;94:63-75.

97. Nayar GP, Hamel A, Lin L. Detection and characterization of porcine circovirus associated with postweaning multisystemic wasting syndrome in pigs. *Can Vet J* 1997;38:385-386.

98. Clark E. Pathology of the post-weaning multisystemic wasting syndrome of pigs. *Proc West Can Assoc Swine Pract* 1997;28:22-25.

99. Ellis J, Hassard L, Clark E, et al. Isolation of circovirus from lesions of pigs with postweaning multisystemic wasting syndrome. *Can Vet J* 1998;39:44-51.

100. Smith WJ, Thomson JR, Done S. Dermatitis/nephropathy syndrome of pigs. *Veterinary record* 1993;132:47-47.

101. Rosell C, Segalés J, Ramos-Vara JA, et al. Identification of porcine circovirus in tissues of pigs with porcine dermatitis and nephropathy syndrome. *Veterinary record* 2000;146:40-43.

102. Drolet R, Thibault S, D'Allaire S, et al. Porcine dermatitis and nephropathy syndrome (PDNS): An overview of the disease. *Journal of Swine Health and Production* 1999;7.

103. Nedumpun T, Sirisereewan C, Thanmuan C, et al. Induction of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV)-specific regulatory T lymphocytes (Treg) in the lungs and

tracheobronchial lymph nodes of PRRSV-infected pigs. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2018;216:13-19.

104. Manickam C, Dwivedi V, Patterson R, et al. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus induces pronounced immune modulatory responses at mucosal tissues in the parental vaccine strain VR2332 infected pigs. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2013;162:68-77.

105. Fan B, Liu X, Bai J, et al. The 15N and 46R Residues of Highly Pathogenic Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Nucleocapsid Protein Enhance Regulatory T Lymphocytes Proliferation. *PloS one* 2015;10:e0138772-e0138772.

106. Chen Y, Wang Y, Zeng K, et al. Knockdown expression of IL-10Rα gene inhibits PRRSV replication and elevates immune responses in PBMCs of Tibetan pig in vitro. *Veterinary Research Communications* 2018;42:11-18.

107. Hou J, Wang L, Quan R, et al. Induction of interleukin-10 is dependent on p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway in macrophages infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Virology journal* 2012;9:165-165.

108. Liu X, Fan B, Bai J, et al. The N-N non-covalent domain of the nucleocapsid protein of type 2 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus enhances induction of IL-10 expression. *Journal of General Virology* 2015;96:1276-1286.

109. Renukaradhya GJ, Alekseev K, Jung K, et al. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus-induced immunosuppression exacerbates the inflammatory response to porcine respiratory coronavirus in pigs. *Viral immunology* 2010;23:457-466.

110. Yu J, Liu Y, Zhang Y, et al. The integrity of PRRSV nucleocapsid protein is necessary for up-regulation of optimal interleukin-10 through NF-κB and p38 MAPK pathways in porcine alveolar macrophages. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 2017;109:319-324.

111. Jung K, Renukaradhya GJ, Alekseev KP, et al. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus modifies innate immunity and alters disease outcome in pigs subsequently infected with porcine respiratory coronavirus: implications for respiratory viral co-infections. *Journal of general virology* 2009;90:2713-2723.

112. Chen J, Shi X, Zhang X, et al. MicroRNA 373 Facilitates the Replication of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus by Its Negative Regulation of Type I Interferon Induction. *Journal of virology* 2017;91:e01311-01316.

113. Liu K, Ma G, Liu X, et al. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus counteracts type I interferon-induced early antiviral state by interfering IRF7 activity. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2019;229:28-38.

114. Zhou Y, Bai J, Li Y, et al. Suppression of immune responses in pigs by nonstructural protein 1 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 2012;76:255-260.

115. Chung WB, Lin MW, Chang WF, et al. Persistence of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in intensive farrow-to-finish pig herds. *Canadian journal of veterinary research* = *Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 1997;61:292-298.

116. Niederwerder MC, Bawa B, Serao NV, et al. Vaccination with a Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome (PRRS) Modified Live Virus Vaccine Followed by Challenge with PRRS Virus and Porcine Circovirus Type 2 (PCV2) Protects against PRRS but Enhances PCV2 Replication and Pathogenesis Compared to Results for Nonvaccinated Cochallenged Controls. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* 2015;22:1244-1254.

117. Trible BR, Ramirez A, Suddith A, et al. Antibody responses following vaccination versus infection in a porcine circovirus-type 2 (PCV2) disease model show distinct differences in virus neutralization and epitope recognition. *Vaccine* 2012;30:4079-4085.

118. Niederwerder MC, Jaing CJ, Thissen JB, et al. Microbiome associations in pigs with the best and worst clinical outcomes following co-infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2). *Veterinary microbiology* 2016;188:1-11.

119. Rowland RRR, Lawson S, Rossow K, et al. Lymphoid tissue tropism of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication during persistent infection of pigs originally exposed to virus in utero. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2003;96:219-235.

120. Opriessnig T, Langohr I. Current state of knowledge on porcine circovirus type 2-associated lesions. *Vet Pathol* 2013;50:23-38.

121. An TQ, Li JN, Su CM, et al. Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms for PRRSV Pathogenesis and Host Response to Infection. *Virus research* 2020:197980.

122. Meng XJ. Porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2): pathogenesis and interaction with the immune system. *Annual review of animal biosciences* 2013;1:43-64.

123. Allan GM, McNeilly F, Ellis J, et al. Experimental infection of colostrum deprived piglets with porcine circovirus 2 (PCV2) and porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) potentiates PCV2 replication. *Archives of Virology* 2000;145:2421-2429.

124. Holtkamp D, Lin H, Wang C, et al. Development and Validation of an Objective Risk Scoring System for Assessing the Likelihood of Virus Introduction in Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus-Free Sow Farms in the US. *Open Journal of Veterinary Medicine* 2013;03:168-175.

125. Holtkamp DJ, Lin H, Wang C, et al. Identifying questions in the American Association of Swine Veterinarian's PRRS risk assessment survey that are important for retrospectively classifying swine herds according to whether they reported clinical PRRS outbreaks in the previous 3 years. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2012;106:42-52.

126. Bottoms K, Poljak Z, Dewey C, et al. Evaluation of external biosecurity practices on southern Ontario sow farms. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2013;109:58-68.

127. Bottoms K, Poljak Z, Dewey C, et al. Investigation of strategies for the introduction and transportation of replacement gilts on southern Ontario sow farms. *BMC veterinary research* 2012;8:217-217.

128. Alkhamis MA, Arruda AG, Vilalta C, et al. Surveillance of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in the United States using risk mapping and species distribution modeling. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2018;150:135-142.

129. Rovira A, Reicks D, Munoz-Zanzi C. Evaluation of surveillance protocols for detecting porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in boar studs by simulation modeling. *Journal of veterinary diagnostic investigation* 2007;19:492-501.

130. Alkhamis MA, Arruda AG, Morrison RB, et al. Novel approaches for Spatial and Molecular Surveillance of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSv) in the United States. *Scientific Reports* 2017;7:4343.

131. Henao-Diaz A, Zhang M, Giménez-Lirola L, et al. Adapting a porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) oral fluid antibody ELISA to routine surveillance. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2021;188:105250.

132. Jackson PGG. *Handbook of pig medicine*. Edinburgh, New York: New York : Saunders/Elsevier, 2007.

133. Fablet C, Marois-Créhan C, Grasland B, et al. Factors associated with herd-level PRRSV infection and age-time to seroconversion in farrow-to-finish herds. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2016;192:10-20.

134. Evans CM, Medley GF, Green LE. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) in GB pig herds: farm characteristics associated with heterogeneity in seroprevalence. *BMC veterinary research* 2008;4:48-48.

135. Lambert M-È, Poljak Z, Arsenault J, et al. Epidemiological investigations in regard to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) in Quebec, Canada. Part 1: Biosecurity practices and their geographical distribution in two areas of different swine density. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2012;104:74-83.

136. Lambert M-È, Arsenault J, Poljak Z, et al. Epidemiological investigations in regard to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) in Quebec, Canada. Part 2: Prevalence and risk factors in breeding sites. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2012;104:84-93.

137. Alonso C, Murtaugh MP, Dee SA, et al. Epidemiological study of air filtration systems for preventing PRRSV infection in large sow herds. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2013;112:109-117.

138. Dee S, Cano JP, Spronk G, et al. Evaluation of the long-term effect of air filtration on the occurrence of new PRRSV infections in large breeding herds in swine-dense regions. *Viruses* 2012;4:654-662.

139. Alonso C, Otake S, Davies P, et al. An evaluation of interventions for reducing the risk of PRRSV introduction to filtered farms via retrograde air movement through idle fans. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2012;157:304-310.

140. Dee S, Spronk G, Reicks D, et al. Further assessment of air filtration for preventing PRRSV infection in large breeding pig herds. *Veterinary Record* 2010;167:976-977.

141. Dee S, Otake S, Deen J. Use of a production region model to assess the efficacy of various air filtration systems for preventing airborne transmission of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae: Results from a 2-year study. *Virus Research* 2010;154:177-184.

142. Spronk G, Otake S, Dee S. Prevention of PRRSV infection in large breeding herds using air filtration. *Veterinary Record* 2010;166:758-759.

143. Dee S, Pitkin A, Deen J. Evaluation of alternative strategies to MERV 16-based air filtration systems for reduction of the risk of airborne spread of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2009;138:106-113.

144. Dee SA, Deen J, Cano JP, et al. Further evaluation of alternative air-filtration systems for reducing the transmission of Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by aerosol. *Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 2006;70:168-175.

145. Dee SA, Batista L, Deen J, et al. Evaluation of systems for reducing the transmission of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by aerosol. *Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 2006;70:28-33.

146. Dee S, Batista L, Deen J, et al. Evaluation of an air-filtration system for preventing aerosol transmission of Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 2005;69:293-298.

147. Eisenlöffel L, Reutter T, Horn M, et al. Impact of UVC-sustained recirculating air filtration on airborne bacteria and dust in a pig facility. *PloS one* 2019;14:e0225047-e0225047.

148. Pyburn D, Schwartz K. A Review of Segregated Early Weaning: Digital Repository @ Iowa State University, 1995.

149. Blecha F, Pollmann DS, Nichols DA. Weaning pigs at an early age decreases cellular immunity. *Journal of animal science* 1983;56:396.

150. Smith F, Clark JE, Overman BL, et al. Early weaning stress impairs development of mucosal barrier function in the porcine intestine. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2010;298:G352-363.

151. McLamb BL, Gibson AJ, Overman EL, et al. Early weaning stress in pigs impairs innate mucosal immune responses to enterotoxigenic E. coli challenge and exacerbates intestinal injury and clinical disease. *PLoS One* 2013;8:e59838.

152. Moeser AJ, Ryan KA, Nighot PK, et al. Gastrointestinal dysfunction induced by early weaning is attenuated by delayed weaning and mast cell blockade in pigs. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2007;293:G413-421.

153. Moeser AJ, Klok CV, Ryan KA, et al. Stress signaling pathways activated by weaning mediate intestinal dysfunction in the pig. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2007;292:G173-181.

154. Corzo CA, Mondaca E, Wayne S, et al. Control and elimination of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Virus Research* 2010;154:185-192.

155. Linhares DCL, Cano JP, Torremorell M, et al. Comparison of time to PRRSv-stability and production losses between two exposure programs to control PRRSv in sow herds. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2014;116:111-119.

156. Dee SA, Morrison RB, Joo HS. Eradicating porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus using two-site production and nursery depopulation. *Swine health and production* 1993;1.

157. Dee SA, Joo HS, Polson DD, et al. Evaluation of the effects of nursery depopulation on the persistence of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and the productivity of 34 farms. *Veterinary Record* 1997;140:247-248.

158. Dee SA, Philips R. Using vaccination and unidirectional pig flow to control PRRSV transmission. *Swine health and production* 1998;6.

159. Dee SA. Elimination of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus from 30 farms by test and removal. *Journal of swine health and production* 2004;12:129-133.

160. Dee SA, Bierk MD, Deen J, et al. An evaluation of test and removal for the elimination of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus from 5 swine farms. *Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire* 2001;65:22-27.

161. Dee SA, Molitor TW. Elimination of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus using a test and removal process, 1998.

162. Han K, Seo HW, Oh Y, et al. Effects of north american porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV)-based modified live vaccines on preimmunized sows artificially inseminated with European PRRSV-spiked semen. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology* 2012;19:319-324.

163. Renukaradhya GJ, Meng XJ, Calvert JG, et al. Live porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus vaccines: Current status and future direction. *Vaccine* 2015;33:4069-4080. 164. Wang A, Chen Q, Wang L, et al. Recombination between Vaccine and Field Strains of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2019;25:2335-2337.

165. Saenglub W, Jantafong T, Mungkundar C, et al. Genetic signatures of the immune-escaping type 2 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in farms with a robust vaccination program. *Microbial pathogenesis* 2020;144:104166.

166. Holtkamp DJ. Assessment of the economic impact of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus on United States pork producers. *Journal of Swine Health and Production* 2013;21:72 - 84.

167. Wei C, Dai A, Fan J, et al. Efficacy of Type 2 PRRSV vaccine against challenge with the Chinese lineage 1 (NADC30-like) PRRSVs in pigs. *Scientific Reports* 2019;9:10781.

168. Cano JP, Dee SA, Murtaugh MP, et al. Impact of a modified-live porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus vaccine intervention on a population of pigs infected with a heterologous isolate. *Vaccine* 2007;25:4382-4391.

169. Li X, Beckley AJ, Pappan L, et al. Comparison of host immune responses to homologous and heterologous type II porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV)

challenge in vaccinated and unvaccinated pigs In: beckleya, mkerriga, rhesse, et al., eds, 2014. 170. Nan Y, Wu C, Gu G, et al. Improved Vaccine against PRRSV: Current Progress and Future Perspective. *Frontiers in microbiology* 2017;8:1635.

171. Montaner-Tarbes S, Del Portillo HA, Montoya M, et al. Key Gaps in the Knowledge of the Porcine Respiratory Reproductive Syndrome Virus (PRRSV). *Frontiers in veterinary science* 2019;6:38.

172. Ait-Ali T, Wilson AD, Westcott DG, et al. Innate immune responses to replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in isolated Swine alveolar macrophages. *Viral immunology* 2007;20:105-118.

173. Lunney JK, Steibel JP, Reecy JM, et al. Probing genetic control of swine responses to PRRSV infection: current progress of the PRRS host genetics consortium. *BMC Proceedings* 2011;5:S30.

174. Hess AS, Islam Z, Hess MK, et al. Comparison of host genetic factors influencing pig response to infection with two North American isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Genetics Selection Evolution* 2016;48:1-20.

175. Dunkelberger JR, Serão NVL, Niederwerder MC, et al. Effect of a major quantitative trait locus for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) resistance on response to coinfection with PRRS virus and porcine circovirus type 2b (PCV2b) in commercial pigs, with or without prior vaccination for PRRS. *Journal of Animal Science* 2017;95.

176. Dunkelberger JR, Serão NVL, Weng Z, et al. Genomic regions associated with host response to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome vaccination and co-infection in nursery pigs. *BMC Genomics* 2017;18:865.

177. Su C-M, Rowland RR, Yoo D. Recent Advances in PRRS Virus Receptors and the Targeting of Receptor–Ligand for Control. *Vaccines (Basel)* 2021;9.

178. Delputte PL, Vanderheijden N, Nauwynck HJ, et al. Involvement of the matrix protein in attachment of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus to a heparinlike receptor on porcine alveolar macrophages. *Journal of virology* 2002;76:4312-4320.

179. Simon Davis DA, Parish CR. Heparan Sulfate: A Ubiquitous Glycosaminoglycan with Multiple Roles in Immunity. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2013;4.

180. WuDunn D, Spear PG. Initial interaction of herpes simplex virus with cells is binding to heparan sulfate. *Journal of Virology* 1989;63:52-58.

181. Giroglou T, Florin L, Schäfer F, et al. Human Papillomavirus Infection Requires Cell Surface Heparan Sulfate. *Journal of Virology* 2001;75:1565-1570.

182. Roderiquez G, Oravecz T, Yanagishita M, et al. Mediation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 binding by interaction of cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans with the V3 region of envelope gp120-gp41. *Journal of Virology* 1995;69:2233-2239.

183. Jackson T, Ellard FM, Ghazaleh RA, et al. Efficient infection of cells in culture by type O foot-and-mouth disease virus requires binding to cell surface heparan sulfate. *Journal of Virology* 1996;70:5282-5287.

184. Misinzo G, Delputte Peter L, Meerts P, et al. Porcine Circovirus 2 Uses Heparan Sulfate and Chondroitin Sulfate B Glycosaminoglycans as Receptors for Its Attachment to Host Cells. *Journal of Virology* 2006;80:3487-3494.

185. Delputte Peter L, Van Breedam W, Delrue I, et al. Porcine Arterivirus Attachment to the Macrophage-Specific Receptor Sialoadhesin Is Dependent on the Sialic Acid-Binding Activity of the N-Terminal Immunoglobulin Domain of Sialoadhesin. *Journal of Virology* 2007;81:9546-9550.

186. Rempel H, Calosing C, Sun B, et al. Sialoadhesin Expressed on IFN-Induced Monocytes Binds HIV-1 and Enhances Infectivity. *PLOS ONE* 2008;3:e1967.

187. Zou Z, Chastain A, Moir S, et al. Siglecs Facilitate HIV-1 Infection of Macrophages through Adhesion with Viral Sialic Acids. *PLOS ONE* 2011;6:e24559.

188. Jones C, Virji M, Crocker PR. Recognition of sialylated meningococcal lipopolysaccharide by siglecs expressed on myeloid cells leads to enhanced bacterial uptake. *Molecular Microbiology* 2003;49:1213-1225.

189. Heikema Astrid P, Bergman Mathijs P, Richards H, et al. Characterization of the Specific Interaction between Sialoadhesin and Sialylated Campylobacter jejuni Lipooligosaccharides. *Infection and Immunity* 2010;78:3237-3246.

190. Monteiro VG, Lobato CSS, Silva AR, et al. Increased association of Trypanosoma cruzi with sialoadhesin positive mice macrophages. *Parasitology Research* 2005;97:380-385.

191. Van Gorp H, Van Breedam W, Delputte PL, et al. The porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus requires trafficking through CD163-positive early endosomes, but not late endosomes, for productive infection. *Archives of Virology* 2009;154:1939-1943.

192. Vanderheijden N, Delputte P, Nauwynck H, et al. Effects of Heparin on the Entry of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus into Alveolar Macrophages In: Lavi E, Weiss SR, Hingley ST, eds. *The Nidoviruses: Coronaviruses and Arteriviruses*. Boston, MA: Springer US, 2001;683-689.

193. Vanderheijden N, Delputte PL, Favoreel HW, et al. Involvement of sialoadhesin in entry of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus into porcine alveolar macrophages. *Journal of virology* 2003;77:8207-8215.

194. Prather RS, Rowland RRR, Ewen C, et al. An Intact Sialoadhesin (Sn/SIGLEC1/CD169) Is Not Required for Attachment/Internalization of the Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. *Journal of Virology* 2013;87:9538-9546.

195. Chen Y, Guo R, He S, et al. Additive inhibition of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection with the soluble sialoadhesin and CD163 receptors. *Virus Research* 2014;179:85-92.

196. Van Gorp H, Van Breedam W, Delputte PL, et al. Sialoadhesin and CD163 join forces during entry of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Journal of General Virology* 2008;89:2943-2953.

197. Calvert JG, Slade DE, Shields SL, et al. CD163 expression confers susceptibility to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses. *Journal of virology* 2007;81:7371-7379.

198. Fabriek BO, Polfliet MMJ, Vloet RPM, et al. The macrophage CD163 surface glycoprotein is an erythroblast adhesion receptor. *Blood* 2007;109:5223-5229.

199. Fabriek BO, van Bruggen R, Deng DM, et al. The macrophage scavenger receptor CD163 functions as an innate immune sensor for bacteria. *Blood* 2009;113:887-892.

200. Kristiansen M, Graversen JH, Jacobsen C, et al. Identification of the haemoglobin scavenger receptor. *Nature* 2001;409:198-201.

201. Onofre G, Kolácková M, Jankovicová K, et al. Scavenger receptor CD163 and its biological functions. *Acta medica Lékarskí fakulty Univerzity Karlovy v Hradci Králove* 2009;52:57-61.

202. Wells KD, Bardot R, Whitworth KM, et al. Replacement of Porcine CD163 Scavenger Receptor Cysteine-Rich Domain 5 with a CD163-Like Homolog Confers Resistance of Pigs to Genotype 1 but Not Genotype 2 Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. *Journal of virology* 2017;91:e01521-01516.

203. Whitworth KM, Rowland RRR, Ewen CL, et al. Gene-edited pigs are protected from porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Nature Biotechnology* 2015;34:6-8. 204. Burkard C, Opriessnig T, Mileham AJ, et al. Pigs Lacking the Scavenger Receptor Cysteine-Rich Domain 5 of CD163 Are Resistant to Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus 1 Infection. *Journal of virology* 2018;92.

205. Van Gorp H, Van Breedam W, Van Doorsselaere J, et al. Identification of the CD163 Protein Domains Involved in Infection of the Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. *Journal of Virology* 2010;84:3101-3105.

206. Du Y, Yoo D, Paradis MA, et al. Antiviral Activity of Tilmicosin for Type 1 and Type 2 Porcine Reproductive And Respiratory Syndrome Virus In Cultured Porcine Alveolar Macrophages. *Journal of antivirals & antiretrovirals* 2011;3.

207. Yu Y, Wang G, Li Q, et al. Single-chain anti-idiotypic antibody retains its specificity to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus GP5. *Immunology Letters* 2015;163:8-13. 208. Gao J, Xiao S, Xiao Y, et al. MYH9 is an Essential Factor for Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Infection. *Scientific Reports* 2016;6:25120.

209. Zhang Y, Zhang K, Zheng H, et al. Development of a Monoclonal Antibody Against Porcine CD163 SRCR5 Domain Which Partially Blocks Infection of PRRSV. *Frontiers in veterinary science* 2020;7:597843-597843.

210. Du T, Nan Y, Xiao S, et al. Antiviral Strategies against PRRSV Infection. *Trends in Microbiology* 2017;25:968-979.

211. Jia X, Bi Y, Li J, et al. Cellular microRNA miR-26a suppresses replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by activating innate antiviral immunity. *Scientific reports* 2015;5:10651-10651.

212. Zhang Q, Guo X-k, Gao L, et al. MicroRNA-23 inhibits PRRSV replication by directly targeting PRRSV RNA and possibly by upregulating type I interferons. *Virology (New York, NY)* 2013;450:182-195.

213. Guo X-k, Zhang Q, Gao L, et al. Increasing Expression of MicroRNA 181 Inhibits Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Replication and Has Implications for Controlling Virus Infection. *Journal of Virology* 2013;87:1159-1171.

214. Shi X, Chang Y, Zhang X, et al. Small interfering RNA targeting nonstructural protein1 [alpha] (nsp1[alpha]) of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) can reduce the replication of PRRSV in MARC-145 cells. *Research in Veterinary Science* 2015;99:215-217.

215. Xie J, Zhou H, Cui J, et al. Inhibition of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by specific siRNA targeting Nsp9 gene. *Infection, genetics and evolution* 2014;28:64-70. 216. Yang M, Xiang Q, Zhang X, et al. RNA interference targeting nucleocapsid protein inhibits porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication in Marc-145 cells. *The journal of microbiology* 2014;52:333-339.

217. Li G, Huang J, Jiang P, et al. Suppression of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication in MARC-145 cells by shRNA targeting ORF1 region. *Virus genes* 2007;35:673-679.

218. Li L, Gao F, Jiang Y, et al. Cellular miR-130b inhibits replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in vitro and in vivo. *Scientific reports* 2015;5:17010-17010. 219. Cao S-f, Guo Q-y, Wang Y. Inhibition of highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication by recombinant pseudorabies virus-mediated RNA interference in piglets. *Veterinary microbiology* 2015;181:212-220.

220. Han X, Fan S, Patel D, et al. Enhanced inhibition of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication by combination of morpholino oligomers. *Antiviral research* 2009;82:59-66.

221. Opriessnig T, Patel D, Wang R, et al. Inhibition of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in piglets by a peptide-conjugated morpholino oligomer. *Antiviral Research* 2011;91:36-42.

222. Wang D, Cao L, Xu Z, et al. MiR-125b reduces porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication by negatively regulating the NF-κB pathway. *PloS one* 2013;8:e55838-e55838.

223. Li N, Du T, Yan Y, et al. MicroRNA let-7f-5p Inhibits Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus by Targeting MYH9. *Scientific reports* 2016;6:34332-34332.
224. Wu J, Peng X, Zhou A, et al. MiR-506 inhibits PRRSV replication in MARC-145 cells via CD151. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry* 2014;394:275-281.

225. Li L, Li Q, Bao Y, et al. RNAi-based inhibition of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication in transgenic pigs. *Journal of biotechnology* 2014;171:17-24. 226. Gao L, Guo X-k, Wang L, et al. MicroRNA 181 Suppresses Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV) Infection by Targeting PRRSV Receptor CD163. *Journal of Virology* 2013;87:8808-8812.

227. Zhang A, Duan H, Li N, et al. Heme oxygenase-1 metabolite biliverdin, not iron, inhibits porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication. *Free radical biology & medicine* 2017;102:149-161.

228. Liu H, Wang Y, Duan H, et al. An intracellularly expressed Nsp9-specific nanobody in MARC-145 cells inhibits porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication. *Veterinary microbiology* 2015;181:252-260.

229. Liu H, Liang C, Duan H, et al. Intracellularly expressed nanobodies against non-structural protein 4 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus inhibit virus replication. *Biotechnology letters* 2016;38:1081-1088.

230. Sun N, Yu T, Zhao J-X, et al. Antiviral activities of natural compounds derived from traditional chinese medicines against porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2). *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering* 2015;20:180-187.

231. Sun N, Zhang H, Sun P, et al. Matrine exhibits antiviral activity in a PRRSV/PCV2 coinfected mouse model. *Phytomedicine* 2020;77:153289. 232. Sun N, Sun P, Yao M, et al. Autophagy involved in antiviral activity of sodium tanshinone IIA sulfonate against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in vitro. *Antiviral therapy* 2019;24:27-33.

233. Liu X, Song Z, Bai J, et al. Xanthohumol inhibits PRRSV proliferation and alleviates oxidative stress induced by PRRSV via the Nrf2–HMOX1 axis. *Veterinary Research* 2019;50:61.

234. Ge M, Xiao Y, Chen H, et al. Multiple antiviral approaches of (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in vitro. *Antiviral research* 2018;158:52-62.

235. Duan E, Wang D, Fang L, et al. Suppression of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus proliferation by glycyrrhizin. *Antiviral research* 2015;120:122-125.

236. Kraijak K, Yu-Hsin C, Chuen-Fu L, et al. Antiviral activity of Thymus vulgaris and Nepeta cataria hydrosols against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Wētchasān sattawaphāet* 2017;47:25.

237. Du T, Shi Y, Xiao S, et al. Curcumin is a promising inhibitor of genotype 2 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection. *BMC veterinary research* 2017;13:298-298.

238. Li E, Sun N, Zhao J-X, et al. In vitro evaluation of antiviral activity of tea seed saponins against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Antiviral therapy* 2015;20:743-752.
239. Gao L, Zhang W, Sun Y, et al. Cryptoporus volvatus extract inhibits porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) in vitro and in vivo. *PloS one* 2013;8:e63767-e63767.
240. Zhang S-L, Wu Y-C, Cheng F, et al. Anti-PRRSV effect and mechanism of

tetrahydroaltersolanol C in vitro. Journal of asian natural products research 2016;18:303-314.

241. Yu Z-Q, Yi H-Y, Ma J, et al. Ginsenoside Rg1 Suppresses Type 2 PRRSV Infection via NF-κB Signaling Pathway In Vitro, and Provides Partial Protection against HP-PRRSV in Piglet. *Viruses* 2019;11:1045.

242. Bello-Onaghise Gs, Wang G, Han X, et al. Antiviral Strategies of Chinese Herbal Medicine Against PRRSV Infection. *Frontiers in microbiology* 2020;11:1756-1756.

243. Heinick E. Beitrag zur Kenntniss der Bakterienflora des Schweinedarmes. *Arch wiss prakt Tierheilk* 1903;29:476-525.

244. Kraneveld FC, Djaenoedin R. The occurrence of the Fraenkel's gas bacillus in the contents of the hindgut in healthy pigs (trans. title). *Ned-ind Bl Diergeneesk* 1934;46:395.

245. Moukhine P. The role of acidophilus organisms in the digestive tracts of young pigs suffering from diarrhoea (trans. title). *Sovyet Vet* 1936;7:47.

246. Komarev MG. Differences in the normal microflora of the intestines of pigs at different ages (trans. title). *Sovyet Vet* 1940;1.

247. Levine ND, Peterson EH, Graham R. Studies on swine enteritis; Salmonella and other enteric organisms isolated from diseased and normal swine. *American journal of veterinary research* 1945;6:242.

248. Quinn LY, Story CD, Catron DV, et al. Effect of antibiotics on the growth rate and intestinal flora of swine. *Antibiotics & chemotherapy (Northfield, Ill)* 1953;3:527.

249. Quinn LY, Lane MD, Ashton GC, et al. Mode of action of antibiotics in swine nutrition. II. Effect of antibiotics on intestinal flora. *Antibiotics & chemotherapy (Northfield, Ill)* 1953;3:622. 250. Bridges JH, Dyer IA, Powers JJ. Penicillin and Streptomycin Affect the Microflora of the Intestinal Tract of Pigs. *Journal of Animal Science* 1953;12:96-101.

251. Schendel HE, Borg AF, Johnson BC. The Effect of Antibiotics on the Intestinal and Cecal Microflora of Baby Pigs Fed a "Synthetic Milk". *Journal of Animal Science* 1954;13:904-911. 252. Sieburth JM, Gutierrez J, McGinnis J, et al. Effect of Antibiotics on Intestinal Microflora and on Growth of Turkeys and Pigs. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine* 1951;76:15-18.

253. Larson NL, Hill EG. The Intestinal Microflora of Young Swine Obtained by Hysterectomy: Observations on Chlortetracycline Supplementation. *Journal of Animal Science* 1955;14:674-687.

254. Fewins BG, Newland LGM, Briggs CAE. THE NORMAL INTESTINAL FLORA OF THE PIG. III. QUALITATIVE STUDIES OF LACTOBACILLI AND STREPTOCOCCI. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology* 1957;20:234-242.

255. Smith HW. THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE BACTERIAL FLORA OF THE FAECES OF ANIMALS AND MAN: THE CHANGES THAT OCCUR DURING AGEING. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology* 1961;24:235-241.

256. Raibaud P, Caulet M, Galpin JV, et al. STUDIES ON THE BACTERIAL FLORA OF THE ALIMENTARY TRACT OF PIGS. II. STREPTOCOCCI: SELECTIVE ENUMERATION AND DIFFERENTIATION OF THE DOMINANT GROUP. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology* 1961;24:285-306.

257. Hill IR, Kenworthy R. Microbiology of pigs and their environment in relation to weaning. *Journal of applied bacteriology* 1969;33:299-316.

258. Pryde SE, Richardson AJ, Stewart CS, et al. Molecular analysis of the microbial diversity present in the colonic wall, colonic lumen, and cecal lumen of a pig. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 1999;65:5372-5377.

259. Simpson JM, McCracken VJ, White BA, et al. Application of denaturant gradient gel electrophoresis for the analysis of the porcine gastrointestinal microbiota. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 1999;36:167-179.

260. Leser Thomas D, Amenuvor Joanna Z, Jensen Tim K, et al. Culture-Independent Analysis of Gut Bacteria: the Pig Gastrointestinal Tract Microbiota Revisited. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2002;68:673-690.

261. Lamendella R, Domingo JWS, Ghosh S, et al. Comparative fecal metagenomics unveils unique functional capacity of the swine gut. *BMC microbiology* 2011;11:103-103.

262. Pedersen R, Ingerslev H-C, Sturek M, et al. Characterisation of gut microbiota in Ossabaw and Göttingen minipigs as models of obesity and metabolic syndrome. *PloS one* 2013;8:e56612-e56612.

263. Yang Q, Huang X, Zhao S, et al. Structure and Function of the Fecal Microbiota in Diarrheic Neonatal Piglets. *Frontiers in microbiology* 2017;8:502-502.

264. Looft T, Allen HK, Cantarel BL, et al. Bacteria, phages and pigs: the effects of in-feed antibiotics on the microbiome at different gut locations. *The ISME journal* 2014;8:1566-1576. 265. Pajarillo EAB, Chae J-P, P. Balolong M, et al. Assessment of fecal bacterial diversity among healthy piglets during the weaning transition. *The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology* 2014;60:140-146.

266. Mach N, Berri M, Estellé J, et al. Early-life establishment of the swine gut microbiome and impact on host phenotypes. *Environmental Microbiology Reports* 2015;7:554-569.

267. Mann E, Schmitz-Esser S, Zebeli Q, et al. Mucosa-Associated Bacterial Microbiome of the Gastrointestinal Tract of Weaned Pigs and Dynamics Linked to Dietary Calcium-Phosphorus. *PLOS ONE* 2014;9:e86950.

268. Inoue R, Tsukahara T, Nakanishi N, et al. Development of the intestinal microbiota in the piglet. *The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology* 2005;51:257-265.

269. McAllister JS, Kurtz HJ, Short EC, Jr. Changes in the Intestinal Flora of Young Pigs with Postweaning Diarrhea or Edema Disease. *Journal of Animal Science* 1979;49:868-879.

270. Swords WE, Wu CC, Champlin FR, et al. Postnatal Changes in Selected Bacterial Groups of the Pig Colonic Microflora. *Neonatology* 1993;63:191-200.

271. Schwab C, Gänzle M. Lactic acid bacteria fermentation of human milk oligosaccharide components, human milk oligosaccharides and galactooligosaccharides. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 2011;315:141-148.

272. Konstantinov SR, Awati AA, Williams BA, et al. Post-natal development of the porcine microbiota composition and activities. *Environmental Microbiology* 2006;8:1191-1199.

273. Petri D, Hill JE, Kessel AV. Microbial succession in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) of the preweaned pig. *Livestock Science* 2010;133:107-109.

274. Guevarra RB, Hong SH, Cho JH, et al. The dynamics of the piglet gut microbiome during the weaning transition in association with health and nutrition. *Journal of animal science and biotechnology* 2018;9:54-54.

275. Ivarsson E, Roos S, Liu HY, et al. Fermentable non-starch polysaccharides increases the abundance of Bacteroides–Prevotella–Porphyromonas in ileal microbial community of growing pigs. *Animal* 2014;8:1777-1787.

276. Flint HJ, Bayer EA. Plant Cell Wall Breakdown by Anaerobic Microorganisms from the Mammalian Digestive Tract. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 2008;1125:280-288.
277. Frese SA, Parker K, Calvert CC, et al. Diet shapes the gut microbiome of pigs during nursing and weaning. *Microbiome* 2015;3:28.

278. Bian G, Ma S, Zhu Z, et al. Age, introduction of solid feed and weaning are more important determinants of gut bacterial succession in piglets than breed and nursing mother as revealed by a reciprocal cross-fostering model. *Environmental Microbiology* 2016;18:1566-1577.

279. Kubasova T, Davidova-Gerzova L, Babak V, et al. Effects of host genetics and environmental conditions on fecal microbiota composition of pigs. *PloS one* 2018;13:e0201901-e0201901.

280. Niederwerder MC. Role of the microbiome in swine respiratory disease. *Vet Microbiol* 2017;209:97-106.

281. Guevarra RB, Lee JH, Lee SH, et al. Piglet gut microbial shifts early in life: causes and effects. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology* 2019;10:1.

282. Sonnenburg JL, Backhed F. Diet-microbiota interactions as moderators of human metabolism. *Nature* 2016;535:56-64.

283. Kelly D, King T, Aminov R. Importance of microbial colonization of the gut in early life to the development of immunity. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis* 2007;622:58-69.

284. Jiao LF, Ke YL, Xiao K, et al. Effects of cello-oligosaccharide on intestinal microbiota and epithelial barrier function of weanling pigs1. *Journal of Animal Science* 2015;93:1157-1164.

285. Sears CL. A dynamic partnership: celebrating our gut flora. Anaerobe 2005;11:247-251.

286. Bauer E, Williams BA, Smidt H, et al. Influence of the gastrointestinal microbiota on development of the immune system in young animals. *Current Issues in Intestinal Microbiology* 2006;7:35-52.

287. Schachtschneider KM, Yeoman CJ, Isaacson RE, et al. Modulation of systemic immune responses through commensal gastrointestinal microbiota. *PLoS One* 2013;8:e53969.

288. Schweer W, Schwartz K, Patience JF, et al. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus reduces feed efficiency, digestibility, and lean tissue accretion in grow-finish pigs. *Translational Animal Science* 2017;1:480-488.

289. Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Mahowald MA, et al. An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature* 2006;444:1027.

290. Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, et al. Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature* 2006;444:1022-1023.

291. Ober RA, Thissen JB, Jaing CJ, et al. Increased microbiome diversity at the time of infection is associated with improved growth rates of pigs after co-infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2). *Vet Microbiol* 2017;208:203-211.

292. Pedersen R, Andersen AD, Mølbak L, et al. Changes in the gut microbiota of cloned and non-cloned control pigs during development of obesity: gut microbiota during development of obesity in cloned pigs. *BMC microbiology* 2013;13:30-30.

293. Yang F, Zhang S, Tian M, et al. Different Sources of High Fat Diet Induces Marked Changes in Gut Microbiota of Nursery Pigs. *Frontiers in microbiology* 2020;11:859.

294. Guo X, Xia X, Tang R, et al. Development of a real-time PCR method for Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes in faeces and its application to quantify intestinal population of obese and lean pigs. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 2008;47:367-373.

295. Oh JK, Chae JP, Pajarillo EAB, et al. Association between the body weight of growing pigs and the functional capacity of their gut microbiota. *Animal science journal = Nihon chikusan Gakkaiho* 2020;91:e13418.

296. van Passel MWJ, Kant R, Zoetendal EG, et al. The genome of Akkermansia muciniphila, a dedicated intestinal mucin degrader, and its use in exploring intestinal metagenomes. *PloS one* 2011;6:e16876-e16876.

297. Bischoff SC, Barbara G, Buurman W, et al. Intestinal permeability--a new target for disease prevention and therapy. *BMC gastroenterology* 2014;14:189-189.

298. Yu LC-H, Wang J-T, Wei S-C, et al. Host-microbial interactions and regulation of intestinal epithelial barrier function: From physiology to pathology. *World journal of gastrointestinal pathophysiology* 2012;3:27-43.

299. Jakobsson HE, Rodríguez-Piñeiro AM, Schütte A, et al. The composition of the gut microbiota shapes the colon mucus barrier. *EMBO Rep* 2015;16:164-177.

300. Butler JE, Šinkora M. The enigma of the lower gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT). *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 2013;94:259-270.

301. Šinkora M, Sun J, Butler JE. Antibody repertoire development in fetal and neonatal piglets. V. VDJ gene chimeras resembling gene conversion products are generated at high frequency by PCR in vitro. *Molecular Immunology* 2000;37:1025-1034.

302. Bailey M. The mucosal immune system: Recent developments and future directions in the pig. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 2009;33:375-383.

303. Amerongen HM, Weltzin R, Mack JA, et al. M Cell-Mediated Antigen Transport and Monoclonal IgA Antibodies for Mucosal Immune Protection. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1992;664:18-26.

304. Neutra MR, Frey A, Kraehenbuhl J-P. Epithelial M Cells: Gateways for Mucosal Infection and Immunization. *Cell* 1996;86:345-348.

305. Round JL, Mazmanian SK. Inducible Foxp3+ regulatory T-cell development by a commensal bacterium of the intestinal microbiota. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2010;107:12204-12209.

306. Basic M, Keubler LM, Buettner M, et al. Norovirus Triggered Microbiota-driven Mucosal Inflammation in Interleukin 10-deficient Mice. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2014;20:431-443. 307. Mikulic J, Longet S, Favre L, et al. Secretory IgA in complex with Lactobacillus rhamnosus potentiates mucosal dendritic cell-mediated Treg cell differentiation via TLR regulatory proteins, RALDH2 and secretion of IL-10 and TGF-β. *Cellular & molecular immunology* 2017;14:546-556.

308. Nishizuka Y, Sakakura T. Thymus and Reproduction: Sex-Linked Dysgenesia of the Gonad after Neonatal Thymectomy in Mice. *Science* 1969;166:753.

309. Barthold DR, Kysela S, Steinberg AD. Decline in Suppressor T Cell Function with Age in Female NZB Mice. *The Journal of Immunology* 1974;112:9.

310. Yoshinaga M, Yoshinaga A, Waksman BH. Regulation of lymphocyte responses in vitro: potentiation and inhibition of rat lymphocyte responses to antigen and mitogens by cytochalasin B. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1972;69:3251-3255.

311. Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T Cells: History and Perspective In: Kassiotis G,Liston A, eds. *Regulatory T Cells: Methods and Protocols*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press, 2011;3-17.

312. Mazanec MB, Kaetzel CS, Lamm ME, et al. Intracellular neutralization of virus by immunoglobulin A antibodies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1992;89:6901-6905.

313. Hugenholtz F, Ritari J, Nylund L, et al. Feasibility of Metatranscriptome Analysis from Infant Gut Microbiota: Adaptation to Solid Foods Results in Increased Activity of Firmicutes at Six Months. *International Journal of Microbiology* 2017;2017.

314. Poroyko V, White JR, Wang M, et al. Gut Microbial Gene Expression in Mother-Fed and Formula-Fed Piglets. *PLoS ONE* 2010;5:e12459.

315. Rothkötter HJ, Ulbrich H, Pabst R. The Postnatal Development of Gut Lamina Propria Lymphocytes: Number, Proliferation, and T and B Cell Subsets in Conventional and Germ-Free Pigs. *Pediatric Research* 1991;29:237.

316. Rothkötter HJ, Pabst R. Lymphocyte subsets in jejunal and ileal Peyer's patches of normal and gnotobiotic minipigs. *Immunology* 1989;67:103-108.

317. Crabbé PA, Bazin H, Eyssen H, et al. The normal microbial flora as a major stimulus for proliferation of plasma cells synthesizing IgA in the gut. The germ-free intestinal tract. *International archives of allergy and applied immunology* 1968;34:362.

318. Moreau MC, Ducluzeau R, Guy-Grand D, et al. Increase in the population of duodenal immunoglobulin A plasmocytes in axenic mice associated with different living or dead bacterial strains of intestinal origin. *Infection and immunity* 1978;21:532-539.

319. Wang J, Li F, Tian Z. Role of microbiota on lung homeostasis and diseases. *Science China Life Sciences* 2017.

320. Esposito S, Rigante D, Principi N. Do childrens upper respiratory tract infections benefit from probiotics? *BMC Infectious Diseases* 2014;14:194.

321. Budden KF, Gellatly SL, Wood DL, et al. Emerging pathogenic links between microbiota and the gut-lung axis. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2017;15:55-63.

322. He Y, Wen Q, Yao F, et al. Gut-lung axis: The microbial contributions and clinical implications. *Crit Rev Microbiol* 2017;43:81-95.

323. Bingula R, Filaire M, Radosevic-Robin N, et al. Desired Turbulence? Gut-Lung Axis, Immunity, and Lung Cancer. *J Oncol* 2017;2017:5035371.

324. Chen CJ, Wu GH, Kuo RL, et al. Role of the intestinal microbiota in the

immunomodulation of influenza virus infection. Microbes Infect 2017;19:570-579.

325. Marsland BJ, Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES. The Gut-Lung Axis in Respiratory Disease. *Ann Am Thorac Soc* 2015;12 Suppl 2:S150-156.

326. Samuelson DR, Welsh DA, Shellito JE. Regulation of lung immunity and host defense by the intestinal microbiota. *Front Microbiol* 2015;6:1085.

327. Sze MA, Tsuruta M, Yang SW, et al. Changes in the bacterial microbiota in gut, blood, and lungs following acute LPS instillation into mice lungs. *PLoS One* 2014;9:e111228.

328. Niederwerder MC, Jaing CJ, Thissen JB, et al. Microbiome associations in pigs with the best and worst clinical outcomes following co-infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2). *Vet Microbiol* 2016;188:1-11.

329. Hang J, Zavaljevski N, Yang Y, et al. Composition and variation of respiratory microbiota in healthy military personnel. *PLoS One* 2017;12:e0188461.

330. Hilty M, Burke C, Pedro H, et al. Disordered microbial communities in asthmatic airways. *PLoS One* 2010;5:e8578.

331. Glendinning L, McLachlan G, Vervelde L. Age-related differences in the respiratory microbiota of chickens. *PLoS One* 2017;12:e0188455.

332. Nicola I, Cerutti F, Grego E, et al. Characterization of the upper and lower respiratory tract microbiota in Piedmontese calves. *Microbiome* 2017;5:152.

333. Ubags NDJ, Marsland BJ. Mechanistic insight into the function of the microbiome in lung diseases. *Eur Respir J* 2017;50.

334. Huang T, Zhang M, Tong X, et al. Microbial communities in swine lungs and their association with lung lesions. *Microbial biotechnology* 2019;12:289-304.

335. Chen LW, Chen PH, Hsu CM. Commensal microflora contribute to host defense against Escherichia coli pneumonia through Toll-like receptors. *Shock* 2011;36:67-75.

336. Peng J, Zhang M, Yao G, et al. Probiotics as Adjunctive Treatment for Patients Contracted COVID-19: Current Understanding and Future Needs. *Front Nutr* 2021;8:669808-669808.

337. Liu T, Yang Z, Zhang X, et al. 16S rDNA analysis of the effect of fecal microbiota transplantation on pulmonary and intestinal flora. *Journal of Biotechnology* 2017;7:370.

338. Niederwerder MC, Constance LA, Rowland RRR, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Is Associated With Reduced Morbidity and Mortality in Porcine Circovirus Associated Disease. *Frontiers in microbiology* 2018;9:1631.

339. Nair MS, Eucker T, Martinson B, et al. Influence of pig gut microbiota on Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae susceptibility. *Veterinary research (Paris)* 2019;50:86-86.

340. Zimmermann P, Curtis N. The influence of the intestinal microbiome on vaccine responses. *Vaccine* 2018;36:4433-4439.

341. Yuan L, Hensley C, Mahsoub HM, et al. Microbiota in viral infection and disease in humans and farm animals. *Progress in molecular biology and translational science* 2020;171:15-60.

342. Kritas SK, Morrison RB. Effect of orally administered Lactobacillus casei on porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus vaccination in pigs. *Vet Microbiol* 2007;119:248-255.

343. Zhang H, Ma W, Sun Z, et al. Abundance of Lactobacillus in porcine gut microbiota is closely related to immune response following PRRSV immunization. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2021;259:109134.

344. Desselberger U. The Mammalian Intestinal Microbiome: Composition, Interaction with the Immune System, Significance for Vaccine Efficacy, and Potential for Disease Therapy. *Pathogens (Basel, Switzerland)* 2018;7.

345. Harris VC, Armah G, Fuentes S, et al. Significant Correlation Between the Infant Gut Microbiome and Rotavirus Vaccine Response in Rural Ghana. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2017;215:34-41.

346. Munyaka PM, Kommadath A, Fouhse J, et al. Characterization of whole blood transcriptome and early-life fecal microbiota in high and low responder pigs before, and after vaccination for Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae. *Vaccine* 2019;37:1743-1755.

347. Dumas A, Bernard L, Poquet Y, et al. The role of the lung microbiota and the gut–lung axis in respiratory infectious diseases. *Cellular Microbiology* 2018;20:e12966.

348. Gauguet S, D'Ortona S, Ahnger-Pier K, et al. Intestinal Microbiota of Mice Influences Resistance to Staphylococcus aureus Pneumonia. *Infection and immunity* 2015;83:4003-4014. 349. Brown RL, Sequeira RP, Clarke TB. The microbiota protects against respiratory infection via GM-CSF signaling. *Nature Communications* 2017;8:1512.

350. Markowiak P, Śliżewska K. The role of probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics in animal nutrition. *Gut pathogens* 2018;10:21-21.

351. Madsen K, Cornish A, Soper P, et al. Probiotic bacteria enhance murine and human intestinal epithelial barrier function. *Gastroenterology* 2001;121:580-591.

352. Casey PG, Gardiner GE, Casey G, et al. A five-strain probiotic combination reduces pathogen shedding and alleviates disease signs in pigs challenged with Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 2007;73:1858-1863.

353. Konstantinov SR, Smidt H, Akkermans ADL, et al. Feeding of Lactobacillus sobrius reduces Escherichia coli F4 levels in the gut and promotes growth of infected piglets. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 2008;66:599-607.

354. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Shima T, et al. Induction of colonic regulatory T cells by indigenous Clostridium species. *Science (New York, NY)* 2011;331:337-341.

355. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Ando M, et al. Th17 Cell Induction by Adhesion of Microbes to Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Cell* 2015;163:367-380.

356. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Oshima K, et al. Treg induction by a rationally selected mixture of Clostridia strains from the human microbiota. *Nature* 2013;500:232-236.

357. Round JL, Mazmanian SK. The gut microbiome shapes intestinal immune responses during health and disease. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2009;9:313-323.

358. Fernández J, Redondo-Blanco S, Gutiérrez-del-Río I, et al. Colon microbiota fermentation of dietary prebiotics towards short-chain fatty acids and their roles as anti-inflammatory and antitumour agents: A review. *Journal of Functional Foods* 2016;25:511-522.

359. Nawaz A, Bakhsh javaid A, Irshad S, et al. The functionality of prebiotics as immunostimulant: Evidences from trials on terrestrial and aquatic animals. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* 2018;76:272-278.

360. Vos AP, Haarman M, VanGinkel J-WH, et al. Dietary supplementation of neutral and acidic oligosaccharides enhances Th1-dependent vaccination responses in mice. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology* 2007;18:304-312.

361. Brink M, Todorov SD, Martin JH, et al. The effect of prebiotics on production of antimicrobial compounds, resistance to growth at low pH and in the presence of bile, and adhesion of probiotic cells to intestinal mucus. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 2006;100:813-820.

362. Fransen F, Sahasrabudhe NM, Elderman M, et al.  $\beta 2 \rightarrow 1$ -Fructans Modulate the Immune System In Vivo in a Microbiota-Dependent and -Independent Fashion. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2017;8.

363. Vogt L, Meyer D, Pullens G, et al. Immunological Properties of Inulin-Type Fructans. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 2013;55.

364. Corr SC, Li Y, Riedel CU, et al. Bacteriocin production as a mechanism for the antiinfective activity of Lactobacillus salivarius UCC118. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2007;104:7617-7621.

365. Kareem KY, Loh TC, Foo HL, et al. Effects of dietary postbiotic and inulin on growth performance, IGF1 and GHR mRNA expression, faecal microbiota and volatile fatty acids in broilers. *BMC veterinary research* 2016;12:163-163.

366. Kareem KY, Hooi Ling F, Teck Chwen L, et al. Inhibitory activity of postbiotic produced by strains of Lactobacillus plantarum using reconstituted media supplemented with inulin. *Gut pathogens* 2014;6:23-23.

367. Haileselassie Y, Navis M, Vu N, et al. Postbiotic Modulation of Retinoic Acid Imprinted Mucosal-like Dendritic Cells by Probiotic Lactobacillus reuteri 17938 In Vitro. *Frontiers in immunology* 2016;7:96-96.

368. Borody TJ, Warren EF, Leis SM, et al. Bacteriotherapy using fecal flora: toying with human motions. *Journal of clinical gastroenterology* 2004;38:475-483.

369. Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, et al. Cultured gut microbiota from twins discordant for obesity modulate adiposity and metabolic phenotypes in mice. *Science (New York, NY)* 2013;341:10.1126/science.1241214.

370. Xiao Y, Yan H, Diao H, et al. Early Gut Microbiota Intervention Suppresses DSS-Induced Inflammatory Responses by Deactivating TLR/NLR Signalling in Pigs. *Scientific Reports* 2017;7:3224.

371. Faith JJ, Ahern PP, Ridaura VK, et al. Identifying Gut Microbe-Host Phenotype Relationships Using Combinatorial Communities in Gnotobiotic Mice. *Science translational medicine* 2014;6:220ra211-220ra211.

372. McCormack UM, Curião T, Wilkinson T, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Gestating Sows and Neonatal Offspring Alters Lifetime Intestinal Microbiota and Growth in Offspring. *mSystems* 2018;3:e00134-00117.

373. Weingarden AR, Vaughn BP. Intestinal microbiota, fecal microbiota transplantation, and inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut microbes* 2017;8:238-252.

374. Borody TJ, Campbell J. Fecal microbiota transplantation: current status and future directions. *Expert review of gastroenterology & hepatology* 2011;5:653-655.

375. Vrieze A, Van Nood E, Holleman F, et al. Transfer of intestinal microbiota from lean donors increases insulin sensitivity in individuals with metabolic syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 2012;143:913-916.e917.

376. Idriss HT, Naismith JH. TNFα and the TNF receptor superfamily: Structure-function relationship(s). *Microscopy research and technique* 2000;50:184-195.

377. Schuijt TJ, Lankelma JM, Scicluna BP, et al. The gut microbiota plays a protective role in the host defence against pneumococcal pneumonia. *Gut* 2016;65:575-583.

378. Martin L, Cilieborg MS, Birck M, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation decreases necrotizing enterocolitis but is associated with increased neonatal mortality in preterm pigs. 1st Congress of joint European Neonatal Societies (jENS), 56th ESPR/ ESN Annual Meeting 2015. 379. Meulenberg JJ, Hulst MM, de Meijer EJ, et al. Lelystad virus, the causative agent of porcine epidemic abortion and respiratory syndrome (PEARS), is related to LDV and EAV. *Virology* 1993;192:62-72.

380. Lindhaus W, Lindhaus B. Raetselhafte Schweinekrankheit. *Prakt Tierarzt* 1991;5:423-425.
381. Adams MJ, Lefkowitz EJ, King AMQ, et al. Changes to taxonomy and the International Code of Virus Classification and Nomenclature ratified by the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (2017). *Archives of Virology* 2016;162:2505-2538.

382. Bai X, Wang Y, Xu X, et al. Commercial vaccines provide limited protection to NADC30like PRRSV infection. *Vaccine* 2016;34:5540-5545.

383. Martínez-Lobo FJ, Díez-Fuertes F, Simarro I, et al. The Ability of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Isolates to Induce Broadly Reactive Neutralizing Antibodies Correlates With In Vivo Protection. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2021;12.

384. Saenglub W, Jantafong T, Mungkundar C, et al. Genetic signatures of the immune-escaping type 2 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in farms with a robust vaccination program. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 2020;144:104166.

385. Fahrion AS, Beilage Eg, Nathues H, et al. Evaluating perspectives for PRRS virus elimination from pig dense areas with a risk factor based herd index. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2014;114:247-258.

386. Trevisan G, Li G, Moura CAA, et al. Complete Coding Genome Sequence of a Novel Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus 2 Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism 1-4-4 Lineage 1C Variant Identified in Iowa, USA. *Microbiol Resour Announc* 2021;10:e0044821-e0044821.

387. Hess AS, Islam Z, Hess MK, et al. Comparison of host genetic factors influencing pig response to infection with two North American isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Genetics, selection, evolution : GSE* 2016;48:43.

388. Allende R, Kutish GF, Laegreid W, et al. Mutations in the genome of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus responsible for the attenuation phenotype. *Archives of Virology* 2000;145:1149-1161.

389. Trible BR, Popescu LN, Monday N, et al. A Single Amino Acid Deletion in the Matrix Protein of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Confers Resistance to a Polyclonal Swine Antibody with Broadly Neutralizing Activity. *Journal of Virology* 2015;89:6515-6520.

390. Chand RJ, Trible BR, Rowland RRR. Pathogenesis of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Current Opinion in Virology* 2012;2:256-263.

391. Reed LJ, Muench H. A Simple Method of Estimating Fifty Per Cent Endpoints. *American Journal of Hygiene* 1938;27:493-497.

392. Nathues H, Alarcon P, Rushton J, et al. Cost of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus at individual farm level - An economic disease model. *Prev Vet Med* 2017;142:16-29.

393. Peck DF, Grant S, McArthur W, et al. Psychological impact of foot-and-mouth disease on farmers. *Journal of mental health (Abingdon, England)* 2002;11:523-531.

394. Park H, Chun MS, Joo Y. Traumatic Stress of Frontline Workers in Culling Livestock Animals in South Korea. *Animals (Basel)* 2020;10:1920.

395. Hibi J, Kurosawa A, Watanabe T, et al. Post-traumatic stress disorder in participants of foot-and-mouth disease epidemic control in Miyazaki, Japan, in 2010. *J Vet Med Sci* 2015;77:953-959.

396. Harms PA, Sorden SD, Halbur PG, et al. Experimental reproduction of severe disease in CDCD pigs concurrently infected with PCV2 and PPRSV. *Journal of Veterinary Pathology* 2001;38:528-539.

397. Martínez-Lobo FJ, Díez-Fuertes F, Segalés J, et al. Comparative pathogenicity of type 1 and type 2 isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) in a young pig infection model. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2011;154:58-68.

398. Do TD, Park C, Choi K, et al. Comparison of pathogenicity of highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus between wild and domestic pigs. *Veterinary Research Communications* 2015;39:79-85.

399. Bian T, Sun Y, Hao M, et al. A recombinant type 2 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus between NADC30-like and a MLV-like: Genetic characterization and pathogenicity for piglets. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* 2017;54:279-286.

400. Li Y, Zhou L, Zhang J, et al. Nsp9 and Nsp10 Contribute to the Fatal Virulence of Highly Pathogenic Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Emerging in China. *PLOS Pathogens* 2014;10:e1004216.

401. Blome S, Gabriel C, Beer M. Pathogenesis of African swine fever in domestic pigs and European wild boar. *Virus Research* 2013;173:122-130.

402. Moennig V, Floegel-Niesmann G, Greiser-Wilke I. Clinical Signs and Epidemiology of Classical Swine Fever: A Review of New Knowledge. *The Veterinary Journal* 2003;165:11-20. 403. Gallardo C, Soler A, Nieto R, et al. Experimental Infection of Domestic Pigs with African Swine Fever Virus Lithuania 2014 Genotype II Field Isolate. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 2017;64:300-304.

404. Lee HS, Bui VN, Dao DT, et al. Pathogenicity of an African swine fever virus strain isolated in Vietnam and alternative diagnostic specimens for early detection of viral infection. *Porcine health management* 2021;7:36-36.

405. Ladinig A, Detmer SE, Clarke K, et al. Pathogenicity of three type 2 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus strains in experimentally inoculated pregnant gilts. *Virus Research* 2015;203:24-35.

406. Klinge KL, Vaughn EM, Roof MB, et al. Age-dependent resistance to Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication in swine. *Virol J* 2009;6:177.

407. Zhang F, Luo W, Shi Y, et al. Should we standardize the 1,700-year-old fecal microbiota transplantation? *The American journal of gastroenterology* 2012;107:1755; author reply p.1755-1756.

408. Renard C, Hart E, Sehra H, et al. The genomic sequence and analysis of the swine major histocompatibility complex. *Genomics* 2006;88:96-110.

409. NCBI. PubMed. 2017. Accessed October 9, 2017.

410. Holtkamp DJ, Kliebenstein JB, Neumann EJ, et al. Assessment of the economic impact of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus on United States pork producers. *Journal of Swine Health and Production* 2013;21:72-84.

411. Finney DJ. The Spearman-Karber method In: Finney DJ, ed. *Statistical method in biological assay.* 2nd ed. London: Charles Griffin, 1964;524-530.

412. Hamilton MJ, Weingarden AR, Sadowsky MJ, et al. Standardized frozen preparation for transplantation of fecal microbiota for recurrent Clostridium difficile infection. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2012;107:761-767.

413. Halbur PG, Paul PS, Frey ML, et al. Comparison of the pathogenicity of two US porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolates with that of the Lelystad virus. *Veterinary pathology* 1995;32:648-660.

414. Trible BR, Kerrigan M, Crossland N, et al. Antibody recognition of porcine circovirus type 2 capsid protein epitopes after vaccination, infection, and disease. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* 2011;18:749-757.

415. McLoughlin KS. Microarrays for pathogen detection and analysis. *Brief Funct Genomics* 2011;10:342-353.

416. Gardner SN, Jaing CJ, McLoughlin KS, et al. A microbial detection array (MDA) for viral and bacterial detection. *BMC Genomics* 2010;11:668.

417. Jaing CJ, Thissen JB, Gardner SN, et al. Application of a pathogen microarray for the analysis of viruses and bacteria in clinical diagnostic samples from pigs. *Journal of veterinary diagnostic investigation : official publication of the American Association of Veterinary Laboratory Diagnosticians, Inc* 2015;27:313-325.

418. Rosenstierne MW, McLoughlin KS, Olesen ML, et al. The microbial detection array for detection of emerging viruses in clinical samples--a useful panmicrobial diagnostic tool. *PLoS One* 2014;9:e100813.

419. Kozich JJ, Westcott SL, Baxter NT, et al. Development of a dual-index sequencing strategy and curation pipeline for analyzing amplicon sequence data on the MiSeq Illumina sequencing platform. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 2013;79:5112-5120.

420. Paz HA, Anderson CL, Muller MJ, et al. Rumen Bacterial Community Composition in Holstein and Jersey Cows Is Different under Same Dietary Condition and Is Not Affected by Sampling Method. *Frontiers in microbiology* 2016;7:1206.

421. Schloss PD, Westcott SL, Ryabin T, et al. Introducing mothur: open-source, platformindependent, community-supported software for describing and comparing microbial communities. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 2009;75:7537-7541.

422. Edgar RC. UPARSE: highly accurate OTU sequences from microbial amplicon reads. *Nature methods* 2013;10:996-998.

423. Edgar RC, Haas BJ, Clemente JC, et al. UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)* 2011;27:2194-2200.

424. Sheneman L, Evans J, Foster JA. Clearcut: a fast implementation of relaxed neighbor joining. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)* 2006;22:2823-2824.

425. Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, et al. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. *Nature methods* 2010;7:335-336.

426. Giovannoni SJ, Turner S, Olsen GJ, et al. Evolutionary relationships among cyanobacteria and green chloroplasts. *Journal of bacteriology* 1988;170:3584-3592.

427. RCoreTeam. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2013.

428. RCoreTeam. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2015.

429. Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Kindt R, et al. Vegan: Community Ecology Package. *R package version 2* 2015;3.

430. Segata N, Izard J, Waldron L, et al. Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation. *Genome biology* 2011;12:R60.

431. Reiner G, Willems H, Pesch S, et al. Variation in resistance to the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) in Pietrain and Miniature pigs. *Journal of animal breeding and genetics = Zeitschrift fur Tierzuchtung und Zuchtungsbiologie* 2010;127:100-106.

432. Boddicker N, Waide EH, Rowland RR, et al. Evidence for a major QTL associated with host response to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus challenge. *Journal of animal science* 2012;90:1733-1746.

433. Weissbrodt DG, Shani N, Holliger C. Linking bacterial population dynamics and nutrient removal in the granular sludge biofilm ecosystem engineered for wastewater treatment. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 2014;88:579-595.

434. Zhao Y, Gao Z, Tian B, et al. Endosphere microbiome comparison between symptomatic and asymptomatic roots of Brassica napus infected with Plasmodiophora brassicae. *PLoS One* 2017;12:e0185907.

435. Staley C, Khoruts A, Sadowsky MJ. Contemporary Applications of Fecal Microbiota Transplantation to Treat Intestinal Diseases in Humans. *Archives of medical research* 2017.
436. Bakker GJ, Nieuwdorp M. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation: Therapeutic Potential for a Multitude of Diseases beyond Clostridium difficile. *Microbiology spectrum* 2017;5.

437. Sung JY, Hwang Y, Shin MH, et al. Utility of Conventional Culture and MALDI-TOF MS for Identification of Microbial Communities in Bronchoalveolar Lavage Fluid in Comparison with the GS Junior Next Generation Sequencing System. *Annals of laboratory medicine* 2018;38:110-118.

438. Xiao CT, Harmon KM, Halbur PG, et al. PCV2d-2 is the predominant type of PCV2 DNA in pig samples collected in the U.S. during 2014-2016. *Veterinary microbiology* 2016;197:72-77.
439. Khoruts A, Sadowsky MJ. Understanding the mechanisms of faecal microbiota transplantation. *Nature reviews Gastroenterology & hepatology* 2016;13:508-516.
440. Stackebrandt E. The Family Lachnospiraceae. *The Prokaryotes*. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer, 2014;197-201.

441. Ben David Y, Dassa B, Borovok I, et al. Ruminococcal cellulosome systems from rumen to human. *Environmental microbiology* 2015;17:3407-3426.

442. He M, Fang S, Huang X, et al. Evaluating the Contribution of Gut Microbiota to the Variation of Porcine Fatness with the Cecum and Fecal Samples. *Front Microbiol* 2016;7:2108. 443. Tsinganou E, Gebbers J-O. Human intestinal spirochetosis. *Journal of German Medical Science* 2010;8:1-7.

444. Le Roux F, Wegner KM, Baker-Austin C, et al. The emergence of Vibrio pathogens in Europe: ecology, evolution, and pathogenesis (Paris, 11-12th March 2015). *Front Microbiol* 2015;6:830.

445. Karami A, Sarshar M, Ranjbar R, et al. The Phylum Spirochaetaceae. *The Prokaryotes*, 2014;915-929.

446. Staley C, Kelly CR, Brandt LJ, et al. Complete Microbiota Engraftment Is Not Essential for Recovery from Recurrent Clostridium difficile Infection following Fecal Microbiota Transplantation. *mBio* 2016;7.

447. Meighani A, Hart BR, Mittal C, et al. Predictors of fecal transplant failure. *European journal of gastroenterology & hepatology* 2016;28:826-830.

448. Siegerstetter SC, Petri RM, Magowan E, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplant from Highly Feed-Efficient Donors Shows Little Effect on Age-Related Changes in Feed-Efficiency-Associated Fecal Microbiota from Chickens. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 2018;84. 449. Anonymous. Commense Licenses UBC's Microbiome Therapeutic for Preventing Childhood Asthma. <u>http://www.genengnews.com/gen-news-highlights/commense-licenses-ubcs-</u> <u>microbiome-therapeutic-for-preventing-childhood-asthma/81254303</u>: Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology News

## 2017.

450. Arrieta MC, Stiemsma LT, Dimitriu PA, et al. Early infancy microbial and metabolic alterations affect risk of childhood asthma. *Science translational medicine* 2015;7:307ra152. 451. Wensvoort G. Lelystad virus and the porcine epidemic abortion and respiratory syndrome. *Veterinary research* 1993;24:117-124.

452. Round JL, Mazmanian SK. The gut microbiota shapes intestinal immune responses during health and disease. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2009;9:313-323.

453. Reed LJ, Muench H. A Simple Method of Estimating Fifty Per Cent Endpoints. *The American Journal of Hygiene* 1938;27:493-497.

454. Gohl DM, Vangay P, Garbe J, et al. Systematic improvement of amplicon marker gene methods for increased accuracy in microbiome studies. *Nat Biotechnol* 2016;34:942-949.

455. Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, et al. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. *Nature Methods* 2010;7:335.

456. Bolger AM, Lohse M, Usadel B. Trimmomatic: a flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data. *Bioinformatics* 2014;30:2114-2120.

457. Masella AP, Bartram AK, Truszkowski JM, et al. PANDAseq: paired-end assembler for illumina sequences. *BMC Bioinformatics* 2012;13:31.

458. Haas BJ, Gevers D, Earl AM, et al. Chimeric 16S rRNA sequence formation and detection in Sanger and 454-pyrosequenced PCR amplicons. *Genome Research* 2011;21:494-504.

459. Piccolo BD, Wankhade UD, Chintapalli SV, et al. Dynamic assessment of microbial ecology (DAME): a web app for interactive analysis and visualization of microbial sequencing data. *Bioinformatics* 2018;34:1050-1052.

460. McMurdie PJ, Holmes S. Waste not, want not: why rarefying microbiome data is inadmissible. *PLoS computational biology* 2014;10:e1003531-e1003531.

461. Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome biology* 2014;15:550-550.

462. Dang AT, Marsland BJ. Microbes, metabolites, and the gut-lung axis. *Mucosal immunology* 2019;12:843-850.

463. Xiang Q, Wu X, Pan Y, et al. Early-Life Intervention Using Fecal Microbiota Combined with Probiotics Promotes Gut Microbiota Maturation, Regulates Immune System Development, and Alleviates Weaning Stress in Piglets. *International journal of molecular sciences* 2020;21. 464. Miklavcic JJ, Badger TM, Bowlin AK, et al. Human Breast-Milk Feeding Enhances the Humoral and Cell-Mediated Immune Response in Neonatal Piglets. *The Journal of nutrition* 2018;148:1860-1870.

465. Hampson DJ, Ahmed N. Spirochaetes as intestinal pathogens: lessons from a Brachyspira genome. *Gut pathogens* 2009;1:10.

466. Niu Q, Li P, Hao S, et al. Dynamic distribution of the gut microbiota and the relationship with apparent crude fiber digestibility and growth stages in pigs. *Scientific reports* 2015;5:9938-9938.

467. Jensen NS, Canale-Parola E. Bacteroides pectinophilus sp. nov. and Bacteroides galacturonicus sp. nov.: two pectinolytic bacteria from the human intestinal tract. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 1986;52:880-887.

468. Karlsson FH, Ussery DW, Nielsen J, et al. A closer look at bacteroides: phylogenetic relationship and genomic implications of a life in the human gut. *Microbial ecology* 2011;61:473-485.

469. Masoodi I, Alshanqeeti AS, Alyamani EJ, et al. Microbial dysbiosis in irritable bowel syndrome: A single-center metagenomic study in Saudi Arabia. *JGH open : an open access journal of gastroenterology and hepatology* 2020;4:649-655.

470. Seshadri R, Leahy SC, Attwood GT, et al. Cultivation and sequencing of rumen microbiome members from the Hungate1000 Collection. *Nature biotechnology* 2018;36:359-367.

471. Hu L, Geng S, Li Y, et al. Exogenous Fecal Microbiota Transplantation from Local Adult Pigs to Crossbred Newborn Piglets. *Frontiers in microbiology* 2017;8:2663.

472. Tran H, Anderson CL, Bundy JW, et al. Effects of spray-dried porcine plasma on fecal microbiota in nursery pigs. *Journal of Animal Science* 2018;96:1017-1031.

473. Tran H, Bundy JW, Li YS, et al. Effects of spray-dried porcine plasma on growth performance, immune response, total antioxidant capacity, and gut morphology of nursery pigs. *Journal of animal science* 2014;92:4494-4504.

474. Vacca M, Celano G, Calabrese FM, et al. The Controversial Role of Human Gut Lachnospiraceae. *Microorganisms* 2020;8.

475. Pabst R, Geist M, Rothkötter HJ, et al. Postnatal development and lymphocyte production of jejunal and ileal Peyer's patches in normal and gnotobiotic pigs. *Immunology* 1988;64:539-544.

476. Borey M, Blanc F, Lemonnier G, et al. Links between fecal microbiota and the response to vaccination against influenza A virus in pigs. *npj Vaccines* 2021;6:92.

477. Argüello H, Rodríguez-Gómez IM, Sánchez-Carvajal JM, et al. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus impacts on gut microbiome in a strain virulence-dependent fashion. *Microbial Biotechnology* 2021;n/a.

478. Niederwerder MC, Constance LA, Rowland RRR, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Is Associated With Reduced Morbidity and Mortality in Porcine Circovirus Associated Disease. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 2018;9:1631.

479. Li H. Minimap2: pairwise alignment for nucleotide sequences. *Bioinformatics* 2018;34:3094-3100.

480. Li H, Handsaker B, Wysoker A, et al. The Sequence Alignment/Map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)* 2009;25:2078-2079.

481. Schoch CL, Ciufo S, Domrachev M, et al. NCBI Taxonomy: a comprehensive update on curation, resources and tools. *Database (Oxford)* 2020;2020:baaa062.

482. Kick AR, Amaral AF, Frias-De-Diego A, et al. The Local and Systemic Humoral Immune Response Against Homologous and Heterologous Strains of the Type 2 Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2021;12.

483. Constance LA, Thissen JB, Jaing CJ, et al. Gut microbiome associations with outcome following co-infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) in pigs immunized with a PRRS modified live virus vaccine. *Veterinary Microbiology* 2021;254:109018.

484. Atherly T, Ziemer CJ. Bacteroides isolated from four mammalian hosts lack host-specific 16S rRNA gene phylogeny and carbon and nitrogen utilization patterns. *Microbiologyopen* 2014;3:225-238.

485. Heshiki Y, Vazquez-Uribe R, Li J, et al. Predictable modulation of cancer treatment outcomes by the gut microbiota. *Microbiome* 2020;8:28-28.

486. Wang K, Hu C, Tang W, et al. The Enhancement of Intestinal Immunity in Offspring Piglets by Maternal Probiotic or Synbiotic Supplementation Is Associated With the Alteration of Gut Microbiota. *Front Nutr* 2021;8:686053-686053.

487. Chen Y-M, Limaye A, Chang H-W, et al. Screening of Lactic Acid Bacterial Strains with Antiviral Activity Against Porcine Epidemic Diarrhea. *Probiotics and Antimicrobial Proteins* 2021.

488. Yang H, Huang X, Fang S, et al. Unraveling the Fecal Microbiota and Metagenomic Functional Capacity Associated with Feed Efficiency in Pigs. *Frontiers in microbiology* 2017;8:1555-1555.

489. Chen C, Zhou Y, Fu H, et al. Expanded catalog of microbial genes and metagenomeassembled genomes from the pig gut microbiome. *Nature Communications* 2021;12:1106. 490. Gòdia M, Ramayo-Caldas Y, Zingaretti LM, et al. A pilot RNA-seq study in 40 pietrain ejaculates to characterize the porcine sperm microbiome. *Theriogenology* 2020;157:525-533. 491. Shan T, Li L, Simmonds P, et al. The Fecal Virome of Pigs on a High-Density Farm. *Journal of Virology* 2011;85:11697-11708.

492. Oude Munnink BB, Phan MVT, Consortium V, et al. Characterization of Posa and Posalike virus genomes in fecal samples from humans, pigs, rats, and bats collected from a single location in Vietnam. *Virus Evol* 2017;3:vex022-vex022.

493. Hause BM, Palinski R, Hesse R, et al. Highly diverse posaviruses in swine faeces are aquatic in origin. *Journal of General Virology* 2016;97:1362-1367.

494. Hsu BB. Towards the Characterization and Engineering of Bacteriophages in the Gut Microbiome. *mSystems* 2021;6:e0073521-e0073521.

495. Iszatt JJ, Larcombe AN, Chan H-K, et al. Phage Therapy for Multi-Drug Resistant Respiratory Tract Infections. *Viruses* 2021;13:1809.

496. Szymczak M, Grygorcewicz B, Karczewska-Golec J, et al. Characterization of a Unique Bordetella bronchiseptica vB\_BbrP\_BB8 Bacteriophage and Its Application as an Antibacterial Agent. *International journal of molecular sciences* 2020;21:1403.

497. Chen Y, Guo G, Sun E, et al. Isolation of a T7-Like Lytic Pasteurella Bacteriophage vB\_PmuP\_PHB01 and Its Potential Use in Therapy against Pasteurella multocida Infections. *Viruses* 2019;11:86.

498. Zhao W, Wang Y, Liu S, et al. The Dynamic Distribution of Porcine Microbiota across Different Ages and Gastrointestinal Tract Segments. *PLOS ONE* 2015;10:e0117441.

499. Motta V, Trevisi P, Bertolini F, et al. Exploring gastric bacterial community in young pigs. *PloS one* 2017;12:e0173029-e0173029.

500. Chekabab SM, Lawrence JR, Alvarado A, et al. A health metadata-based management approach for comparative analysis of high-throughput genetic sequences for quantifying antimicrobial resistance reduction in Canadian hog barns. *Comput Struct Biotechnol J* 2020;18:2629-2638.

501. Zaura E, Brandt BW, Teixeira de Mattos MJ, et al. Same Exposure but Two Radically Different Responses to Antibiotics: Resilience of the Salivary Microbiome versus Long-Term Microbial Shifts in Feces. *mBio* 2015;6:e01693.

502. Cox LM, Blaser MJ. Antibiotics in early life and obesity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* 2015;11:182-190.

503. Bojanova DP, Bordenstein SR. Fecal Transplants: What Is Being Transferred? *PLoS biology* 2016;14:e1002503-e1002503.

504. Aluthge ND, Van Sambeek DM, Carney-Hinkle EE, et al. The pig microbiota and the potential for harnessing the power of the microbiome to improve growth and health. *Journal of animal science* 2019;97:3741-3757.